1.

CR01692-2016

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 20-IS

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17.1(b)
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE

Check the appropriate box:

O Preliminary Information Statement
O Definitive Information Statement

2.

Name of Registrant as specified in its charter
BELLE CORPORATION

. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization

Metro Manila Philippines

. SEC Identification Number

52412

. BIR Tax Identification Code

000-156-011

. Address of principal office

5/F Tower A, Two ECom Center, Palm Coast Avenue, MOA Complex, Pasay City
Postal Code
1300

. Registrant's telephone number, including area code

02-6628888

. Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders

25 April 2016 @ 2:00 PM, SMX Convention Center, MOA Complex, Pasay City

. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security holders

Mar 28, 2016

10. In case of Proxy Solicitations:

Name of Person Filing the Statement/Solicitor
n/a

Address and Telephone No.
n/a

11. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA
(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate registrants):

Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding and Amount of Debt

Title of Each Class Outstanding



Common Stock, Php 1.00 par 10.498.679 857
value 498,679,

13. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed on a Stock Exchange?
O Yes O No
If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:
The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. / Common shares

The Exchange does not warrant and holds no responsibility for the veracity of the facts and representations contained in all corporate
disclosures, including financial reports. All data contained herein are prepared and submitted by the disclosing party to the Exchange,
and are disseminated solely for purposes of information. Any questions on the data contained herein should be addressed directly to
the Corporate Information Officer of the disclosing party.

A
BELLE

COEPORATION

Belle Corporation
BEL

PSE Disclosure Form 17-5 - Information Statement for Annual or
Special Stockholders' Meeting
References: SRC Rule 20 and
Section 17.10 of the Revised Disclosure Rules

Date of Stockholders' Apr 25, 2016

Meeting

Type (Annual or

Special) Annual

Time 2:00 PM

Venue SMX Convention Center, MOA Complex, Pasay City
Record Date Mar 23, 2016

Inclusive Dates of Closing of Stock Transfer Books

Start Date N/A
End date N/A

Other Relevant Information



Amended the Definitive Information Statement to include the following:

1. Rationale for the Agenda

2, Update on the Security ownership of more than 5% of the Company (see page 6)

3. Inclusion of Dividend policy (see page 65)

4. Update on the security holdings of Mr. Willy N. Ocier (see page 66)

5. Update on the compliance with the Manual of Corporate Governance, to include the following sentence in the 3rd
paragraph: "A Risk Management Committee was subsequently formed to review the policies and procedures relating to
the identification, analysis, management, monitoring and reporting of financial and non-financial risks." (see page 67)

Filed on behalf by:
Name Elizabeth Tan

Designation Manager-Governance & Corp Affairs/Investor Relations



NOTICE OF ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING

TO: ALL STOCKHOLDERS

NOTICE is hereby given that there wili be an annual meeting of the stockholders of Belle Corporation on
Monday, 25 April 2016 at 2 o'clock in the afternoon, at the SMX Conventlon Céntta-r Mall of Asaa Complex

~ Pasay City, Metro Manila, to consider the following:

AGENDA 5_ : | | ':',._._‘:_'f_"‘_m-jf-,__:’ :

Call to Order o
Proof of Notice of Meeting S T
Certification of Quorum T e
Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Meeting of Stockhol a E(;,?/ : /@%
Approval of 2015 Operations and Resulis e
Ratification of all Acts of the Board of Directors and Officers from the date of the last Annual
Stockhoiders' Meeting to the date of this meeting.

Election of Directors for 2016 to 2017

Appointment of External Auditors

Other Matters

0. Adjournment

Sk wn =

o

Attached are the rational for the above agenda items for reference.

In accordance with the rules of the Philippine Stock Exchange, the close of business on 23 March 2016 has
been fixed as the record date for the determination of the stockholders entitied to notice of and vote at said
meeting and any adjournment thereof.

Registration for those who are personally attending the meeting will start at 1:00 p.m. and end promptly at 1:45
p.m. All stockholders who will not, are unable, or do not expect to attend the meeting in person are encouraged
- to fill out, date, sign, and send a proxy to the Corporation at 5th Fioor Tower A, Two E-com Center, Palm Coast
Avenue, Mall of Asia Complex CBP-1A, Pasay City, Philippines. All proxies should be received by the
Corporation at least four {4) days before the meeting, or on or before 21 April 2016. Proxies submitted shall be
validated by a Committee of Inspectors on 22 April 2016 at 10:00 o'clock in the morning at 5th Floor Tower A,
Two E-com Center, Palm Coast Avenue, Mall of Asia Complex CBP-1A, Pasay City. For corporate stockhalders,
the proxies should be accompanied by a Secretary's Certification on the appointment of the corporation’s
authorized signatory.

To avoid inconvenience in registering your attendance at the meeting, you (or your proxy) are requested to bring
identification paper(s) containing a photograph and signature, e.g. passport, driver's license, or credit card.

/%1

e BAYANI K. TAN
R S orporate SecretaryM

City of Pasig, Metro Manila, 18 March 2016.



RATIONALE FOR AGENDA [TEMS:

Agenda ltem No.4.  Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Meeting of Stockholders
held on April 27, 2015

Copies of the Minutes of the April 27, 2015 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting are available at the
Corporation's website: hitp fwww.bellecors com/investor-relgtionsidisciosures/other-reports-
and-filings, and will likewise be made available during the ASM. Stockholders will be asked to
approve the Minutes of the 2015 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting as recommended by the Board
of Directors.

Agenda item No. 5.  Approval of 2015 Operations and Results

A report on the hightights of the performance of the Corporation for the year ended 2015 will be
presented to Stockholders. The same was reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board of
Directors, and have been audited by the external auditors who declared an unqualified opinion
on the Audited Financial Statements (AFS). A summary of the 2015 AFS shall be also be
presented to the Stockholders. Stockholders, after identifying themselves, will be given an
opportunity to raise questions regarding the operations and report of the Corporation.

Agenda ltem No. 6. Ratification of all Acts of the Board of Directors and Management
from the date of the last Annual Stockholders’ Meeting to the date
of this meeting.

All actions, proceedings and contracts entered into, as weli as resolutions made and adopted by
the Board of Directors and of Management from the date of the Stockholders Meeting held on
April 27, 2015 to the date of this meeting shall be presented for confirmation, approval, and
ratification. This includes but is not limited to the sale of 47,851,315 Pacific Online Systems
Corporation (POSC) shares to Premium Leisure Corp. {PLC) at ®20.90 per share, for an
aggregate amount of approximately #1.0 billion which took place last August 5, 2015

Agenda tem No.7.  Election of Directors for 2016 to 2017

The incumbent set of Board of Directors, as reviewed, qualified and recommended by the
Nomination Committee, shall be presented for re-election. Their proven expertise and
qualifications based on current regulatory standards and the Corporation’s own norms, will help
sustain the Company's solid performance that will resutt to its stockholders’ benefit. The profiles
of the Directors are available in the Company website. if elected, they shall serve as such from
25 April 2016 until their successors shall have been duly elected and qualified.

Agenda tem No. 8.  Appointment of External Auditors

The Audit Committee has pre-screened and recommended, and the Board has endorsed for
consideration of the stockholders to re-appoint SyCip Gorres & Velayo (SGV & Co.) as the
Corporation's External Auditor for 2016-2017. SGV & Co. is one of the leading auditing firms in
the country and is duly accredited by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The
Stockholders will aiso be requested to delegate to the Board the authority to approve the
appropriate audi fee for 2016.



PROXY FORM

The undersigned stockholder of Belle Corporation (the “Company™) hereby appoints or
in his absence, the Chairman of the meeting, as altorney and proxy, with power of substitution, to represent and vote
all shares registered in his/her/its name as proxy of the undersigned stockholder, at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders of the Company on April 25, 2016 and at any of the adjournments thereof for the purpose of acting on
the following matters:

1. Election of Directors.
1.1. Vote for all nominees listed below:
1.1.1. Benito Tan Guat
1.1.2. Willy N. Ocier
1.1.3. Jacinto C. Ng, Jr.
1.1.4. Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco
15 Jose T. Sio
L.1.6. Emilio S. De Quiros, Ir.
I.1.7. Frederic C. DyBuncio
1.1.8. Virginta A. Yap
1.1.9. Washington 7. Syeip (Independent Director)
1.1.16.  Gregorio U. Kilayko (Independent Director)
1.1.11.  Cesar E.A. Virata (Independent Director)
__ [.2. Withhold authority for all nominees listed above
1.3 Withhold authority to vote for the nominees listed below:

2. Approval of minutes of previous Annual Stockholders’ Meeting,
_ Yes___No  Abstam

3. Approval of 2015 Annual Report.
Yes _ No  Abstain

4. Ratification of all acts and resoiutions of the Board of Directors and Management from date of last Stockholders’
Meeting to April 25, 2016.
___Yes_ No _ Abstain

3. Election of SyCip Gorres Velavo & Co. as external auditor.
. Yes  No___ Abstain

6. At their discretion, the proxies named above are authorized to vote upon such other matters as may be properly
come before the meeting.

Yes  No_  Abstain

Printed Name of Stockholder

Signature of Stockholder /
Authorized Signatory

Date

THIS PROXY FORM SHOULD BE RECEIVED BY THE CORPORATE SECRETARY AT LEAST FOUR (4)DAYS
BEFORE THE DATE SET FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING AS PROVIDED IN THE BY-LAWS.



SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

L. , Filipino, of legal age and with office address at ,do
hereby cerify that:

1. 1 am the duly appointed Corporate Secretary ol (the “Corporation™), a
corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the Republic of the Philippines, with
office address at :

2. Based on the records, during the lawtully convened meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation held on
, the following resolution was passed and approved:

“RESOLVED, That be authorized and appointed, as he is hereby authorized and appointed,
as the Corporation’s Proxy (the “Proxy™) to attend all meetings of the stockholders of Belle Corporation (BELLE)
whether the meeting is regular or special, or at any meeting postponed or adjoumned therefrom, with full authority to
vote the shares of stock of the Corporation held in BELLE and to act upon all matters and reselution that may come
before or presented during meetings, or any adjournments thereof, in the name, place and stead of the Corporation.

“RESOLVED, FINALLY, That BELLE be furnished with a certified copy ot this resolution and BELLE may rely
on the continuing validity of this resolution until receipt of written notice of its revocation.”

3. The foregoing resolution has not been modified, amended or revoked in accordance with the records of the
Corporation presently in my custody.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have signed this instrument in on

Printed Name and Signatre of the
Corporate Secretary

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on mn .

Affiant exhibited to me his Competent Evidence of Identity by way of issued on
at

Doc. No.

Page No.

Book No. :

Series of



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 20-1S

Information Statement Pursuant to Section 20
of the Securities Regulation Code

1. Check the approptate box
[ ]Preliminary information Statement
{v ] Definitive Information Statement

2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter: BELLE CORPORATION
3. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Metro Manila, Philippines
4 SEC Identification Number; 52412

5. BIR Tax Identification Number- 043-000-156-011

6. Address of principal office: 5™ Floor Tower A, Two E-com Center, Palm Coast Avenue, Mall of Asia
- - e e, e W A
Complex CBP-1A, Pasay City 1300

7. Registrant's telephone number, including area code: {632) 662-8888

8. Date, time, and place of the meeting of security holders:
Date : 25 April 2016 (Monday)
Time : 2:00 PM
Venue : Function Room 1, SMX Convention Center, Mall of Asia Complex,

Pasay City, Metro Manila

9. Approximate date on which the Information Staterment is to be sent or given to security holders:
March 28, 2016

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA
(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate registrants):

Number of Shares of Common Stock

Title of Each Class Outstanding
Common Stock, #1.00 par value 10,498,679,857
(as of 29 February 2016)
Amount of Debt Outstanding
P6.0 Billion
{as of December 31, 2015)
11, Are any or all of Registrant's securities listed on a Stock Exchange?
Yes{v] No[ ]
if so disclose name of the Exchange : The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.
Class of securities listed : Common Shares

Statement that proxies are not solicited:

‘7 WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY.




GENERAL INFORMATION

Date, time and place of meeting of security holders

(a) Date - 25 April 2016 (Monday)
Time - 2:00 P.M.
Place - Function Room 1, SMX Convention Center, Mall of Asia Complex,

Pasay City, Metro Manila

L) The approximate date on which the information Statement will be sent or given to security holders
is on 28 March 2016.

{c) The complete maifing address of the principal office of Belle Corporation (the ‘Company’) is:
5th Floor Tower A, Two E-com Center, Palm Coast Avenue, Mall of Asia Compilex
CBP-1A, Pasay City 1300

Dissenters’ Right of Appraisal

The matters to be voted upon in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on 25 April 2016 are not among the
instances enumerated in Sections 42 and 81 of the Comoration Code whereby the right of appraisal,
defined to be the right of any stockholder to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his shares,
may be exercised. The instances where the right of appraisal may be exercised are as follows:

1. In case any amendment to the Articles of Incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting the
rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences in any respect superior to
those outstanding shares of any class, or of extending or shortening the term of corporate existence;

2. Incase of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially
all of the corporate property and assets as provided in the Corporation Code:

3. In case the Company decides to invest its funds in another corporation or business outside of its
primary purpose: and

4. In case of merger or consolidation.

Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon

@ No person who has been a director or officer or any nominee for election as director of the
Company or associate of such persons, have substantial interest, direct or indirect, in any matter
to be acted upon other than the election of directors for the year 2016-2017.

(b) The Company is not aware of any director or security holder who intends to oppose any action to
be taken by the registrant during the stockhoiders’ meeting.

CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof

(a) As of 29 February 2016, the Registrant had 10498,679,.857 common shares outstanding and
each share is entitled to one vote.

{b) The record date with respect to the detemmination of the stockholders entitled to notice of and
vote at the Annual Stockholders' Meeting is 23 March 2016.



(c)

@)

Title of
Class

Common

Common

Common

Common

Common

With respect to the election of eleven (11) directors, each stockholder may vote such number of
shares for as many as eleven (11) persons he may choose to be elected from the list of nominees,
or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of his
shares multiplied by eleven (11) shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle
among as many candidates as he shall see fit, provided that the total number of votes cast by
him shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him multiplied by eleven (11}.

Security ownership of certain record and beneficial owners and management.

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners

The following persons or groups are known to the Company as directly or indirectly the record or

beneficial owners of more than five percent (5%) of the Company's voting securities as of 29

February 2016:

Name and
Address
Name and Address of of Beneficial No. of
Record Owner and Owner Citizenship Shares Percent
Relationship with issuer and Relationship Held
with Record
Owner

Belleshares Holdings, Inc. Belleshares Filipino 2,604,740.622 24.810
Makati Stock Exchange Holdings
Building
Ayala Avenue, Makati City
PCD Nominee Corporationt (see footnote) Non-Filipino 2,221,499 864 21.160
G/F Makati Stock Exchange
6767 Ayala Avenue, Makati
City
PCD Nominee Corporation" {see footnote) Filipino 1,719,043,495 16.374
G/F Makati Stock Exchange
6767 Ayala Avenue, Makati
City
Sysmart Corporation® Sysmart Filipino 1,629,353,802 15.520
Makati Stock Exchange Corporation
Building
Ayala Avenue, Makati City
SM Development SM Development Filipino 695,068,560 6.621

Cormporation?

Makati Stock Exchange
Building

Ayala Avenue, Makati City

Corporation
(see foolnote)

{1} PCD Nominee Corporation (“PCONC"} is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Philippine Central Dapository,
inc. ("PCD"). The beneficial owners of such shares registersd under the name of PCDNC are PCD’s
participants who hold the shares in their own behalf or in behaff of their clients. The PCD is prohibited
from voting these shares, instead, the participants have the power to decide how the PCD shares in
Bslle are to be voted. The participants of PCD who owns more than 5% of the Company's outstanding

capital are:

a. BDO Securities Comoration — with ownership of 2,837 508,798 or 27 .027%
b. Citibank N. A. — with ownership of 1,162,493,032 or 11.073%, and
c. The Hong Kong Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited— Clients’ Account — with ownership of

887,308,418 shares or 8.452%.



@ Mr. Henry Sy, Sr. is the single largest shareholder of Befleshares Holdings, Sysmart Corporation and SM
Development Corporation and Sybase Equity Investments Corporation.

The shares held by Belleshares Holdings Inc., Sysmart Corporation, SM Development Corporation, Sybase Equity
Investments Corporation, BDO Securities Comporation, Citibank N.A. and The Hong Kong Shanghai Banking
Corporation-Client’s Account, shall be voted or disposed by the persons who shall be duly authorized by these record
or beneficial shareholders for the purpose. The natural persorys that has/have the power to vole on the shares of the
foregoing companies shalf be determined upon the submission of its proxy form to the Company, which is not later
than four (4) days before the date of the meeting.

Apart from the foregoing, there are no other persons holding more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding
capital stock.

(2) Security Ownership of Management

The following table shows the shares beneficially owned by the directors and executive officers of the
Company as of 29 February 2016:

Title of Class Name and Citizenship %’2:::; é;?gﬁ: ;uréﬁigf E‘fe g::g;
Common Benito Tan Guat (Filipino) 10,020,000 | Direct 0,095
Commeon | Willy N. Ocier (Filipino) 42,197,702 | Do) 0.402
Common | Virginia A. Yap (Filipino) 160,000 | Pooct! 0.001
Common Washington Z. SyCip (Filipino-American) 2,728,334 | Direct 0.026
Common Gregorio U, Kilayko (Filipino) 1 | Direct 0.000
Common Cesar E. A. Virata (Filipino) 1 | Direct 0.000
Common Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr. (Filipino) 1 | Direct 0.000
Common Jacinto C. Ng, Jr. (Filipino) 135,860,666 | Direct 1.287
Common Jose T. Sio (Filipino) 1,000 | Direct 0.000
Common Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco {Filipino) 1,000 { Direct 0.000
Common Frederic C. DyBuncio (Filipino) 100 | Direct 0.000
Common Manuel A. Gana (Filipino) 0 | Direct 0.000
Common lan Jason R. Aguirre ™ 19,000 | Direct 0.000
Common Nancy O. Hui (Filipino) 1,500,000 | Direct 0.014
Common Rudy P. Aninipot (Filipino)** 0 | Direct 0.00
Common Rogelio i. Robang (Filipino) 20,000 | Direct 0.00
Common Michelle T. Hernandez (Filipino) 0 | Direct 0.00
Common Zenia K. Sy (Filipino) 0 | Direct 0.00
Common A. Bayani K. Tan (Filipino) 316675 | Direct 0.003
Common Arthur A. Sy (Filipino) 0 | Direct 0.00
Common g:'lo S’i;ectors and executive officers as a 192,855 146 1837

*Appointed Senior Vice President and Chief Qperating Officer on March 06, 2015
** Retired as of June 30, 2015



3

Voting Trust Holders of Five Percent (5%) or More

There is no party known to the Company as holding any voting trust or any similar arrangement for five
percent {5%) or more of the Company’s voting securities.

Changes in Control

There is no arrangement that may result in a change in control of the Company.

Directors and Executive Officers

The names, ages, and periods of service of all incumbent Directors and Executive Officers of the
Company are as follows:

Directors:

-~ OO~ GB BN

—

Name
Benito Tan Guat
Willy N. Ocier

Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco

Frederic C. DyBuncio
Emilio S. De Quiros Jr.
Gregorio U. Kilayko
Jacinto C. Ng, Jr.

Jose T. Sio
Washington Z. Sycip
Virginia A. Yap

Cesar E.A. Virata

Executive Officers:

o0~ DA WN =

9
10
11

Name

Frederic C. DyBuncio
Manuel A. Gana

Armin Raguel A. Santos
lan Jason R. Aguirre*
Rudy P. Aninipot™
Michelle T. Hernandez

Nancy O. Hui
Rogelio |. Robang

Zenia K. Sy
A. Bayani K. Tan
Arthur A. Sy

*Effective March 6, 2015,
** Refired as of June 30, 2015

Citizenship
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino-American
Filipino
Fitipino

Citizenship
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Fitipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

Age as of
12.31.2015
85
59
60
56
87
60
46
76
94
65
85

Age as of
12.31.2015
56
58
43
42
59
44

57
55

54
60
46

Position

Chairman

Vice Chairman

Vice Chairman
Director / President and CEO
Director

Director (Independent)
Director

Director

Director (Independent)
Director

Director (Independent)

Position

President and CEQ

EVP and CFO

EVP - Integrated Resorts

SVP - Chief Operating Officer

VP Property Management

VP Govemance and Cormporate Affairs
VP for Administration and Executi
Assistant to the Chairman

VP for Real Estate Pemmits, Extern
Relations & Project Management

VP Sales

Corporate Secretary

Asst. Corporate Secretary



Board of Directors

The information on the business affiliations and experiences of the following directors and officers are
current and/or within the past five (5) years.

The following are the incumbent members of the Board of Directors who, are also nominated herein, as
certified by the Nomination Committee composed of Messrs. Washington Z. SyCip (Chairman), Willy N.
Ocier, Jose T. Sio and Ms. Virginia A. Yap, for re-election as members of the Board of Directors for 2015-
20186:

On February 29, 2016, the Company’s Nomination Committee indorsed the respective nominations for
the three (3) independent directors. These nominations were given in favor of Mr. Washington A. Sycip
by Mr. Frederic C. DyBuncio, Mr. Cesar E. A. Virata by Mr. Benito Tan Guat, and Mr. Gregorio U. Kilayko
by Mr. Jacinto C. Ng, Jr. The nominees, Messrs. Sycip, Virata and Kilayko are not related to the
nominating stockholders, Messrs. DyBuncio, Tan Guat and Ng. Jr., respectively.

NOTE: The Nomination Committee was initially composed of Messrs. Washington Z. SyCip (Chairman), Willy N. Ocler, Jose T. Sio
and Ms. Virgirnia A. Yap. At the Board of Directors’ meeting on 30 October 2015, Messrs. Willy N. Ocier and Mr. Jose T. Sio ceased
being members, while Mr. Cesar E.A. Virata was appointed as new member, of the Nomination Committee.

Benito Tan Guat

Mr. Tan Guat is the Chaimman of the Company. He is also the Chairman and President of Eastern
Securities Development Corporation.

Willy N. Ocier

Mr. Ocier is one of the two Co-Vice Chairpersons of Belle Corporation. He has been a Vice Chairman of
the Company’s Board of Directors and Chairman of the Company’s Executive Committee since June
1999. His positions with associated companies are as follows: Chaimman and President of Pacific Online
Systems Corporation; Chairman of the Board and a Director of APC Group, inc., Premium { eisure Corp.,
and Premium Leisure and Amusement, Inc.; Chairman of Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, inc., The Country
Club at Tagaytay Highlands, inc. and The Spa and Lodge Inc.; and Vice Chairman of Tagaytay Highlands
International Goif Club, inc. Mr. Ocier also sits as a Director of the following unaffiliated corporations:
Leisure and Resorts Worki Cormporation, IVantage Equities, Leisure and Resorts World Corporation,
Philippine Global Communications, inc. and Toyota Corporation Batangas. He was formerly President
and Chief Operating Officer of Eastern Securities Development Comporation. He graduated from Ateneo
de Manila University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics.

Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco

Ms. Uychaco is one of the two Co-Vice Chairpersons of Belle Corporation. She is also Senior Vice
President of SM Investments Corp., and a Director of Megawide Construction Corporation, Republic Glass
Holdings Corp., and Generali Pilipinas Hoiding Company, Inc. She was formerly Senior Vice President
and Chief Marketing Officer of Philippine American Life and General insurance Company and Board
Director of Philam Call Center. Prior to that, she was Vice President of Globe Telecom, Inc., Kuok
Philippine Properties, Inc. and Transnational Diversified Corp. Ms. Uychaco graduated from St.
Scholastica’s College in 1978 with a Bachelor of Arts Degree. She obtained & Master’s Degree in
Business Economics from the University of Asia and Pacific in 1988 and a Master's Degree in Business
Administration from the Ateneo Business School in 1992,

Frederic C. DyBuncio

Mr. DyBuncio is the President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of Belle Corporation and its subsidiary
Premium Leisure Com. Concurrently, he is the Executive Vice President of SM Investments Corporation.
He is a Director of Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation, Tagaytay Highlands
International Golf Club, Inc., and Pacific Online Systems Corporation. Prior to holding the post, he was a



career banker who spent over 20 years with JP Morgan Chase and its predecessor institutions. He
graduated from Ateneo de Manila University with a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Management
and finished a Master’s degree in Business Administration program at Asian Institute of Management.

Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr.

Mr. De Quiros has served as a Director of the Company since September 21, 2010. He is currently the
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Social Security System (“SSS”). He is also a Director of
UnionBank of the Phifippines and Philhealth Insurance Corporation. Prior to his appointment as President
of SSS, he served as Executive Vice President of Bank of the Philippine Islands and President of Ayala
Life Insurance Inc., Ayala Plans Inc. and BPI Bancassurance, Inc. He was also a director of ALFM Peso
Mutual Fund, Inc., ALFM Dollar Mutual Fund, Inc ,ALFM Euro Mutual fFund, Inc., ALFM Growth and
Philippine Stock Index Fund. Mr. De Quiros graduated from Ateneo de Naga with a Bachelor of Arts in
Ecenomics degree (Cum Laude), and holds a Master of Arts in Economics degree from University of the
Philippines.

Gregorio U. Kilayko*

Mr. Kilayke is an Independent Director of the Company. He was founding head of ING Barings’
stockbrokerage and investment banking business in the Philippines, and a Philippine Stock Exchange
Governor in 1996 and 2000. Mr. Kilayko holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

Jacinto C. Ng, Jr.

Mr. Ng is a Director of the Company and concurrently a Director and Treasurer of Republic Biscuit
Corporation and the Chief Executive Officer of Elanvital Enclaves, Inc. Mr. Ng is also a Director of the
following companies: Asia United Insurance Corporation, Highlands Prime, inc., Manila Bay Development
Corporation, Quantuvis Resources Corporation and Paim Concepcion Power Corporation. He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Architecture from the University of the Philippines.

Jose T. Sio

Mr. Jose T. Sio is a Certified Public Accountant and obtained his Master's degree in Business
Administration (MBA) from New York University, USA. Mr. Sio is a Director, Executive Vice President
and Chief Finance Officer of SM Investments Corporation. He is also a member of the Board of Directors
of the following companies listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE): (i) China Banking Corporation;
(i) Attas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation; and Adviser to the Board of Directors of
BDO Unibank, Inc. and Premium Leisure Corporation. He is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee
of SM Prime Hoklings, Inc. Mr. Sio alsc setves as Director of the following companies not listed in the
PSE: (i) OCLP (Ortigas) Holdings, Inc_; (i) SM Keppel Land, Inc.; (jii) Carmen Copper Corporation; (iv)
First Asia Realty Development Comoration; (v) Manila North Toliways Corporation; and (vi) Asia Pacific
College. He is the President of SM Foundation, Inc. and GlobalFund Holdings, Inc. Mr. Sio was a Senior
Partner of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV) from 1977 to 1990. He was voted as CFO of the Year in
2009 by the Financial Executives Institute of the Philippines (FINEX). He was also awarded as Best CFO
(Philippines) in various years by Hong Kong-based business publications such as Alpha Scutheast Asia,
Corporate Govemance Asia, Finance Asia and The Asset.

Washington Z. SyCip*

Mr. SyCip is an Independent Director of the Company. He is the founder of The SGV & Co., an auditing
and management consulting group with operations throughout East Asia. He is the Chairman Emeritus
of the Board of Trustees and Board of Governors of the Asian Institute of Management; a Member of the
Board of Overseers of Columbia University Graduate School of Business, New York; the Honorary
Chairman of Euro-Asia Centre, INSEAD, Fontainbleau, France since 19839; a Member of the Intemational
Advisory Board, Council on Foreign Relations, New York; and an Honorary Life Trustee of the Asia
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Society, New York. Mr. Sycip is a Director of a number of major corporations in the Philippines and other
parts of the world.

CesarE. A, Virata*

Mr. Virata is an Independent Director of the Company. He is the President and Principal Consultant of C.
Virata & Associates, Inc. Management Consultants. He is currently the Vice Chaimman of Rizal
Commercial Banking Corporation (RCBC); and Director of RCBC subsidiaries and some affiliates. He is
also an Independent Director of Lopez Holdings Corporation, City & Land Developers, Inc. and Business
World Publishing Corporation. Mr. Virata was formerly the Minister of Finance and Prime Minister of the
Philippines. He was Dean of the University of the Philippines College of Business Administration, now
named the UP Virata School of Business. Mr Virata holds an MBA from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania.

Virginia A. Yap

Ms. Yap is a Director of the Company. She is also a member of the Company's Executive and Nomination
Committees. Ms. Yap holds key positions in the SM Group of Companies including being Treasurer of
SM Development Corporation, and Vice President — Office of the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
SM Investments Corporation, SM Land, Inc. (formerly Shoemart, Inc.) and SM Retail Inc. She holds a
Bachelor of Science in Commerce (Major in Accounting) degree from the University of Mindanao. She
has been connected with the SM Group of Companies for the last twenty seven years.

The nomination, pre-screening and election of independent directors were made in compliance with the
requirements of the Code of Corporate Govemance and the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
Guidelines on the Nomination and Election of Independent Directors, which have been adopted and made
part of the Corporation’s By-Laws.

The Nomination Committee, composed of Messrs. Washington Z. SyCip (Chairman), Willy N. Ocier, Jose
T. Sio, Cesar E.A. VirataZ, and Ms. Virginia A. Yap, detemmine that the nominees for independent directors
possess all the qualifications and have none of the disqualifications for independent directors as set forth
in the Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance and Rule 38 of the Implementing Ruies of the
Securities Reguiation Code (SRC).

Messrs. Willy N. Ocier and Jose T. Sio were members of the Nomination Committee, iast elected on April 27, 20135, and ceased membership on
Qctober 30, 2045, Mr. Cesar EA. Virata's membership to the Nomination Compiitlee commenced on Qctober 30, 2015,

All new directors undergo an orientation program soon after date of election. This is intended to familiarize
the new directors on their statutoryffiduciary roles and responsibiiities in the Board and its Committees,
Belle's strategic plans, enterprise risks, group structures, business activities, compliance programs, Code
of Ethics, Insider Trading Policy and Corporate Governance Manual.

All directors are also encouraged to participate in continuing education programs at Belle's expense to
promote relevance and effectiveness and to keep them abreast of the latest developments in corporate
directorship and good governance.

* Independent Director — the Company has complied with the Guidelines set forth by SRC (Securities Regulation Code) Rule 38 regarding the
Nomination and Election of Independent Director, The Company's By-Laws incorporate the procedures for the nomination and election of
independent director’s in accordance with the requirements of the said Rule.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Frederic C. DyBuncio

Mr. D_yB uncio is the President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of Belle Corporation and its subsidiary
Premium Leisure Corp. Concurrently, he is the Executive Vice President of SM Investments Corporation.
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He is a Director of Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation, Tagaytay Highlands
International Golf Club, Inc., and Pacific Online Systems Corporafion. Prior to holding the post, he was a
career banker who spent over 20 years with JP Morgan Chase and its predecessor institutions. He
graduated from Ateneo de Manila University with a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Management
and finished a Master’s degree in Business Administration program at Asian Institute of Management.

Ammin B. Raguel-Santos

Mr. Raquel-Santos is concuirently Executive Vice President - Integrated Resorts of Belle Corporation
and Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Premium Leisure and Amusement, Inc. He
is also a Director of Tagaytay Highlands Intemational Goif Club, Inc., and a member of the Board of
Trustees of Melco Crown Philippines Foundation Corporation. Formerly, he was Chief Financial Officer of
Aboitizland, he also served in various government positions including as Govemor of the Board of
investments, Vice Chairman and CEO of the Philippine Retirement Authority, Executive Vice President of
the Philippine International Trading Corporation, Deputy Administrator of Subic Bay Metropolitan Authority
and Assistant Secretary for the Department of Trade and Industry. Mr. Raquel-Santos holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Business Administration major in Finance from lona College (USA) and a Master of
Ans degree in Liberal Studies from Dartmouth College (USA).

Manuel A. Gana

Mr. Gana is the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He joined Belle in
1997 as Vice President for Corporate Development and Special Projects, during which time he was also
assigned as the Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer for MagiNet Corporation, which was
then a subsidiary of Sinophil Corporation (now called Premium Leisure Corporation), a subsidiary of Belle.
He is a Director of Tagaytay Highlands International Goif Club, inc. and Woodland Development
Corporation. Previously, he was Director of Investment Banking at Nesbitt Burns Securities Inc. in New
York. He also previously worked for Bank of Montreal and Merrill Lynch Capital Markets (both in New
York), and for Procter & Gamble Philippine Manufacturing Corporation. Mr. Gana holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsyivania, and degrees
in Accounting and Economics from De La Salle University. He is a Certified Public Accountant.

lan Jason R. Aguirre

Mr. Aguirre was appointed as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company effective March 6, 2015. Mr.
Aguirre is concurrently a Vice President of SM Investments Corporation ("SMIC”). He has worked in
various management positions over a 16-year career that included local and intemational experience in
strategic planning, operations and business development. His last stint prior to joining SMIC was as a
Director for CEMEX Asia Pte. Ltd.. Mr. Aguirre holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial
Engineering from the University of the Philippines and a Master's degree in Business Management from
the Asian Institute of Management.

Rudy P. Aninipot*

Mr. Aninipot is the Vice President for Property Management and responsible for the efficient and effective
operation and maintenance of buildings, infrastructures and facilities in Tagaytay Highiands, Tagaytay
Midlands and The Greenlands. He joined Belle in 1995 as Assistant Vice President for Engineering. Prior
to joining Belle, Mr. Aninipot held key positions in Shangri-La’'s EDSA Plaza Hotel, Mandarin Oriental and
San Miguel Corporation. He also had previous work experience in the Middle East (Saudi Arabia and
Yemen). A professional electrical engineer, Mr. Aninipot holds a degree in Electrical Engineering from
the Mapua Institute of Technology.

*Retired as of June 30, 2015
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Michelle T. Hemandez

Michelle Angeli T. Hemandez is the Vice President for Govemance and Corporate Affairs of the Company,
in which capacity she is mainly responsible for developing, implementing and managing various
strategies, processes and policies related to Corporate Governance, Enterprise Risk Management and
Corporate Affairs for the Company and its subsidiaries. She has a bachelor's degree in Tourism (cum
laude) from the University of Sto. Tomas. Before joining the Company, she worked in Thomas Cook
Philippines, Inc., a member of Metrobank’s Group of Companies.

Nancy O. Hui

Ms. Hui is the Vice President for Administration and Executive Assistant to the Chairman and concurrently
in-charge of the Logistics and Purchasing Division of the Company. Before joining the Company, Ms. Hui
was the Managing Director of Guatson International Travel and Tours. An advocate for environmental
concems, Ms. Hui has a bachelor's degree in Biology and a degree in veterinary medicine from the
University of the Philippines.

Rogelio |. Robang

Mr. Robang is the Vice President for Real Estate Pennits, External Relations and Project Management. A
BS Geodetic Engineering graduate, with studies in Civil Engineering, from the University of the
Philippines, he joined the Company as the Assistant Project Director for the Tagaytay Highlands Golf Club
project and also supervised the construction of the Tagaytay Midlands project. He also served as
Technical Assistant to the President, and, subsequently, to the Vice Chaimman, Prior to joining Belle, Mr.
Robang was the Manager for Mining Tenements at Surigao Consolidated Mining Company. Mr. Robang,
a board topnotcher, also holds a Master in Business Administration degree from De La Salle University.

Zenia K. Sy

Ms. Sy has had 26 years of extensive experience in the real estate industry; specifically, in Sales and
Marketing in an executive position. A Certified Public Accountant from the University of Santo Tomas and
a Licensed Real Estate Broker, she is responsible for the sales performance of the leisure properties in
Tagaytay Highlands and organization of the Sales Divisions. She is well exposed to global business
having spent five years in her capacity as Head of the International Sales with Federal Land, Inc. in
addition to her regular functions overseeing the sales operations in Italy, Spain, France, UK, US, Guam,
Canada, Japan, Singapore and the Middle East. She has held the position of President and a member of
the board of the various Condominium Corporations of companies she has worked for in the past.

A. Bayani K. Tan

Mr. A. Bayani K. Tan, 60, Filipino, is the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation (since May 1994, Publicly-
Listed). He is also a Director, Corporate Secretary or both of the following reporting and/or listed
companies: Asia United Bank Corporation (since February 2014 as Corporate Secretary , since June
2014 as Director*, Publicly-Listed), Coal Asia Holdings, Inc. (since July 2012, Publicly-Listed), Destiny
Financial Plans, Inc. (since 2003), Discovery World Corporation {since March 2013 as Director, since July
2003 as Comorate Secretary, Publicly-Listed), First Abacus Financial Holdings Cormp. (since May 1894,
Publicly Listed), FRemit, inc. (since May 2007, Publicly-Listed), Pacific Online Systems Corporation (since
May 2007, Publicly-Listed), Philequity Balanced Fund, Inc. (since March 2010), Philequity Dividend Yield
Fund, Inc. (since .January 2013), Phitequity Dollar Income Fund, Inc. (since March 1999), Philequity
Foreign Currency Fixed Income Fund, Inc. (since March 2010), Philequity Fund, Inc. (since June 1997),
Philequity Peso Bond Fund, Inc. (since June 2000), Philequity PSE Index Fund, Inc. {since February
1999), Philequity Resources Fund, Inc. (since March 2010), Philequity Strategic Growth Fund, Inc. {since
April 2008), Premium Leisure Corp. {since December 1993 as Director and until April 2015 as Corporate
Secretary, Publicly-Listed), TKC Metals Corporation {(since February 2007, Publicly-Listed), Tagaytay
Highlands International Golf Club, Inc. (since November 1993), Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc. (since
June 1987), The Country Club at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc. (since August 1995), The Spa and Lodge at
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Tagaytay Highiands, Inc. (since December 1999) and Vantage Equities, Inc. (since January 1993,
Publicly-Listed). Mr. Tan is also a Director and the Corporate Secretary of Sterding Bank of Asia Inc.
(since December 2006). He is the Managing Partner of the law offices of Tan Venturanza Valdez (since
it was established in 1888), Managing Director/President of Shamrock Development Corporation (since
May 1988), Director of Destiny LendFund, Inc. (since December 2005) and Pascual Laboratories, Inc.
(since March 2014), President of Catarman Chamber Elementary School Foundation, Inc. (since August
2012), Managing Trustee of SCTan Foundation, Inc. (since 1986), Trustee and Treasurer of Rebisco
Foundation, Inc. (since April 2013) and Trustee and Corporate Secretary of 5t. Scholastica's Hospital,
Inc. (since February 2011).

Mr. Tan holds a Master of Laws degree from New York University (Class of 1988) and eamed his Bachelor
of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines (Class of 1980) where he was a member of the
Order of the Purple Feather (U.P. College of Law Honor Society) and ranked ninth in his class. Mr. Tan
passed the bar examinations in 1981 where he placed sixth. He has a Bachelor of Arts major in Political
Science degree from the San Beda College (Class of 1976) from where he graduated Class Valedictotian
and was awarded the medal for Academic Excellence.

*As approved by Banko Sentral ng Pilipinas
Arthur A. Sy

Arthur A. Sy is the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company. He is also the Vice President,
Corporate Legal Affairs of SM Investments Corporation. He is the Corporate Secretary of various
corporations within the SM Group of Companies. He is also the Corporate Secretary of the National
University. He holds a Juris Doctor degree from Ateneo de Manita University and is a member of the New
York Bar. He has been with the SM Group for the last 18 years.

Period of Officership

Name Office Period Served
' | Frederic C. DyBuncio | Presidentand CEO Fiom Apil 2073 -
2 | Manuel A Gana EVP and CFO From July 1997 to
Present
3 | Amin Raquel A. Santos | EVP - Integrated Resorts E‘;’:‘eggﬁttember 2011
4 | |an Jason R. Aguirre SVP - Chief Operating Officer ;:g’;‘emamh 2015 to
> | Rudy P. Aninipot VP for Property Management i:?:;‘ %Ctgg’?g 1995 to
8 | Michelle T. Hernandez | VP for Govemance and Corporate From April 1996 to
: Affairs Present
; VP for Administration and Executive From June 2001 to
N . .
ancy O. Hui Assistant to the Chaimman Present
8 - VP for Real Estate Permits, External | FromJ
Rogelio I. Rob ' ; , anuary 2002 to
cge obang Relations & Project Management Present
® | zeniak. sy VP for Sales E;‘;’;‘eﬁfbmaw 201210
L .
Y Bayani K. Tan Corporate Secretary ;:Z?ethaY 1994 to
1 Arthur A. Sy Asst. Corporate Secretary i:g?eﬁtpm 2010t

* Retired as of June 30, 2015
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The following will be nominated as Officers at the Organizational meeting of the Board of Directors:

Name Office
1 Frederic C. DyBuncio President and CEQ
2 Manuel A. Gana EVP and CFO
3 Amin Raquel A. Santos | EVP - Integrated Resorts
4 lan Jason R. Aguirre SVP - Chief Operating Officer
5 Michelle T. Hernandez VP for Governance and Corporate Affairs
6 Nancy Q. Hui VP for Administration and Executive Assistant to the Chairman
7 Rogelio |. Robang /P for Real Estate Permits, External Relations & Project
Management
8 Zenia K. Sy VP for Sales
9 A.Bayani K. Tan Cormporate Secretary . i
10 | Arthur A. Sy Asst. Corporate Secretary

Directorships i

Other Publicly Li Com ies:

The following are directorships held by Directors and Officers in other reporting companies in the last five years:

Director’s Name

Name of Listed Company

Type of Directorship
(Executive, Non-Executive,
independent). Indicate if
director is also the
Chairman.

Willy N. Ocier

Leisure & Rescris World Corp.

Non-Executive Director

Vantage Equities, Inc.

Non-Executive Director

Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr.

Union Bank of the Philippines

Non-Executive Director

Gregorio U. Kilayko Vantage Equities, Inc. Independent Director
Washington Z. SyCip Cityland Development Corporation Non-Executive Director
{Chairman)
Century Properties Group, Inc. Independent Director
First Philippine Holdings Independent Director
Corporation
Lopez Holdings Corporation Independent Director
MacroAsia Corporation Non-Executive Director
{Chairman)
Metro Pacific Investments independent Director
Corporation
Philippine National Bank Non-Executive Director
PHINMA Group Independent Director
Cesar E.A. Virata Rizal Commercial Banking Non-Exec Director (Vice-
Corporation Chairman)
Lopez Holdings Corporation independent Director
City and Land Developers, Inc. Independent Director

Atty. A. Bayani K. Tan

Asia United Bank Corporation

Non-Executive Director

Discovery Woild Corporation

Non-Executive Director

First Abacus Financial Holdings
Corp.

Non-Executive Director

Coal Asia Holdings, Inc.

Non-Executive Director

I-Remit, Inc.

Non-Executive Director

TKC Metais Corporation

Non-Executive Director

Benito Tan Guat

No directorship in other listed companies.
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Type of Directorship
{Executive, Non-Executive,
Director's Name Name of Listed Company Independent). Indicate if
director is also the
Chairman.

Elizabeth Anne C. No directorship in other fisted companies.
Uychaco

Frederic C. DyBuncio No directorship in other listed companies.
Jacinto C. Ng, Jr. No directorship in other listed companies.
Jose T. Sio No directorship in other listed companies.
Virginia A. Yap No directorship in other listed companies.

Significant Employees

There are no other significant employees.

Family Relationships

Mr. Benito Tan Guat, Chaiman, is the father of Mr. Willy N. Ocier, Vice Chairman, and Ms. Nancy O. Hui,
Vice President for Administration and Executive Assistant to the Chairman.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

As a result of the delay in the delivery of the facilities of the Universal Leisure Club, Inc., some of its
members initiated a Complaint for Estafa (1.5. No. 08K-89713) against ULC, the Universal Rightfield
Property Holdings, Inc. and the Universal Leisure Corp., as well as their respective officers and directors,
including their former Corporate Secretary, Atty. A. Bayani K. Tan, an incumbent Director and the
Corporate Secretary of the Corporation. The Complaint was submitted for resolution in 2009 and was
acted upon and dismissed by the City Prosecutor of Manila (OCP) only on March 18, 2013. Complainants
belatedly filed mofion for reconsideration for which reason, among others, the OCP denied motion on
June 18, 2014. A Petition for Review dated March 31, 2014 was filed by the Complainant before the
Department of Justice (DOJ). On August 7, 2014, Atty. Tan filed his Comment to the said Petition. In a
Resolution dated April 17, 2015, the Pefition for Review was denied and the DOJ dismissed the complaint
for estafa.

Except as provided above, the Company is not aware of any of the following events wherein any of its
directors, nominees for election as director, executive officers, underwriter or control person were involved
during the past five (5) years up to the date of this Information Statement:

a) any bankrupicy petition filed by or against any business of which any of the above persons was
a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior
to that time;

b) any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court
of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, pemmanently or temporarily enjoining, barring,
suspending or otherwise limiting the involvement of any of the above persons in any type of
business, securities, commodities or banking activities; and,

¢) any finding by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in civil action), the SEC or
comparable foreign body, or a domestic of foreign exchange or electronic marketplace or self-
regulatory organization, that any of the above persons has violated a securities or commodities
law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended or vacated.
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Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

No director or executive officer or any member of their inmediate family has, during the last two years,
had a direct or indirect, material interest in a fransaction or proposed transaction to which the Company
was a party,

Disagreement with Director

No director has resigned nor declined to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors hecause of a
disagreement with the Company on any matter relating to the latter's operations, policies, or practices
since the date of the last Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

All independent directors get a per diem of Fifty Thousand Pesos (50,000.00) each, while the other
directors get a per diem of Ten Thousand Pesos (P10,000.00) each per meeting.

As of 29 February 2016, there were no outstanding warrants or options held by any of the Company’s
directors and officers.

The aggregate compensation paid or incurred during the last two fiscal years and estimated compensation
to be paid in the ensuing fiscal year to the Chief Executive Officer and executive officers of the Company
are as follows:

Summary Compensation Table (Annual Compensation)

Other Annual
Name Position Year Salary Bonus Compensation
Frederic C. DyBuncio CEO and President
Armin B. Raquel-Santos EVP - Integrated Resorts
Manuel A. Gana EVP and CFO
Rudy A. Aninipot* VP Property Management
VP - Real Estate Permits, External
Refations and Project
Rogelio |. Robang Management
President and 4 Most Highly Compensated Executive Officers 2016(Estimate) 32,235,520 2,484,470
2015 30,410,868 2,343,840
2014 26,676,200 2,056,000
All ather officers and Directors 2016{Estimate) 25,187,890 2,068,991
as a group unnamed 2015 23,762,160 1,980,180
2014 20,844,000 1,737,000
Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in rol Airangements

The(e was ho compensatory plan or arrangement with respect to named executive officers that resulted
or will rgsult from the resignation, retirement or termination of such executive officer or from a change-in-
control in the Company.

Warrants and Options Qutstanding

Warrants

There were no cutstanding warrants as of 29 February 2016.
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Options
There are no option grants outstanding as of 29 February 2016.

Pursuant to Section 5.2 of the Amended Stock Option Plan, the number of shares granted under the Plan
shall be correspondingly adjusted in the event of any merger, consolidation, reorganization,
recapitalization, reclassificaion of stock, stock dividends, splits, rights, or any other change in the
corporate structure or capitalization of the Company's common stock as presently constituted.

independent Public Accountants

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (*SGV"), the Company's extemal auditors for 2015-2016, will be
recommended for re-appointment as such for the current year. Representatives of SGV are expected to
be present at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting to respond to appropriate questions and will be given the
opportunity to make a statement if they so desire.

Over the past five (5) years, there was no event where SGV and the Company had any disagreement
with regard to any matter refating to accounting principles or practices, disciosure of financial statements
or auditing scope or procedure.

In Compliance with the SEC Memorandum Circular No. 8 Series of 2003, Mr. Juanito A. Fullecido was
assigned in 2007 as SGV's engagement partner for the Company to replace Mr. Sebastian. Mr. Fullecido’s
assignment ended after the 2009-2010 audit engagement. SGV appointed Mr. Roel E. Lucas as the
engagement partner for the Company starting 2010-2011. For the 2012 and 2013 audit engagement
SGV appointed Ms. Clairma T. Mangangey as the engagement partner. In 2014 and 2015, SGV
appointed Marydith C. Miguel and Ramon D. Dizon as the engagement partners for the 2014 and 2015
audit, respectively. .

The Company paid SGV One Million Pesos (1,000,000) for external audit services for 2015 and 2014.
For each of the last two (2) fiscal years, SGV did not render services for tax accounting, planning,

compliance, advice, or any other professicnal services for which it billed the Company the corresponding
professional fees.

The Audit Committee, composed of Mr. Gregorio U. Kilayko as Chairman, and Messrs. Jacinto C. Ng, Jr.,
Cesar E. A. Virata and Ms. Virginia A. Yap* as Members, recommends fo the Board of Directors the
appointment of the external auditors. The Board of Directors and the stockholders approved the Audit
Committee's recommendation. The Executive Committee approves the audit fees as recommended by
the Audit Committee.

Note: Ms. Virginia A. Yap ceased being a member of the Audit Committee from October 30, 2015.

Compensation Plans

The Company will not be taking any action as regards its existing Stock Opfion Plan.
Acdquisition or Disposition of Property
Disposition of Pacific Online Systems Corporation (“POSC”) shares

On August 3, 2015, the Corporation sold its remaining 47,851,315 shares in POSC to Premium Leisure
Corp. (PLC) at #20.90 per share, for an aggregate amount of approximately ™1 0 billion which it plans to
use for debt repayment.

Corporate Reorganization
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On July 22, 2014, A Deed of Sale of Shares was executed covering the sale by Belile to Premium Leisure
Corp. (“PLC" of all its equity interest in PremiumLeisure and Amusement, Inc. (“PLAI"), consisting of Fifty
Thousand (50,000) Common Shares, at a price of Ten Billion Eight Hundred Forty-Seven Million Eight
Hundred Twenty Thousand Pesos (®10,847,820,000.00).

On the same day, the Corporation sold most of its shares in Pacific Online Systems Corporation ("Pacific
Online”) to PLC. Belle Comporation sold the equivalent of approximately Thirty-Four and a Half Percent
(34.5%) of the outstanding capital stock of Pacific Online, or a total of 101,668,953 Common Shares, at
a previously agreed price of Fifteen Pesos {(™15.00) per share, or an aggregate of One Billion Five
Hundred Twenty-Five Million Thirty-Four Thousand Two Hundred Ninety-Five Pesos (®1,525,034,295.00)
which will be paid for in cash. On August 5, 2015, Belle sold its remaining 47 .9 million shares in Pacific
Online to PLC. The transfers of the Pacific Online shares from Belle to PLC were executed through the
facilities of the Exchange through special block sales.

During September and October 2014, Belle, its subsidiaries and affiliates sold a total of approximately 3.5
billion PLC shares in the secondary market in order to increase PLC’s public float. These share sales
reduced Belle’s consolidated ownership in PLC to 24.9 billion shares or approximately 78.7%, which is
unchanged as of December 31, 2015. This transaction is considered as a sale of interest in PLC without
losing control; thus, all of the related gains and transaction costs were accounted for directly in equity.

Acquisition of Falcon Resources Inc.

On June 16, 2014, Total Gaming Technologies Inc. (“TGTI"), a subsidiary of Pacific Online, and the
shareholders of Falcon Resources inc. (“FRI") entered into a Memorandum of Understanding for the
intention of TGT! to acquire the latter’s interest in FRI, thereby attaining 100% ownership on December
11, 2014. FRIis a Philippine corporation engaged in gaming consultancy services and is a sub-distributor
for Pacific Online.
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OTHER MATTERS

Action with Respect to Reports

The Company will seek the approval by the stockholders of the Minutes of the previous Stockholders’
Meeting during which the following were taken up: (1) Call to Order; (2) Proof of Notice of Meeting; (3)
Certification of Quorum; {4) Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Meeting of Stockholders; (5) Approval
of 2014 Operations and Results; (6) Rafification of all Acts of the Board of Directors and Officers; (7)
Election of Directors; (8) Appointment of SyCip Gormes Velayo & Co. as External Auditors; (9) Qther
Matters; and (10) Adjournment.

The Company will also seek approval by the stockholders of the 201 5 Qperations and Reports, contained
and discussed in the Annual Report attached and made part of this information Statement. Approval of
the reports will constitute approvat and rafification of the acts of managementand of the Board of Directors
for the past year.

Two inspectors, who are officers or employees of the Company, shall be appointed by the Board of
Directors fo count the votes to be cast before or at each meeting of the stockholders, if no such

appointment shall have been made or if the inspectors appointed by the Board of Directors refused to act
or fail to attend then the appointment shall be made by the presiding officer of the meeting.

Matters Not Required to be Submitted

No action is to be taken with respect to any matter, which is not required to be submitted to a vote of
security holders.

Amendment of Charter, By-Laws. or Other Documents

There are no matters to be voted upon by the stockholders of the Company pertaining to any amendment
of Company By-laws and other documents.

Other Proposed Actions

The following are to be proposed for approval during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting:

1. Minutes of the Previous Meeting of Stockholders;

2. 2015 Operations and Resuilts;

3. Ratification of all Acts of the Board of Directors and Management from date of last
Stockholders’ Meeting up the April 25, 2016;

4 Election of Directors for 2016-2017,

5. Appointment of SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. as External Auditors;

6. Other Matters.

The items covered with respect to the ratification of the acts of the Board of Directors and officers for the
past year up to the date of the meeting are those items entered into in the ordinary course of business,
with those of significance having been covered by appropriate disclosures such as:

1. Membership in the relevant committees such as the Executive Committee; Audit
Committee, Risk Management Committee, Nomination Commitiee and the
Compensation & Remuneration Committee;

Designation of authorized signatories;

Financing activities;

Opening of accounts;

Appointments in compliance with corporate govemance policies; and

Funding support for projects.

LRSI
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Management reports which summarize the acts of management for the year 2015 are included in the
Company's Annual Report to be sent to the stockholders together with this Information Statement and
shall be submitted for approval by the stockholders at the meeting. Accordingly, approval of the Annual
Report will constitute approval and ratification of the acts of Management stated in the Management
Report during the period covered thereby.

Voting Procedures

(a)

(b)

(©)

@

(e)

M

Actions to be taken at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting shall require the vote of the stockholders
representing at least a majority of the Company’s outstanding capital stock.

Two inspectors, who are officers or employees of the Company, shall be appointed by the Board
of Directors before or at each meeting of the stockholders, at which an election of directors shall
take place. If no such appointment shall have been made or if the inspectors appointed by the
Board of Directors refused to act or fail to attend, then the appointment shall be made by the
presiding officer of the meeting. For purpeses of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on 25 April
2016, the Corporate Secretary and/or his representative together with the Audit Pariner of the
External Auditor and/or his representative, have been designated as inspectors who have been
tasked to oversee the counting of votes.

(b.1) A third party will be appointed by the Corporation to validate the votes as necessary.

Stockholders may vote at all meetings either in person or by proxy duly given in writing in favor
of any person of their confidence and each stockholder shall be entitied to one vote for each share
of stock standing in his name in the books of the Company; provided, however, thatin the election
of Directors, each stockholder shall be entitled to cumulate his votes in the manner provided for
by law.

The By-Laws of the Company is silent as to the method by which votes are to be counted. [n
practice, however, the same is done by the raising of hands or viva voce.

With respect to the election of eleven (11) directors, each stockholder may vote such number of
shares for as many as eleven (11) persons he may choose to be elected from the list of nominees,
or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of his
shares multiplied by eleven (11) shall equal, or he may disfribute them on the same principle
among as many candidates as he shall see fit, provided that the total number of votes cast by
him shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him muitiplied by eleven (11).

Upon confirmation by the inspectors that there is a mathematical impossibility for certain
nominees to be elected into office based on proxies held and votes present/represented in the

meeting, the actual casting and counting of votes for the election of Directors may be dispensed
with.

Omitted tems

ltems 2,4, 11, 12, 14, 15 and 16 are not responded to in this report, the Company having no intention to
take any action with respect to the information required therein.
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SIGNATURE

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we hereby certify that the
information set forth in this report are true, complete and correct.

This report is signed in the City of Pasay, Metro Manila on March 8, 2016.

WILLY N. OCIER
Vice Chairman
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BELLE CORPORATICON

BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

Background

Belle Corporation ("Belle” or the “Company’) was incorporated in 1973 as Belle Mining and Oil
Exploration, Incorporated (“Belle Resources”) and, in 1977, was listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange.
In 1989, Belle Resources developed a golf club named Tagaytay Highlands International Golf Club,
Incorporated (“Tagaytay Highlands™), which became its initial foray into the property development sector.
In 1994 Belle Resources changed its name to Belle Corporation to underscore the shift in its principal

activity.

In early 2001, Belle decided to spin-off some of its property development assets. The spin-off involved
the transfer of approximately 534 hectares of undeveloped land, 70 developed subdivision lots and 25
finished residential units into a newly formed subsidiary, Highlands Prime, Incomorated (“Highlands
Prime”). Highlands Prime was registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15,
2001, and its shares became listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange on April 23, 2002, at which time
Belle sold approximately 64% of its interest in Highlands Prime to investors. In August 2013, Belle
exchanged its 809 million shares in Highlands Prime for approximately 109 million shares in SM Prime
Holdings, Inc. (“SMPH"), pursuant to the tender offer with SM Land, Inc. for the shares of Highlands Prime
and SM Development Corp. Belle sold approximately 16 million of its SMPH shares in 2015, and holds
about 92 million shares as of December 31, 2015.

On April 14, 2011, Belle acquired all the shares of PremiumLeisure & Amusement, Inc. (“PLAI") through
the issuance of 2.7 billion new common shares. PLAlis a grantee by Philippine Amusement and Gaming
Corporation (“PAGCOR”) of a Certificate of Affiliation and License (the “License”) to operate integrated
resorts, including casinos, in the vicinity of the Bagong Nayong Pilipino Manila Bay Entertainment City
(“Entertainment City" or “PAGCOR City”). PLAI's License, which was issued by PAGCOR as a Provisional
License in 2008, runs concurrent with the PAGCOR's Congressional Franchise, which expires in 2033
unless renewed for another 25 years by the Philippine Congress. Belle started construction of the
foundation and structure of the integrated resorts in 2010 on 6.2 hectares of land along the enfrance of
the Entertainment City. In October 2012, Belie and PLAI entered into a Cooperation Agreement with
MELCO Crown Entertainment Limited and its Philippine affiliates (collectively, “MCE”"). The Cooperation
Agreement placed Belle as a co-licensee and the owner of the land and buildings and MCE as a co-
licensee, developer and operator of all facilities within the integrated resort, which was subsequently
branded as “City of Dreams Manila”. City of Dreams Manila had its soft opening on December 14, 2014
and its Grand Launch on February 2, 2015. Belle, PLAl and MCE fully complied with the all PAGCOR
requirements under the License as of the date of the soft opening and in May 2015, City of Dreams Manila
became the first integrated resort in Entertainment City to have its License converted from Provisional to
Regular status by PAGCOR.

Development of the Business of the Registrant and its Subsidiaries/Affiliates during the Past 3
Years

Belle, the registrant, shifted its principal activity from mining and oil exploration to property development
when it developed Tagaytay Highiands in 1989. its property development projects are located in Tagaytay
City and Batangas, and include the following: Alta Mira, Fairfield, Lakeside Fairways, Lakeview Heights,
Nobhill, Pinecrest Village, Plantation Hills, Tagaytay Highlands Golf Club, Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club,
The Belleview, The Country Club at Tagaytay Highlands, The Parks at Saratoga Hiils, The Spa and Lodge
at Tagaytay Highlands, The Verandas at Saratoga Hills, The Villas, and The Woodlands.

Lakeside Fairways comprises Belle's newest development area in Batangas, and was introduced by Belle

in_April 2007. This project consists of subdivision lofs located south of the existing 18-hole Tagaytay
Midlands golf course in Talisay, Batangas. The consfruction of 8 more holes for the Tagaytay Midlands
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goif course also commenced after ground breaking for Lakeside Fairways, during the first half of 2008.
As of December 31, 2015, Belle’s Lakeside Fairways projects comprising of Kew Gardens, Terrazas de
Alava, Lakeside Enclave and Tivoli Place, Cotswold, Yume and Katsura were 100% complete. As of
December 31, 2015, the first three phases of Sycamore Heights was 100% complete and the fourth phase
is slated to be complete by end of year end of 2016.

Pacific Online Systems Corporation (‘Pacific Online”), incorporated in 1993, leases online betting
equipment to the Philippine Charity Sweepstakes Office (PCSO) for their lottery operations. Pacific Online
has been consistently profitable since its fiscal year 2002. Pacific Online listed its shares on the Philippine
Stock Exchange with a successful initial public offering on April 12, 2007. A total of 39.8 million shares
were offered to the public at P8.88 per share. Because of high demand for Pacific Online shares, it opened
in the market at P13.25 per share on the listing date. Belle’s subsidiary, Premium Leisure Corp., owned
50.1% of Pacific Online as of December 31, 2015.

Premium Leisure Corporation (“PLC") comprises the group's vehicle for gaming investments. It was
originally incorporated as Sinophit Oil Exploration Co., Inc. in 1993 with the primary purpose of engaging
in oil and gas exploration and development activities. On June 3, 1997, its name was changed to Sinophii
Corporation with a primary purpose of being an investment holding company and, on July 18, 2014, its
stockholders approved a further change in its name to Premium Leisure Corporation with its primary
purpose being investments in gaming-related businesses. On July 24, 2014, Belle completed transfers to
PLC of its 100% stake in PLAl and approximately 102 million shares in Pacific Online (comprising about
34% of issued common shares in Pacific Online), with the Company transferring to Belle various real
estate assets and corporate securities. PLC also increased its authorized capital stock from 16.1 billion
shares to 43.6 billion shares, with Belie subscribing to 24.7 billion new common shares that increased its
consolidated ownership therein from 3.6 billion shares or 54.3% to 28.3 billion shares or approximately
90%. During September and October 2014, Belle, its subsidiaries and affiliates sold a total of
approximately 3.5 billion shares in PLC in the secondary market, in order to increase PLC's public float.
These share sales reduced Belle’s consolidated ownership in PLC to 24.9 billion shares or 78.7%, which
level is unchanged as of December 31, 2015. On August 5, 2015, Belle sold its remaining 47.9 million
shares in Pacific Oniine to PLC.

As the owner of 100% of the outstanding shares of PLAI, PLC will directly benefit from PLAI's share in
gaming operations of City of Dreams Manifa. Under the operating agreement between Belle, PLAIl and
MCE, PLAI will be entitled to receive from MCE agreed-upon monthly payments after the opening of
gaming operations in City of Dreams Manila, consisting of the following:
- The higher of (i) cne-half of mass market gaming eamings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (after adjusting for certain agreed deductions and for adding back expenses
related to the lease agreement with Belle) or (i} 15% of net mass market gaming revenues (after
deductions for PAGCOR's non-VIP license fees), whichever is higher; and
» The higher of (i} one-half of VIP gaming eamings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (after adjusting for certain agreed deductions and for adding back expenses related
to the lease agreement with Belle) or (iiy 5% of net mass market gaming revenues (after deductions
for PAGCOR's VIP license fees, VIP commissions and incentives, as well as VIP bad debts
expenses), whichever is higher.

The Board of Directors of PLC has set a policy for PLC to declare as dividends to its shareholders in every
year at ieast 80% of its unrestricted retained eamings as of the previous financial year that are qualified
to be paid as dividends.

Investment Agreement on PLAI, and L ease and Cogperation Agreement with MCE

On April 14, 2011, Belle acquired PLAI through the issuance of 2.7 billion new commmon shares of Belle.
PLAl is a grantee by PAGCOR of a License to operate integrated resorts, including casinos in the vicinity
of Entertainment City. PLAFs License, which was issued by PAGCOR as a Provisional License in 2008,
runs concurrent with PAGCOR’s Congressional Franchise, which expires in 2033 uniess renewed for
another 25 years by the Philippine Congress. On October 16, 2010, the transfer and valuation of Belle
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and PLAI shares was approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"). The Certificate
Authorizing Registration (“CAR") from the Bureau of internal Revenue (“BIR™), which triggered the
completion of the transfer, was approved on October 4, 2011.

The PAGCOR License stipulates certain requirements and guidelines that licensees will have to achieve
by the opening date of their integrated resoris (the “PAGCOR Guidelines”). Among these are:

e Total investment commitment of US$1 billion, with at least US$650 million as of the opening
date of the integrated resort (including up to US$150 million in market value of land used for
the resort) and the balance of US$350 million within three years of such opening date;

At least 800 hotel rooms, with an average floor area of at least 40 square meters;

Total gross floor area of at least 250,000 square meters;

At least 20,000 square meters of gross floor area available for retail and food/beverage
outlets;

e An entertainment feature that costs at least P1 billion to construct;

Total gaming space not to exceed 7.5% of the resoit's total gross floor area;

Maximum number of gaming tables and slot machines/electronic table games to be set using
a formula based on the total number of hotel rooms in the resort and the quality of such
rooms.

in October 2012, Belle and PLAI entered into a Cooperation Agreement with MCE, which places Belle as
a co-licensee and the owner of the land and buildings and MCE as a co-licensee, developer and operator
of all the facilities within the resort complex with March 13, 2013 as its effectivity date. As a result, both
Belle and MCE were expected to make equal investment contributions to the project. MCE is the
developer and owner of integrated resorts focused on the Macau Market, with its landmark project to date
being the highly successful “City of Dreams”. On October 25, 2012, the Belle, as a lessor, entered into a
lease agreement with MCE for the lease of land and building structures to be used in the integrated casino
development project. The lease period started on March 13, 2013 and is co-terminus with the operating
agreement between the Company and MCE, which in tum co-terminus with the License from PAGCOR,
and provides for monthly rentals (with annual escatation) to be paid by MCE to Belle in respect of the land
and buildings. PLAI and MCE also entered into an operating agreement that is similarly co-terminus with
the License from PAGCOR, whereby MCE was given full management discretion on the management
and operation of the integrated resort and PLAl was accorded a share of earnings from gaming operations
in the resort.

On October 9, 2013, MCE announced that the integrated resort will be branded as “City of Dreams
Manila”, the namesake of MCE’s fiagship integrated resort in Macau, City of Dreams. MCE subsequently
announced the branding of three hotels in City of Dreams Manila as Nobu, Hyatt and Crown Towers.
MCE also announced plans for “DreamPlay”, City of Dreams Manila’s fully immersive, technology-rich
family entertainment center developed in collaboration with DreamWorks Animation, which is the first of
its kind in the world.

City of Dreams Manila was substantially completed as of December 2014, with all requirements under the
PAGCOR Guidelines being met by Belle and MCE, including the full US$1 billion investment commitment.
The resort’s soft opening was held on December 14, 2014, on which date most of the resort’s facilties,
including its mass market gaming operations, were officially open fo the public. The Grand Launch of City
of Dreams Manita was held on February 2, 2015. In May 2015, City of Dreams Manila became the first
integrated resort in Entertainment City to have its License converted from Provisional to Regular status
by PAGCOR.
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BELLE CORPORATION
CORPORATE STRUCTURE AND MAJOR LINES OF
BUSINESS/SUBSIDIARIES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

BELLE

* REALESTATE ASSEYS {directly owned by Bele} GAMING ‘OTHER MAJOR INVESTIENTS

City of Dreams Manila
« Land and Buildings . AP Growp, e
*  lease agreement with MCE .
- bﬁ;ia . 37 bitfion shares
_Land held for development and finished real : PRIMNIUM shares {48.8%}
estate products i LEISURE (ORP (18.7%)
Proprietary club shares :
e s | Frcniuntosuat . |
Int't Galt Chib . 100% i
e . { ' . 92.7
e o \mj PRIME mibion shares
- o {less than 1.0}
The Country Club ar
Tagaysay Highlands 1845

FPACEICONLINE  mion
AP PAGEICONLINE — milion
(50.1%]

Tagaytay Midiands
Golf Chsky

Bankruptcy, Receivership or Similar Proceedings
None for any of the companies above.

Material Reclassification, Merger, Consolidation or Purchase or Sale of a Significant Amount of
Assets (Not Ordinary)

Acquisition of Additional interest in Pacific Online
The Company's total ownership in Pacific Online increased to 50.1% during 2014, from 35% as at

December 31, 2013, after a series of share purchases in the secondary market at the Philippine Stock
Exchange (PSE) at R15.00 per share or a total of P667 .9 million. As a result, the Company consolidated
Pacific Online effective June 5, 2014. This transaction is a business combination achieved in stages and
accounted for using the acquisition method. The primary reason for acquiring the additional interest in
Pacific Online was to expand the Company's share in the gaming business.

Additional Subscription in PLC

On June 20, 2014, Belle and PLC entered into a subscription agreement for 24.7 billion common shares
of PLC at a subscription price of R0.369 per share or a total of R9,114.3 million, thereby increasing Belle’s
interest in PLC to 89.8%.
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Comorate Reorganization _ _
On July 22, 2014, A Deed of Sale of Shates was executed covering the sale by Belie to Premium Leisure

Corp. (“PLC") of alt its equity interest in PremiumL eisure and Amusement, Inc. (‘PLAI"), consisting of Fifty
Thousand (50,000) Common Shares, at a price of Ten Billion Eight Hundred Forty-Seven Million Eight
Hundred Twenty Thousand Pesos (10,847 .820,000.00).

On the same day, the Corporation sold most of its shares in Pacific Online Systems Corporation ("Pacific
Online”) to PLC. Belle Corporation sold the equivatent of approximately Thirty-Four and a Half Percent
(34.5%) of the outstanding capital stock of Pacific Online, or a total of 101,668,953 Common Shares, at
a previously agreed price of Fifteen Pesos (®15.00) per share, or an aggregate of One Billion Five
Hundred Twenty-Five Miltion Thirty-Four Thousand Two Hundred Ninety-Five Pesos (P1,525,034,295.00)
which wili be paid for in cash. On August 5, 2015, Belle sokd its remaining 47.9 mitlion shares of Pacific
Online to PLC. The transfers of Pacific Online shares from Belie to PLC were executed through the
facilities of the Exchange through special block sales.

During September and October 2014, Belle, its subsidiaries and affiliates sold a total of approximately 3.5
billion PLC shares in the secondary market in order to increase PLC's public float. These share sales
reduced Belle’s consolidated ownership in PLC to 24.9 billion shares or approximately 78.7%, which is
unchanged as of December 31, 2015. This transaction is considered as a sale of interest in PLC without
losing control; thus, all of the related gains and transaction costs were accounted for directly in equity.

Acquisition of Falcon Resources Inc.
On June 16, 2014, Total Gaming Technologies Inc. (“TGTI), a subsidiary of Pacific Online, and the

shareholders of Falcon Resources Inc. (“FRI") entered into a Memorandum of Understanding for the
intention of TGTI to acquire the latter's interest in FRI, thereby attaining 100% ownership on December
11, 2014. FRIis a Philippine corporation engaged in gaming consultancy services and is a sub-distributor
for Pacific Online.

Products

Belle is principally engaged in real estate development, gaming (through subsidiaries) and other leisure
and resort activities. Since 2010, Belle has allocated significant resources to the development of its mixed-
use gaming facility, the City of Dreams Manila integrated resont, which opened its door to the public on
December 14, 2014.

Belle's investments in companies engaged in gaming and gaming-related activities are indicated below.
In the Philippines, the gaming industry is relatively untapped by the private sector, creating opportunities
for experienced leisure operators. Belle’s gaming businesses are undertaken, or will be undertaken,
mainly by the following subsidiaries/affiliates:

1. Premium Lt_aisure Corp. (“PLC”), a 78.7%-owned publicly listed subsidiary of Belle with a pimary
purpose of investing gaming-related businesses. PLC owns 100% of PLAI and approximately 34%
of POSC,

2. PremiumLeisure & Amusement Inc. (“PLAI") is a grantee by PAGCOR of Certificate of Affiliations and
Provisional License to operate integrated resorts, including casinos, in the vicinity of PAGCOR
Entertainment City. The License runs concurrent with PAGCOR'’s Congressional Franchise, which
expires in 2033, unless renewed for another 25 years by the Philippine Congress. PLAI is a wholly-
owned unlisted subsidiary of Belle’s PLC subsidiary.

3. Pap_iﬁc Online Systems Corporation (‘Pacific Online”), leases on-line betting equipment to the
Pl.ullppine Ch_arity Sweepstakes Office (“PCSQ”) for their lottery operations in the Visayas and
Mindanao regions. Belle and its subsidiaries own a total of 50.1% of POSC, which is a publicly listed
company.
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Revenues

The following are the major revenue items in 2015 and 2014:

2016 2014
Amount in % of Total Amount in % of Total

Thousands Revenue Thousands Revenue
Revenuee and Other Income
Irterest income on finance lease 1,917,364 36% 1,408,173 26%
Equipment rental and instant scratch ticket sales 1,637,648 29% 849,721 18%
Sale of real estate and club shares 347,776 7% 300,262 6%
Lease income 190,906 4% 188,767 3%
Equity in net earnings of associates 27,340 1% 117,190 2%
Revenue from property management 112,682 2% 116,366 2%
Gaming revenue share 756,238 14% 38,809 1%
Irterest and investment income 34,470 1% 29,979 1%
Fair value change due to cancellation of Swap Agreement - 0% 1,219,133 23%
Gain on significant acqusitions - net - 0% 879,348 16%
Cther revenues 322,878 6% 161,724 3%
Total 6,257,292 100% 5,400,442 100%

Distribution Methods of Products

Belle's high-end real estate products are sold principally to the A and B property market segments. The
Company has its own in-house staff responsible for marketing and sales of the Company’s products, as
well as after-sales service. The Company also accredits and taps the services of external brokers to

complement its in-house marketing and sales teams.

Status of Projects

Real Estate:

in 2015, revenues from real estate development operations came mainly from sales of Lakeside Fairways
lots (mainly Sycamore, Katsura, Yume, Tivoli, Kew Gardens and Cotswold), sales of Saratoga Hills
properties (mainly Fairfield, Nobhill and The Verandas at Saratoga Hilis), sales of Plantation Hills lots and

sales of Tagaytay Midlands club shares.

The Belle View:
This project was completed and fully sold in 1998,

The Woodlands:

Belle started the delivery of units to homeowners in 1998. The project was completed in 1999.

Alta Mira:
The project was completed in 2000.

Fairfield:

As of December 31, 2013, Fairfield was 100% complete. The project was launched in October 2009.

Nob Hill:

As of December 31, 2015, Nob Hill was 100% complete. The project was iaunched in April 2010.

Lakeview Heights:
The project was completed in 2002.
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Lakeside Fairways:

As of December 31, 2014, the first four phases (Kew Gardens, Terrazas de Alava, Lakes:ide Enclave and
Tivoli Place) of the project were approximately 99% completed, while the fifth and sixth and phases
(Cotswold and Katsura) were 99% complete, respectively. In April 2010, Belle launched Yume, a new
Japanese-themed subdivision in the Lakeview Heights development area, which was 98% compllete as
of December 31, 2014. In April 2011, Belle launched its newest subdivision within Lakeside Fairways,
Sycamore Heights, with more than 23 hectares in gross land area, comprising 352 residential lots
averaging 360 sgm per lot. As of December 31, 2014, Sycamore Heights was 62% complete.

Plantation Hilis:

Only a few remaining lots in The Sanctuary, The Ridge, The Meadows, The Heights {Phases 1,2, 3 and
5 of Plantation Hills, respectively) were unsold, and construction of these phases was fully completed, as
of December 31, 2007. Plantation Hills is a farm lots subdivision.

The Parks at Saratoga Hills: _
The Parks at Saratoga Hills (“The Parks"), located in Tanauan, Batangas, was launched in 2005. As of
December 31, 2007, land development for The Parks was fully completed.

The Verandas at Saratoga Hills:
The Verandas at Saratoga Hills (“The Verandas™), locaied in Tanauan, Batangas beside The Parks, was
launched in 20086. 1t was fully completed as of December 31, 2007.

Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc.:
The golf clubhouse and an 18-hole golf course were completed and fully operational in 1998. An additional
9-hole golf course is expected to be fully operational by June 2015.

The Spa and Lodge at Tagaytay Highlands:
The Spa and Lodge was complsted in 2001. The Spa and Lodge structure is a hotel-like facility that boasts
25 five-star suites and spa facilities.

The Country Club at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc.: The project was completed in 1998.
Gaming:

Cn April 14, 2011, the Company acquired PLAI, which holds a License from PAGCOR, through the
issuance of 2.7 billion new common shares valued at P1.95 per share in exchange for 100% of the
outstanding capital stock of PLAI. This marked the Company’s strategic entry into the Integrated Resort
industry. in October 2012, the Company entered into a Cooperafion Agreement with MCE, which placed
Belle as a co-licensee and owner of the land and huildings and MCE as co-icensee, developer and
operator of the integrated resort, which was subsequently branded as “City of Dreams Manila”. City of
Dreams Manila is sited on 6.2 hectares of prime land at the corner of Roxas Boulevard and Aseana
Avenue in Parafiaque City, at the entrance of PAGCOR’s Entertainment City complex. The construction
of the integrated resort was substantially complete as of its Grand Launch on February 2, 2015, with
approximately 300 hectares of gross floor area containing approximately 2.2 hectares of gaming areas,
more than 2 hectares of retail and restaurant facilities, with more than 900 hotel rooms of 4-star, 5-star
and 6-star quality and other entertainment facilities. City of Dreams Manila is only about 1 kilometer away
from the Mall of Asia complex.

MCE, whose major shareholders are Melco international Development Limited and Crown Limited, is a
developer and owner of integrated resort facilities focused on the Macau market. Its operating complex in
Macau’s Cotai Strip, known as the “City of Dreams”, is a highly successful project that houses a gaming
facility, a Crown Hotel, a Grand Hyatt Hotel, a Hard Rock Hotel and an upscale retail operation, along
with a mix of bars and restaurants that are drawing crowds mainly from Hong Kong and China. The “City
of Dreams” is also known for its spectacular show called “The House of Dancing Water”, which has
become one of Macau’s major tourist attractions. During 2015, MCE launched its second integrated resort
in Macau, called “Studio City”".
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Pacific Onfine, incorporated in 1993, leases online betting equipment to the PCSO for their lottery
operations. It has been consistently profttable since 2002, and listed its shares on the Philippine Stock
Exchange on April 12, 2007 .

Competition

Property development has been Belle’s historical core business area. Belle believes that, at present,
there is no other company in the Philippines that has successfully launched large-scale, self-contained
and community-type leisure properties akin to its developments around Tagaytay Highlands and Tagaytay
Midlands. In general, Belie competes somewhat with developers such as Ayala Land, Landco, Fil-Estate
and Brittany Corporation, with respect to its residential and subdivision projects. Some of these
developers, like Ayala Land, are bigger in size than Belle. Nevertheless, Belle is able to effectively
compete with the above companies primarily on the basis of product quality, reliability to deliver the
projects as promised, project location, and high-end property development expertise. Furthermore, Belle
has a market base of more than 7,000 wealthy individuals who are existing members of Tagaytay
Highlands, Tagaytay Highlands Country Club and Tagaytay Midiands, which provides a marketing
advantage over developers of similar properties.

In gaming, City of Dreams Manila will be competing against casinos operated by PAGCOR and the other
two licensees that are already operating — Resorts World Manila of Travelers International Hotel Group,
Inc. (“Travelers™ and Solaire Resort and Casino of Bloomberry Resorts Corporation. Travelers has also
broken ground on its planned Resorts World Bayshore projectin PAGCOR City, with the opening thereof
reportedly estimated by Travelers in late 2019. The integrated resort of the fourth licensee, Universal
Entertainment Inc. (“Universal”), has been delayed from the original planned opening date in 2015, and
Universal currently estimates to open its resort in 2017,

Suppliers

The Company has a broad base of local and foreign suppliers.

Customers

Belle’s market base includes wealthy local and foreign individual and institutional clients. The Company
has historically sold its real estate projects (residenfial units) to its golf or country club members.

Transactions with and/or Dependence on Related Parties

Please refer to the portion on “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions”.
Licenses

Please refer to the portion on "Government Regulations”.

Govemment Approvals/Regulations

As part of its normal course of real estate operation, the Company secures govemment approvals such

as the Environment Compliance Certificate, Development Permits, DAR Clearances, and Licenses to Sell,
efc.

The Company is also subject to the regulations of PAGCOR for its Gaming License and Philippine
Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) as the developer of the City of Dreams Manila.

Effect of Existing or Probable Government Regulations on the Business

Belle has complied with all the government requirements necessary for its operations.
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Future govemment regulations are perceived to have no material impact to the normal operations of the
Company.

Amount Spent on Research and Development Activities and Compliance with Environmental Laws

Consultancy fees, engineering and architectural design, surveying, ECC, permits and licenses, etc. are
being added to the cost of the project. Generally, these costs represent about 4% of gross revenues.

Number of Employees

As of 31 December 2015, Belle has one hundred forty-one (141) employees, all of whom are full-time
employees. Belle employees are not subject to Collective Bargaining Agreements. Belle's management
had generally not encountered any significant difficulties with its labor force, and no major strikes had
been staged in the past.

The following are the breakdown of Belle employees according to type:

Officers 16
Senior Managers to Managers 20
Supervisors and Rank and File 105
Total 141

Aside from the basic salary and 13th month pay, other supplemental benefits or incentives that are being
provided by Belle to its employees include: health card, life and accident insurance, retirement plan, and
salary loan facilities, among others.

Risks

Some of the risks that the Company and its related subsidiaries and affiliates may be exposed to are the
following:

Economic and Political Conditions

The Company's business is mainly the development and sale of high-end leisure properties in the
Philippines which is generally influenced by the Philippine political and macroeconhomic climate. Events
and conditions that may negatively impact the Philippine economy as a whole may also adversely affect
the Company’s ability to sell its real estate projects.

Competition

The degree of competition in the property industry varies considerably by sector and geography. In
general,_ Belle may compete with other developers for purchases of land, as well as clientele for its
residential and club projects. However, the Company believes that other major property companies do
not generally pursue leisure property development as a core business area.

Changes in Local and Intemational Interest Rates

Belle’s locat and foreign-denominated borrowings may be adversely affected by drastic increases in
interest rates.

Changes in the Value of the Peso

Depr!aciation of the Peso will negatively affect Belle’s cost of goods and capital expenditures that Belle
may import as part of its ordinary course of business.

Contractors and Suppliers
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As in the case with most property development companies, there is a risk that contractual arrangements
with contractors may not meet the Company’s performance standards. To serve as safeguards to these
eventualities, performance bonds are therefore nomally required for these contractors.

Government Regulations

Belle’s property development business is subject to certain laws and reguiations of various branches of
the govemment, such as the local governments, the Department of Environment and Natural Resources
(“DENR”) and the Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board (‘HLURB"). Belle has complied with the
licensing and regulatory requirements necessary for its operations.

Belle's gaming businesses are also subject to certain laws and regulations. Belle’s involvement in the
lottery run by the PCSQ is via its ownership in Pacific Online, which holds an equipment lease agreement
with the PCSO for the operation of on-line lottery system in the Visayas-Mindanao regions. Belle’s
subsidiary PLC owns PLAI, which holds a License granted to it by PAGCOR to operate integrated resorts,
including casinos, within Entertainment City.

Changes to the Philippine Laws and Regulations
Although faws and regulations are enacted for the common benefit, changes to these laws and regulations
may create negative effects to the operating and financiail condition of Belle, including its subsidiaries and

affiliates.

In order to mitigate the risks mentioned above, the Company will continue to exercise fiscal prudence and
adopt what it considers conservative financial and operational controls.

Working Capital
Belle finances its working capital requirements through a combination of internally-generated funds, pre-
selling, borrowing, and discounting of receivables.

DISAGREEMENT WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

No principal accountant or independent accountants of the registrant has resigned, was dismissed, orhas
ceased to perform services during the two (2) most recent fiscal years or any subsequent inteim period.

Therc:a have been no disagreements with any accountant on any matter of accounting principles or
practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope of procedure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATING PERFORMANCE
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

December 31, 2015 versus December 31, 2014 Results of Operations (in thousands)

o Years Ended December 31 Horizontal Analysis | Vertical Analysis |
| 2015 | 2014 Increase {Decrease) 2015 | 2014
REVENUE
Interest income on finance lease accounting P 1,917,354 P 1,409,173 508,181 36.1%  36.9% 44.5%
Equipment rental and instant scrateh ticket sales 1,537,648 944,721 587,927 £1.9% 29.6% 30.0%
Gaming revenue share 756,238 38,809 717,429 1848.6%  14.6% 1.2%
Sales of real estate and club shares 342,775 300,252 47,523 15.8% 6.7% 9,5%
Lease income 190,906 188,757 2,149 1.1% 3.7% 6.0%
Revenue from property management 112,682 115,356 {2,674} -2.3% 2.2% 3.6%
Others 332,879 161,724 171,155 105.8% 6.4% 5.1%
TOTAL REVENUES 5,195,482 3,163,792 2,031,690 64.2% 100.0% 100.0%
COST OF LOTTERY SERVICES {595,142) (306,021) 289,121 94,5% -11.5% -9.7%
COST OF REAL ESTATE AND CLUB SHARES SOLD {157,942) {125,856) 32,086 25.5% -3.0% -4.06%
COST OF LEASE INCOME (152,584) {11,368) 141,216 1242.2% -2.9% -0.4%
COST OF SERVICES OF PROPERTY MANAGEMENT {80,208) (88,052} {7,844} -8.9% -1.5% -2.8%
COST OF GAMING OFERATIONS (382,023) (18,709) 363,314 1941.5% -7.4% -0.6%
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES {950,414) {731,508) 218,906 29.9% -18.3% -23.1%
ACCRETION OF NONTRADE LIABIUTY {651,684) {533,348) 118,336 22.2% -12.5% -16.9%
INTEREST EXPENSE {273,977) {98,723} 175,254 177.5% -5.3% -3.1%
NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN [LOSS) 36,135 {7,619} {43,754) -574.3% 0.7% -0.2%
INTEREST INCOME 34,470 29,979 4,491 15.0% 0.7% 0.9%
EQUITY IN NET EARNINGS OF ASSOCIATES 27,340 117,150 (89,2850) -76.7% 0.5% 37%
FAIR VALUE CHANGE DUE TO CANCELLATION OF SWAP AGREEMENT - 1,219,133 {1,219,133) -100.0% 0.0% 38.5%
GAIN ON SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS - 879,348 (879,348) -100.0% 0.0% 27.8%
GAIN [LOSS) ON FINANCE LEASE - (812,842) 812,842 -100.0% 0.0% -15.7%
__OTH ER INCOME ) 44,391 14,747 {29,644) 201.0% 0.9% 0.5%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX ~ ) _2,093,8M 2,690,143 {596,299} -22.2% 40.3% 85.0%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current 306,29 179,943 126,353 70.2% 59% 5.7%
Deferred 363,038 (46,474) 408,512 -881.2% 7.0% -1.5%
669,334 133,469 535,865 401.5% 12.9% 4.2%
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME P 1,424,510 P 2556674  (1,132,164) -44.3%  27.4% 80.8%

Belie Corporation realized total revenues of R5,195.5 million and recurring netincome of #1,334.2 million
in 2015. Due to its strong operating and financial performance, the Company paid a total of
®2,903.8 million in cash dividends to its shareholders during 2015, comprised of a special dividend of
®1,900.7 million and a regular dividend of 1,003.1 million. Belle's operating revenues of ®5,195.5 million
for 2015 were higher by ®2,031.7 million (64%) over its operating revenues of ®3,163.8 million for 2014.
Its recurring net income of R1,334.2 million was B297.8 million (29%) higher than its 2014 recurring net
income of ®1,036.4 million. Its totai consolidated net income of 1,424 .5 in 2015 was lower by ®1,132.2
million (44%) compared to total consolidated net income of B2,556.7 million in 2014 due to extraordinary
non-recurring income in 2014, principally a R1,219.1 million reversal of provisions for probable losses by
its Premium Leisure Corporation (“PLC") subsidiary. The Company considers its growth in recurring net
income and its dividend payout during 2015 as the more relevant indicators for its future operating trends
and prospects. The Company’s operating growth in 2015 was attributable to higher revenue fromits lease
of the City of Dreams Manila property to Philippine entities controlled by Melco Crown Entertainment
Limited (collectively, “MCE™) and increased income confributed by its listed subsidiaries - PLC and Pacific
Online Systems Corporation (“Pacific Oniline”). PLC has an operating agreement with MCE that accords
it a share of gaming revenue or earnings at City of Dreams Manila.
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Revenues

Total operating revenues of B5,185.5 million in 2015 were higher by #2,031.7 million (64%), compared to
R3,163.8 million in 2014, mainly due to the following: increased revenues from Pacific Online by
R587.9 million (62%) on account of the full year consolidation of Pacific Online in 2015 against
approximately 7 months in 2014, with revenues comprised of equipment lease rentals and commission
and distribution income; higher interest income on finance lease accounting in 2015, by RS08.2 million
(36%): and an increase in the gaming income share of PLC from City of Dreams Manila, from R38.8
mitlion in 2014 to B756.2 million in 2015.

Cost of Lottery Services
Cost of lottery services pertains to direct costs of Pacific Online amounting to R585.1 million for the year

ended December 31, 2015. Cost of lottery services increased by R289.1 million (95%), due mainly to full
year consolidation of Pacific Onfine in 2015.

Cost of Real Estate and Club Shares Sold

Costs of real estate and clubs shares sold increased by R32.1 million (26%) to 1 57 .9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015, from R125.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, due mainly to
higher unit sales of real estate and club shares during the 2015 period.

Cost of Lease income

Cost of lease income pertains to property taxes, property insurance and other related costs directly
atiributable to the lease of the City of Dreams Manila property to MCE. This increased from ®11 .4 million
ih 2014 to R152.6 miltion in 2015 due to the substantial completion and opening of City of Dreams Manila
in December 2014, which thereby increased the real property taxes, building insurance and lease
expenses for 2015.

Cost of Services of Property Management
Cost of services of property management decreased by R7.8 million (9%) to B80.2 million for the year

ended December 31, 2015, from ®88.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, due to lower power
and water usage by customers in 2015.

Cost of Gaming Operations
Cost of gaming operations refers to the service fee paid to consultants by PLC, in respect of its gaming

operations, amortization of gaming license and other direct fees. The increase from P18.7 million in 2014
to R382.0 million (1,842%) in 2015 was due to the substantial completion and opening of City of Dreams
Manila in December 2014, which thereby increased the amortization of PLA!'s gaming License (amounting
to P279.2 million), consultancy fees, marketing expenses and salaries and wages.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by P218.9 million (30%), from R731.5 million for 2014, to
R950.4 million in 2015. The increase in general and administrative expenses was due to consolidation in
2015 of ®609.0 million in general and administrative expenses at Pacific Online.

Equity in Net Earnjings of Associates

The Company’s equity in net earnings of associates decreased by R89.9 million (77%) to #27.3 million
for 2015, compared to R117.2 million for 2014, due to the consolidation of Pacific Online starting June 5,
2014. The Company's investment in Pacific Online was previously accounted for using the equity method
before June 5, 2014.

Financial iIncome {Expense)

Interest expense increased by ®175.3 million to ®274.0 million for 2015, from R98.7 million for 2014. The
increase in interest expense in 2015 was due to the Company's ceasing to capitalize costs of borrowings
directly used to fund construction of City of Dreams Manila, which was substantially completed as of the
end of 2014 Interest income increased by P4 5 million (15%), fo P34.5 million for 2015, from R30.0 million
for 2014, due to increases in average invested cash levels during 2015.
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Net Foreign Exchange Loss
The net foreign exchange translation gain of P44.4 million for 2015 was recorded on a US$15.0 million

US$-denominated portion of an advances to contractors totalling P1.1 billion or US$25.0 million equivalent
(the “Escrow Deposit’) being maintained by the Company in respect of City of Dreams Manila (based on
a foreign exchange rate of R47.06:US$1.00 as of December 31, 2015 vs. the average exchange rate of
approximately R44 61:US$1.00 for the relevant conversion transactions in various dates). The Company's
net foreign exchange translation loss of ®7.6 million in 2014 was caused by a loss of R10.6 million on the
Company's US$22.0 million Floating Rate Notes (“FRNs”), which were fully repaid in May 2014, offset by
®3.0 million in foreign exchange gains on US$-denominated deposits. The foreign exchange translation
loss on the FRNs was based on an exchange rate of R44.88:US$1.00 when the FRNs were repaid vs. B
44 40:US$1.00 as of December 31, 2013.

Provision for Income Tax

Provision for income tax increased by B535.9 million (402%), to R669.3 miliion for 2015 from R133.5
million for 2014, due to higher taxable income in 2015, as well as the tax deduction in 2014 for the realized
foreign exchange loss upon repayment of the FRNs in May 2014.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing, the Company realized total consolidated net income of B1 424.5 million for
2015. This is ®1,132.2 million (44%) lower than consolidated netincome of B2,556.7 million for 2014, due
to higher extraordinary non-recurring income in 2014. Non-tecurring income in 2014 amounted to
approximately R1,520.2 million (net of related tax provisions) and were comprised of: a ®31.4 million (pre-
tax) gain on redemption of SMIC retail bonds in April 2014; a #1,219.1 million reversal of investiment loss
reserves by PLC (before R243.9 million deferred tax benefit); a ®812.8 million Loss on Finance Lease; a
R879.3 million gain on re-measurement of investment, net of non-recurring business acquisition costs at
Pacific Online. Net non-recurring income in 2015 of R90.3 million pertains to the gain on sale of 16.4
million shares of SM Prime Holdings, Inc.

Excluding non-recurring items, Belle’s recurring net income for 2015 was R1,334.2 million, which was

R297.7 million (20%) higher compared to recurring net income for 2014 of about R1,036.5 million. The

Company’s consistent profitability helped allow it to pay cash dividends to its sharehoiders totaling

R2,903.8 million (R0.275 per share) during 2015, comprised of a special dividend of R1,900.7 million

§P0.18 per share) in March 2015 and a regular dividend of B1,003.1 million (R0.095 per share) in August
015.

35



December 31, 2015 versus December 31, 2014 Statement of Financial Position {in thousands)

December 31 Horizontal Analvis Vertical Analysis
25 2014 nc {Dec) % 5 | 2014
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents | 4 3,570,088 P 6,326,509 {2,756,444) -43.6% 8.2% 15.3%
Investments heid for Irading 226,747 262 815 (36,088) -13.7% 0.5% 0.6%
Receivables 1,584,807 1,474,911 124 696 B8.5% 3.7% 6%
Current portion of finance lease receivable 1,419,651 722,745 696,906 G6.4% 3.2% 1.7%
Real estaie for sale 843,074 935,536 {92,456) -9.9% 1.48% 23%
Ciub shares 2,898,583 2,700,551 295,042 10.9% 6.9% 5.5%
Otner current assets 2,323,818 ,193 830 129,789 5.9% 5.3% §5.3%
12,978,358 14,616,801 (1,638,535) -11.2% 20.7% 353%
Noncisrent Assets
Land held for development 3,018,51% 3018,515 - 0.0% B.9% 73%
Finance lease receivabie - net of current porion 15,725,803 3,866,747 6,858,856 T7.4% 38.0% 214%
Investments in and acvances to assoclates - net 65,354 93,908 {28,545) -30.4% 0.1% 0.2%
Available-for-gale inancia assets 2,041,302 1,887,379 153,924 8.2% 4.7% 4.6%
Investment properties 1,540,961 4432277 {2,891,316) £52% 36%  10T%
Property and equipment 770,716 576,817 193,899 23.6% 1.8% 1.4%
Intangible asset 4,970,341 5,249,552 278,211) -5.3% 11.4% 12.7%
Goodwill 1,028,578 1,828,578 - 0.0% 4.2% 44%
Pension asset - 1,103 {1103)  -100.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Deferred tax asset 42,281 41,234 1,027 100.0% % 0.1%
Qther nancurrent assels 710,167 778,084 {67 917} -8.7% 1.8% 1.9%
30,713,808 26,774,195 3938614 14.7% T0.3% 64.7%
TOTAL ASSETS P 43692185 P 41,391,086 _2‘301,079 ?_ﬁ% 100.0% 100.0%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilitles
Trade and ather current Kabilities P 2435816 P 2 830,340 (494,265} -16.9% 5.8% T1%
Loans payable 1,000,017 3,000,017 (2,000,000 -68 7% 2.3% 72%
Assignment of receivables with recourse - 28,028 {28,026) -100.0% 0.0% 01%
Income tax payable 49,800 56,546 {6,946) -123% 0% 0.1%
Estimated liability on construction costs 2,556,836 1,035028 1,521,808 147.0% 5.9% 25%
Curtent portion of: 0.0%
Nontrade {iability 455886 274,562 181,324 B6.0% 1.0% 0.7%
Obdigations under finance lease 25,028 16,256 8,672 53.0% 0.1% 0.0%
Long-term debt 362,500 42,500 256,000 2800.0% 0.8% 0.0%
Instaliment payable 173 928 (786) -81.4% 0.0% 0.0%
6,886,016 7,364,303 (468,288) £54%  158%  17.8%
Noncurrent Liabilities
Nencurmrent portion of:
Nontrade liability 4,839,172 3,956,694 872,478 22.0% 111% 96%
Long-term debt 4,821,875 1,737,500 2884375 166.0% 10.8% 42%
Obligations under finance lease 93,627 76,494 17,033 22.3% 02% 02%
Instaliment payable - 198 {198) -100.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Pension llability 12,346 18,787 (6,441) -34.3% 0.0% 00%
Deferred tax liabdites 1,186,104 806,229 359,875 44.6% 2.7% 1.9%
10,733,024 6,605,902 4127122 62.5% 24.8% 16.0%
TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,815,038 13,860,205 3 658,834 26.2% 40.3% 33.7%
Equity
Attributable to equity holders of parent.
Goramon stock. 10,581,000 10,559,383 1.617 0.0% 24.2% 255%
Additional paid-in capital 5,503,731 550375 - 0.0% 128% 13.3%
Treasury shares {134,442) - 134 442 100.0% 0.3% 0.0%
Equity shate in cost of Parent Company shares heid by associates {2,501) (2,501) - 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Caost of Parent Company common and prefemed shares held by subsidianes £1,746,628) 11,604,824) 144,804 9.0% -4.0% -3.9%
Unrealized gain on avaiable-for-sale financial agsets - net 520,618 &7,046 433,572 498 1% 1.2% 0.2%
Retained Eamings 4,903,882 6,530,078 {1,626,196) -24 5% 11.2% 15.8%
Other reserves 3,085,896 3,272,665 {186,769 -5.7% T1% 79%
Excess of net agset value of an investment over cost 252,040 252,040 - 0.0% 0.6% 0.6%
Total equity altributable to equity holdars of the Parent 22,040,508 24,597 618 (1,657,022} 7%  525%  594%
Nen-controlling interests 3,132,630 2,833,263 299 267 10.68% T2% 6.3%
Total Equity 28,073,128 27 430,881 (1,357.755) -4.8% 89.7% 66.3%
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P 43892185 P 41,391 086 2.301,079 5.6% 100.0% 100.0%
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ASSETS
Total assets of the Company increased by R2,301.1 miliion (6%) to P43,6922 million as of
Decemnber 31, 2015, from R41,391.1 million as of December 31, 2014.

Cash and Cash equivalents N
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by F2,756.4 million (44%), to R3,570.1 million as of

December 31, 2015, from R6,326.5 million in December 31, 2014, due mainly to Belle's payment of
cash dividends totalling #2,903.8 million during 2015 and payments in respect of construction
contracts for the City of Dreams Manila. These were offset by: (i) rental receipts from MCE of
®1,346.1 million; (i)} proceeds from sale of real estate and club shares and revenue from property
management services totaling B735.0 million; and (jii) proceeds from the sale of about 16 million
shares of SM Prime Holdings., Inc., totaling ®308.5 million.

Investments in and Advances to Associates — Net

investments and advances to associates decreased by ®28.5 (30%) million, to R85 4 million as of
December 31, 2015 from R93.9 million as of December 31, 2014, due to payments received from
Woodland Development Corporation during 2015.

Investments Held for Trading
This pertains to marketable securities held by Pacific Online in companies that are not subsidiaries of

Belte, comprised of listed shares of stock in DFNN, Inc., 1ISM Communications Corp., Leisure and
Resorts World Corporation, Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company, Inc. and Vantage
Equities, Inc.

Finance Lease Receivable

Due to the requirements under Philippine Accounting Standards #17 (PAS 17, Leases), management
accounts for its lease agreement with MCE for the City of Dreams Manila buildings as a finance lease,
even though there is neither a requirement nor any intention to transfer title therefor to MCE. The
Company thus recorded a finance lease receivable in March 2013 equivalent to the estimated fair
value of the leased property, amounting to R9,375.0 million for the Phase 1 building structure of City
of Dreams Manila. In January 2015, the Company recorded a finance lease receivable, amounting
to #8,260.0 million for the estimated fair value of the Phase 2 building structure of City of Dreams
Manila. Fair valuation was determined by discounting minimum lease payments at the inception date
of the lease agreement.

Receivables

Receivables increased by R124 .7 million (9%), to ®1,599.6 million as of December 31, 2015, from
®1,474.9 million as of December 31, 2014. The increase in receivables was due mainly from the
increased real estate sales, lease income, equipment rentals and net gaming revenue share.

Real Estate for Sale and Club Shares

Real estate for sale decreased by R92.5 million (10%), to ®843.1 million as of December 31, 2015,
from R935.5 million as of December 31, 2014 due to sales during the year. Club shares held by the
Company, valued at historical cost, increased by R295.0 million (11%), to R2,995.6 million as of
December 31, 2015 from ®2,700.6 million as of December 31, 2014, due to the completion of the
19th through 27th holes of the Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club golf course.

Available-for-sale Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets increased by R153.9 million (8%) to B2,041.3 million as of
December 31, 2015 from B1,887 4 million as of December 31, 2014, due to increases in the fair value
of such investments, net of the value of 16.5 million SM Prime Holdings, Inc. shares sold during 2015.
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investment Properties N
Investment properties decreased by R2,891.3 million (65%), from ®4,432.3 milion as of

December 31, 2014 to R1,541.0 million as of December 31, 2015, due to the finance lease accounting
treatment of the Phase 2 building of City of Dreams Manila.

Intangible Asset _
This pertains to the cost of the PAGCOR License to operate integrated resorts that was granted by

PAGCOR to PremiumLeisure and Amusement, inc. (PLAI), a wholly-owned subsidiary of PLC. Belie
and MCE are Co-Licensees under PLAI's PAGCOR License. The decrease from last year's balance
by R279.2 million (5%), from R5,249.6 million as of December 31, 2014 to R4,970.3 million as of
December 31, 2015, resulted from the amortization by PLC of the intangible asset on the License
starting on December 14, 2014, which is the date of effectivity of the Notice to Commence Casino
Operations granted by PAGCOR.

Goodwill

The Company recognized goodwill amounting to P1,828.6 million, as a resuit of consolidating Pacific
Online starting in June 2014, and the acquisition of Falcon Resources Inc. by Total Gaming
Technologies Inc., a subsidiary of Pacific Online, on December 11, 2014.

Other Assets
Other assets was virtually unchanged, increasing by less than (2%), to ®3,033.8 million as of
December 31, 2015 from B2,971.9 million as of December 31, 2014.

LIABILITIES

Total liabilities increased by ®3,658.8 million (26%), to B17,619.0 million as of December 31, 2015,
from R13,960.2 million as of December 31, 2014, due to the increase in long-term debt and esfimated
liability on construction costs, mainly regarding City of Dreams Manila.

Loans Payable and Long-Term Debt
Total debt, amounting to R5,984 4 million as of December 31, 2015, pertains to Peso loans from

various local financial institutions, with an average interest rate of 5.7% per annum during 2015.

Estimated Liability for Constniction
The Company recorded estimated liability on construction costs amounting to R2,556.8 million for the

City of Dreams Manila buildings, as a result of accounting for its lease agreement with MCE as a
finance lease (as required under PAS 17). The City of Dreams Manila buildings have a total gross
floor area of approximately 31 hectares.

Obligations under Finance Lease
This pertains to Pacific Online’s lottery equipment under finance lease accounting.

Nontrade Liabili

On May 20, 2013, Belle, PLAI, Belle Grande Resource Holdings Com. (BGRHC), AB Leisure Global,
Inc. (ABLG!) and Leisure and Resorts World Corp. (LRWC} entered into a Memorandum of
Agreement (the “MOA”"), whereby Belle and PLAI have agreed to grant ABLGI the right to the
settlement of amounts equivalent to 30% of the net lease income of the City of Dreams Manila located
at Aseana Business Park in Paranaque City (the “Project”) in consideration, among other terms, of
the waiver of ABLGI's rights as casino operator, the termination ABLGI agreements and the grant of
advances of B4,000.0 million (ABLGI Advance) as partial funding for the construction of the casino
integrated resort building. Belle formed BGRHC as a subsidiary in 2013 for the purpose of this MOA.
The carrying value of the nontrade liability amounted to #4,000.0 million as at December 31, 2013.

In December 2014, the implementing agreement in the MOA was executed, with the effectivity of
terms and conditions retrospective on January 1, 2014. The ABLGI Advance was determined as the
fair value of ABLGI's 30% share in the net lease income of the Project. In 2015, additional advances
received from ABLGI amounted to B780.0 million. The nontrade liability is carried at amottized cost.
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Trade and Other Current Liabilities

Trade and other current liabilities decreased by R494.4 million (17%) to #2,436.0 million as of
December 31, 2015, from #2,930.3 million as of December 31, 2014, due mainly to the decrease in
trade payables. Comprising this account are principally trade payables of R1,283.6 million, non-trade
payables of R641.8 million, accrued expenses of ®387.2 million, and advances and customers’
deposits totaling @123 .4 million.

installment Payable
This refers to liabilities of Pacific Online arising from its purchase of transportation vehicles and other

equipment under finance lease arrangements.

EQUITY

The Company’s consolidated shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 201 5 of ®26,073.1 million was
lower by ®1,357.8 million (5%), compared to the level as of December 31, 2014 of 27,430.9 miliion,
due mainly to the F2,902.5 million in total cash dividends paid to its shareholders in 2015.

Treasury Shares
In January 2015, the Board of Directors of Belle has approved a Share Buyback Program authorizing

management the discretion to purchase the Company’s common shares up to an aggregate cost of
®1 0 billion. As of December 31, 2015, 42.1 million Belle shares have been purchased and held as
treasury shares at a total acquisition cost of #134.8 million.

Retained Earnings

The Company’s consolidated retained earnings of F4,903.9 million as of December 31, 2015 was
R1,626.2 million (25%) lower than its consolidated retained earnings of P6,530.1 million as of
December 31, 2014, due to the Company’s payment of a total of R2,903.8 million in cash dividends
during 2015, comprised of a B1,900.7 million (R0.18 per share) special dividend on March 9, 2015
and a ®1,001.8 million (R0.095 per share) reguiar dividend on August 28, 2015.

Below are the comparative key performance indicators of the Company and its subsidiaries:

31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014
Asset to equity ratio 1.68 : 1.00 1.51:1.00
Current or Liquidity ratio 1.88 : 1.00 1.99:1.00
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.23:1.00 0.17:1.00
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.10:1.00 (0.06): 1.00
Interest rate coverage ratio 9.80:1.00 10.7:1.00
Retum on assets 3.4% 7.0%
Retum on equity 5.3% 10.7%

Below are the comparative key perfformance indicators of the material parly-owned subsidiaries of Belle:
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Premium Leisure Corp.

Pacific Online

31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014
Asset to equity ratio 1.03:1.00 1.01:1.00
! Currént or Liquidity ratio 7.14:1.00 36.16 : 1.00
u Debt-to-equity ratio Not A;Jplicable Not Applicable——
| Interest rate coverage ratio Not Applicable | Not Applicable
Re;urn on assets 1.38% 14.93%
Return on equity 1.41% 15.20%
31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014
Asset to equity ratio 1.26 : 1.00 1.31:1.00
Current or Liquidity ratio 2.74:1.00 3.86:1.00
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.26 : 1.00 0.31:1.00
Solvency ratio 1.03:1.00 094 :1.00
Interest rate coverage ratio 47.81:1.00 57.60:1.00
Return on assets 15.65% 20.69%
Return on equity 19.67% 20.38%

The above performance indicators are calculated as follows:

Current Ratio

Debt to Equity Ratio

Asset-fo-equity Ratio

Return on Equity

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

interest-bearing debt
Total Equity

Total Assets
Total Equity

Net Income
Average equity during the period




Return on Assets Net Income _
Average assets during the period

interest Coverage Ratio Income Before Inferest & Tax
Interest Expense

Net debt-to-equity ratio interest-bearing debt less cash and cash equivalents
Total Equity

Solvency ratio Net Income + Depreciation
Total Liabilities

The Company does not foresee any cash flow or fiquidity problems over the next tweive months. As of
December 31, 2015, total debt of the Company of R6,115.5 million was comprised of short-term bank
borrowings of ®1,000.0 million and long-term debt of #5,115.5 million. Belle expects income from real
estate projects, cash rental receipts from MCE and dividends from subsidiaries to generate cash flow
sufficient for its needs. Meanwhile, the Company continues to be in compliance with the terms of all of
its debt obligations.

As of December 31, 2015, except for what has been noted in the preceding, there were no material events
or uncertainties known to management that had a material impact on past performance, or that would
have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

()  Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Liquidity) Material commitments
for capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a material impact on the Company's
short-term or long-term liquidity;

(i) Events that wili trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is matenal to the company,
including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

(i) AN material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons
created during the reporting period.

(iv) Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such
commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures:

Under the License granted to PLAl by PAGCOR, the parties designated as Co-lLicensees in the
Consortium (PLAI, Belle and MCE) were committed to collectively invest a minimum of US$1.0 billion
(“lnvestment Commitment”) in the Project. Under the PAGCOR Guidelines, of the US$1.0 billion,
US$650.0 million shall be invested upon the opening of the integrated resort and the US$350.0 million
balance shall be invested within a period of three (3) years from the commencement of the integrated
resort operations. The Investment Commitment shall be composed of the value of the land (up to a
maximum of US$150 million) and the development costs of the infrastructure and facilities for the Project.
The Consorfium already exceeded the US$1.0 billion Investment Commitment upon the soft opening of
City of Dreams Manila on December 14, 2014. Consequently, City of Dreams Manila became the first
integrated resort in Entertainment City to be awarded a Regular License by PAGCOR, in May 2015.

v) Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Maternial Impact on Sales)

(v Any Significant Elements of Income or Loss (from continuing operations)
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December 31, 2014 versus December 31, 2013 Results of Operations (in thousands)

Years Ended December 31 Horizontal Analysis | Vertica Andysis |
I ECE increase (Decrease)] | 2014 | 203
REVENUE
Interest income an finance lease P 148113 P 111570 231,603 157% 45% 4%
Equipment rental and instant scratch ticket sales %971 - 949, 1000% 300%  00%
Sales of real estate and club shares 300,252 175,280 mm % 5% 6T%
Lease income 188,757 157,136 31,61 W% 6% 6.0%
Revenue from property management 115,3% 106,033 10,33 98% 36k 4%
Gaming revenue share 38,809 - 33,808 we 1% %
Termination income . 949,608 {949,608) A000%  00% 3B2%
Others 161,74 59,620 102,104 m» St L%
TOTAL REVENUES 3,163,192 2,624,247 539,545 06%  1000%  1000%
COST OF LOTTERY SERVICES {308,021) - 306,021 1000 9% 0%
COST OF REAL ESTATE AND CLUB SHARES SOLD (125,85) {115,389) 10,467 91% 40% 4%
COST OF SERVICES OF PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 188,052} {60,269 8 $1% -28% 23
COSTOF GAMING OPERATIONS (7,0m) - 1,075 000% 0B 0%
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES {754,510} (642,642) 11,868 78% B -U5%
FAIRVALUE CHANGE DUE TO CANCELLATION OF SWAP AGREEMENT 119133 - 1218133 000% 385 00%
GAIN ON SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITICNS 819,348 - 89,38 00% 8% 00%
GAIN(LOSS) ON FINANCE LEASE {812,843) 3u44% e 150 BTk R
ACCRETION OF NONTRADE LIABILITY {533,348) - 533,348 000% -169%  00%
EQUITY IN NET EARNINGS OF ASSOCIATES 117,19 119,940 (2750} 2% 3% 46k
NTEREST EXPENSE (9872) (103,852} (5,29 A% 3% 40
INTEREST INCOME oLy 5,112 (26,133} o6 09% 1%
NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS (7,615} {86,167} {78,548} 9% 0% 3%
GAIN ON SHARE SWAP . T,47 (.M 000 0% 4%
OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - net 14747 81,052 (66,305) BL&% 5% 3%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 2,690,143 4969713 (2219570 A55% B0 1094%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current 179,943 3BSTT (125,634 A% 5% 116%
Deferred (46,479) 009  (10M46  -1045%  -15% 0%

133469 13359  {1,200,060) 00 4% 08

P 255664 P 363618 (1,07,510) 9%  80.8% 1386k
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Belle Corporation (“Beile” of the “Company”) consolidated netincome for 2014 was #2,556.7 million. This
is R1,079.5 million (30%) lower than the consolidated net income of R3,636.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, due to higher non-operating and non-recurring income during 2013. Net non-
recurring income during 2013 amounted to approximately R#3,064.0 million (after related tax provisions),
and were comprised of the following: the Temination Income of R949 6 million (pre-tax) received from
the Philippine affiliates of Melco Crown Entertainment, Ltd. {collectively, “MCE"} in March 2013, upon the
commencement of MCE’s lease on Belle’s property to be used for the City of Dreams Manila integrated
resort project; a Gain on Finance Lease of P2,324.4 million (before 697 .3 million deferred tax provision)
during 2013; and a gain on share swap of the Company’s 809 million shares of Highlands Prime, Inc.
amounting to R772.2 million. Net non-recurting income during 2014 totaled only about R1,520.2 miition
(net of related tax provisions), and were comprised of- a R31.4 million (pre-tax) gain on redemption of
SMIC retail bonds in April 2014; a #1,219.1 mitlion reversal of investment loss reserves by PLC, a Belle
subsidiary; a R812.8 million Loss on Finance Lease (before 2243 .9 million deferred tax benefit); a R879.3
million gain on re-measurement of investment net of non-recurring business acquisition costs at Pacific
Online, a subsidiary of Belle. Excluding these non-recurring items, Belle’s net income for the year ended
December 31, 2014 would have been R1,036.5 million, which is higher by approximately R464.3 mitlion
(81%) compared to adjusted net income for the year ended December 31, 2013 of about B572.2 million.

Revenues

Gross revenue of £3,163.8 million in 2014 was higher by B539.5 million (21%), compared to B2624.2
million in 2013 due to the following: consolidation of Pacific Online revenues starting in June 2014 totaling
R1,030.3 million (comprising of equipment lease rentals, instant scratch ticket sales and commission
income included in “other revenues”); higher interest income on finance lease accounting amounting to
R231.6 million; higher sales of real estate and club shares amounting to £125.0 million; gaming income
share from City of Dreams Manila by Premium Leisure Corporation ("PLC") amounting to R38.8 million;
and dividend income from SM Prime Holdings, included in “other revenues”, amounting to H22.4 miltion.
The increase in gross revenue was offset by the non-recurring Temination Income in 2013, amounting
to 29496 million.

Gross revenue from sales of real estate and club shares for the year ended December 31, 2014 of 2300.3
million was higher by R125.0 million (71%), compared to B175.3 million for the year ended December
31, 2013. Gross profit from sales of real estate and ciub shares for the year ended December 31, 2014
of R174.4 million was higher than gross profit therefrom for the year ended December 31, 2013 of R59.9
million by R114.5 miillion (191%) due to higher sales of real estate and club shares. There were no new
real estate development projects launched by Belle during the year ended December 31, 2014.

Gross revenue from property management services for the year ended December 31, 2014 of B115.4
million was higher by R10.3 million (10%), compared to 2105.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2013 due to higher revenue from water services. Gross profit from property management services for the
year ended December 31, 2014 of B27.3 million was lower by 817.5 million (39%), compared to R44.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2013, due to higher maintenance, power and water costs.

PLC recognized a share in gaming revenues of City of Dreams Manila in 2014 due to the soft opening of
the City of Dreams Manila integrated resorts casino on December 14, 2014. Gross revenue from gaming
income of City of Dreams Manila by PLC for the year ended December 31, 2014 of B38.8 million is
determined based on Net Wins.

Cost of Lottery Services

Cost of lottery services pertains to direct costs of Pacific Online amounting to P206.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014, which includes: operating supplies amounting to #45.3 million; software
license fees amounting to 881.7 million; consultancy fees amounting to R46.6 million; communication

fees amounting fo R63.8 million; and depreciation and amortization of lottery equipment amounting to
R68.6 million.
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Cost of Real Estate and Club Shares Soid

Cost of real estate and clubs shares sold increased by 210.5 million (8%) to £125.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 from R115.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 due mainly to
higher unit sales of real estate and club shares sold during the 2014 period.

Costs of Services of Property Management -
Cost of services of property management increased by B27.8 million (46%) to R88.1 million for the year

ended December 31, 2014 from R60.3 million due to higher maintenance, power and water costs for the
2014 period.

Costs of Gaming Operations _ . -
Cost of gaming operations refers fo the service fee paid to consultants by PLC, in respect of its gaming

operations.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased by £111.9 miillion (17%), from R642 6 milfion for the year

ended December 31, 2013 to R754.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase in
general and administrative expenses during 2014 was due to the following: {{) R338.6 million general and
administrative expenses by Pacific Online, as a result of consolidation and (i) R40.0 million in
documentary stamp taxes (DST) pertaining to the R4.0 biliion estimated fiability to AB Leisure Global, Inc.
(“ABLGI"), presented as Non-trade Liability Accountin Belle's consolidated statement of financial position.

Fair Value Change due to Cancellation of Swap Agreement
PLC, the Company’s 78.7%-owned subsidiary, recorded a P1,219.1 million net reversal of a provision for

impairment of its investment in Legend International Resorts (HK) Limited (‘LIR") following the
cancellation of 1 billion of its common shares formery held by Metroplex Berhad, thereby fulfiling the
agreement entered into by and among itself, Belle, Metroplex Berhad and LIR in rescinding the Swap
Agreement in August 2001 (the “LIR Unwinding”).

Gain on Significant Acguisitions - net
This mainly pertains to the gain on revaluation of Belle’s consolidated investment in Pacific Online based

on a share price of R18.6 per share as of June 5, 2014 (which is determined to be the date of acquisition),
compared to the carrying amount of Belle’s investment in Pacific Online based on equity method of
accounting immediately before the acquisition.

Gain (Loss} on Finance Lease

As a result of adjustments made to the Finance Lease Receivable due to modification in cash flows for
Phase 1 of the City of Dreams Manila, Belle recognized a Loss amounting to R812.8 million in 2014. In
2013, the lease agreement with MCE for Phase 1 was accounted for as a finance lease, in accordance
with Philippine Accounting Standards 17 (PAS 17). Belle thus recognized a finance lease receivable
measured at the present value of the minimum lease payments, and derecognized the cost of the related
building. The excess of the present value of minimum lease payments over the cost of the building
amounting to R2,324.4 million was recognized as a one-ime “Day 1 Gain” in 2013. Under PAS 17,
although the lease contract between Belle and MCE is structured as an operating lease, the building lease
is treated as a theoretical sale under a capital lease arrangement, notwithstanding the fact that Belle is
not relinquishing ownership of any and all property being leased to MCE.

Equity in Net Earnings of Associates

The Company’s equitized net earnings from associated companies decreased by R2.8 million (2%), to
B117.2 million for 2014 from R119.9 million during 2013, due to the consolidation of Pacific Online in
2014. Pacific Online, of which Belie and PLC own a combined 51.9% of common shares outstanding,
brought a net income of R241.8 million for 2014, compared to equitized eamings of R113.1 million out of
Pacific Online’s net income of R323.7 miilion in the 2013. Belle's total ownership in Pacific Online was
increased to 50.1% (from 35% as of December 31, 2013) after a series of share purchases in the
secondary market at the Philippine Stack Exchange during the first half of 2014. Woodland Development
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Corporafion (‘WDC"), Belle’s 47%-owned associate, brought equitized eamings of R1.3 million out of
WDC’s net income of R2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Financial income and Expenses
Interest expense decreased by R5.1 million (5%), to R98.7 million for 2014, from R103.9 million for 2013.

interest income decreased by R26.1 million, to 830.0 million in 2014 from £56.1 million in 2013, mainly
due to decreases in average invested cash levels.

Net Foreign Exchange Loss
The foreign exchange transtation loss of R7.6 million for 2014 (based on a foreign exchange rate of

R44 72:US$1.00 as of December 31, 2014 vs. foreign exchange rate of R44 40:1JS%1.00 as of December
31, 2013) decreased by £78.5 million from R 86.2 million for 2013 period (based on a foreign exchange
rate of 244 40:US$1.00 as of December 31, 2013 vs. R44.05:US$1.00 as of December 31, 2012). The
decrease was mainly due to the settlement of the Company’s US$22 million in foreign currency
denominated Floating Rate Notes (the *FRNs") in May 2014, based on a foreign exchange rate upon
settlement of R44.40:US$1.00. in 2013, the Company, recorded a foreign exchange loss of £12.5 million
from an Escrow Deposit of US$57.5 million that was being maintained for the PAGCOR License, upon
termination thereof in May 2013 (as MCE put up its own Escrow Deposit to replace it) and recognized
additional foreign exchange translation losses of B73.7 million from its FRNs.

Provisions for Income Taxes

Provisions for taxes decreased by B1,200.1 million (90%), to #133.5 million for 2014 from £1,1 33.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2013, mainly due to the following: (i) deferred tax asset recognized on
NOLCO and excess MCIT as of December 31, 2014 totaling R188.8 million; (i) deferred tax asset
recognized on the Loss on finance lease 2014 amounting to R243.9 million; and (i) R697.3 million
deferred tax liability on the B2,234 .4 million Day 1 gain on finance lease 2013.




December 31, 2014 versus December 31, 2013 Statement of Financial Position (in thousands)

Decembar Horizontal Analysis Vertical Analysis
2014 2013 inc[Dec) | % 2018 | 2013
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P 6,326,509 P 1,170,396 5,156,113 440.5% 15.3% 3.7%
investments held for trading 262,815 - 262,815  100.0% 0.6% 0.0%
Receivables 1,474,911 1,222,374 252,537 20.7% 3.6% 3.9%
Current portion of:
Finance lease receivable 722,745 942911 {220,166) -23.3% 1.7% 3.0%
Advances to associates - nat - 176,723 (176,723} -100.0% 0o%  0.6%
Real estate for sale 935,530 654,967 280,563 42.8% 2.3% 21%
Club shares 2,700,551 2,810,221 {109,670} -3.9% 6.5% B3.9%
Other current assets 2,193,830 679,316 1,514,514 222.9% 5.3% 2.2%
’ 14,616,891 7,656,908 6,959,983 90.9% 35.3% 24.3%
Noncurrent Assets
Land held for future development 3,018,515 2,937,309 81,206 2.8% 7.3% 9.3%
Finance lease receivable - net of current portion 8,866,747 8,809,301 57,446 0.7% 21.4% 27.9%
Investments in and advances to associates - net 93,909 801,293 {707,384) -BB.3% 0.2% 25%
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,887,379 1,773,793 113,586 6.4% 4.6% 5.6%
{nvestment properties 4,432,277 2,958,707 1,473,570 49.8% 10.7% 9.4%
Property and equipment 576,817 176,014 400,803 227 7% 1.4% 0.6%
Intangible asset 5,249,552 5,251,186 {11,634) -0.2% 12.7% 16.7%
Goodwill 1,828,578 - 1,828,578 100.0% 4.4% 00%
Pension asset 1,103 12,515 {11,412) -91.2% 0.0% 0.0%
Deferred tax asset 41,234 - 41,234 100.0% 0.1% 0.0%
Held-to-maturity investments - 750,000 {750,000) -100.0% 0.0% 2.4%
Dther noncurrent assets - 778,084 416,822 361,262 B86.7% 1.9% 1.3%
B i 26,774,195 23,896,940 2,877,255 12.0% 64.7% 75.7%
- P 41,391,086 P 31,553,248 9,837,238 31.2%  100.0% 100.03%
LLABIUTIES AND EQUITY
Current Uabilities
Trade and other current liabilities P 2,930,3a0 P 2,469,852 460,488 18.6% 4.7% 7.8%
Loans payable 3,000,017 200,466 2,799,551 1396.5% 28.5% 0.58%
Assignment of receivables with recourse 28,026 89,549 (61,523) -6B.7% -0,6% 0.3%
Current portion of: 0.0% 0.0
Estirnated liability on constructlon costs 1,035,028 1,035,028 ®DIV/OI 10.5% 0.0%
Nontrade liability 274,562 274,562 100.0% 2.8% 0.0%
Obligatlons under finance lease 16,356 16,356 100.0% 0.2% 0.0%
Installment payable 528 - 928 100.0% 0.0% 0.0%
tong-term debt 12,500 1,034,210 {1,021,710) -SR.B%  -10.4% 3.3%
income tax payable e 56,546 - . 56,546 100.0% 0.6% 0.0%
7,354,303 3,794,077 3,560,226 93.8% 36.2% 12.0%
Noncurrent Liablilities
Noncurrent portion of:
Estimated liabllity on construction costs - 2,247,567 {2,247,567) -100.0% -22.8% O0.0%
sontrade liability 3,966,694 4,000,000 (33,308) -0.8% -0.3% 12.7%
Obligations under finance lease 76,494 - 76,494 100.0% 0.8% 0.0%
instaliment payable 198 198 100.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Long-term debt 1,737,500 46E,590 1,268,910 100.0% 12.9% 1.5%
Deferred tax liabilitles 806,229 836,530 {30,301) -3.6% -0.3% 2.7%
__Pension liability _ 18,787 - 18,787 100.0% 0.2% 0.0%
6,605,902 7,552,687 {946,785) -12.5% -9.6% 23.9%
13,960,205 11,346,764 2,613,441 23.0% 26.6% 36.0%
Equity
Arttrlbutable ta equity holders of parent:
Preferred stack - 1,000,000 {1,000,000) -100.0% -10.2% 3.2%
Common stock 10,559,383 10,559,383 - 0.0% 0.0% 33.5%
Additional pald-in capital 5,503,731 5,503,731 - 0.0% 0.0% 17.4%
Equity share in cost of Parent Company shares held by associa (2,501) {2,501) - 0.0% 0.0% 0.0
Cost of Parent Company common and preferred shares held {1,604,824) (2,257,631) 652,807 -2B,9% 6.6% -7.2%
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale financlal assets - n: 87,046 (190,785) 277,831 -145.6% 2.8% -0.6%
Other reserves 3,272,665 21,386 3,251,279 15202.8% 33.1% 0,1%
Excess of net asset valua of an investmaeant over cost 252,040 252,040 - 0.0% 0.0% 0.8%
Retained Earnings 6,530,078 4,533,666 1,996,412 44.0% 20.3%  14.4%
Total equity attributable to equlity holders of the Parent 24,597,618 19,419,289 5,178,329 26.7% 52.69% 61.5%
Non-controlling interests 2,833,263 787,795 2,045,468 259.6%  20.8%  2.5%
Total Equity 27,430,881 20,207,084 7,223,797 35.7%  73.4% 64.0%
P 41,391,086 P 31,553,848 9,837,238 31.2% 100.0% 100.0%
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ASSETS
Total assets of the Company increased by R9,837.2 million (31%), to P41,391.1 milion as of
December 31, 2014, from R31,553.8 million as of December 31, 2013.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents increased by R5,156.1 million (441%), to B6,326.5 million as of December 31,

2014, from R1,170.4 million as of December 31, 2013, due to the following: (i) borrowings amounting to
R7.050.0 million; (ii) proceeds from disposal of SMIC retail bonds amounting to R781.4 million; (i) rental
receipts from MCE of R882.7 million; (iv) consolidation of Pacific Online’s cash and cash equivalents
amounting to R463.3 million (v) proceeds from sale of PLC shares amounting to BS5,534.5 million; (vi)
proceeds from sale of real estate and club shares and revenue from property management services
totaling R770.0M; and (vi) interest and dividends received amounting to R154.9 million. These were
offset by: (i) construction costs amounting to £4,073.0 million; (i) payment of capital gains taxes
amounting to R1,103.7 million on transfers of assets between Belle and PLC; (iiiy settlement of FRNs
amounting to R974.7 million upon maturity in May 2014; (iv) loan repayments amounting to £3,038.8
million; (v) acquisition of 44.5 million additional Pacific Online shares at a total cost amounting to B624.3
milion; and (vi) Belle's cash dividends amounting to R205.8 million paid in July 2014.

Receivables net

Receivables increased by R252.5 million (21%), to R1,474.9 million as of December 31, 2014 from
R1,222.3 million as of Decernber 31, 2013. The increase was mainly due to higher receivables from MCE
arising from construction costs for the interiors of City of Dreams Manila advanced by Belle and
consolidation of Pacific Online’s receivables effective June 5, 2014.

Finance Lease Receivables

Due to the requirements under Philippine Accounting Standards Rule 17 (*PAS 177), management has
accounted for its lease agreement with MCE for the City of Dreams Manila building as a finance iease,
even though there is neither a requirement nor any intention to transfer title therefor to MCE. The
Company thus recorded a finance lease receivable equivalent to the fair value of the leased property,
amounting to R9,375.0 million (fair valuation was determined by discounting minimum lease payments at
the inception date of the lease agreement).

Real Estate for Sale and Club Shares

Real estate for sale increased by P280.6 million (42.8%), to P835.5 million as of December 31, 2014 from
P655.0 million as of December 31, 2013 due to construction of projects in Tagaytay Highlands. Club
shares heid by the Company, valued at historical cost, decreased by P109.7 million (4%), to P2,700.6
million as of December 31, 2014 from P2,810.2 million as of December 31, 2013.

Land Held for Future Development
Land held for future development increased by P81.2 million from P2,837.3 million to P3,018.5 million due
to acquisition of additional raw lands in 2014.

Investments in and Advances to Associates

investments and advances decreased by R884.1 million (80%}), to R93.9 million in as of December 31,
2014, from R978.0 million in December 2013. The decrease was mainly due to the consolidation of Pacific
Online upon attainment of consolidated ownership of 50.7% in June 2014, whereas Pacific Online was
previously accounted for as an associated company.

Investment in Held for Trading

This pertains to investments held by Pacific Online in companies that are not subsidiaries or associates

of Belle, comprised of listed shares of stock in Leisure and Resorts World Corporation, Vantage Equities,

::r;c., APC Group, Inc., DFNN, Inc., ISM Communications Corp. and Philippine Long Distance Telephone
ompany.
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Available-for-sale Investments

Available-for-sale investments increased by R113.6 million (6%), to B1,887.4 million in December 2014
from R1.773.8 miillion in December 2013, due mainly to increases in fair value of such available-for-sale
investments. These investments consists of listed shares in SM Prime Holdings, Inc. and SMInvestments

Corporation.

Investment Properties
Investment properties increased by R1,473.6 million (50%), from £2,958.7 million as of December 31,

2013 to R4,432.3 million as of December 31, 2014, mainly due to construction costs incurred in 2014 for
Phase 2 of City of Dreams Manila.

Intangible Asset
This pertains to the cost of PAGCOR License to operate integrated resorts that was granted by PAGCOR

to PLAIl. The decrease from last year's balance of R11.6 million pertains to the amortization of the
intangible asset on the License which started on December 14, 2014, the effectivity of the Nofice to
Commence Casino Operations granted by PAGCOR.

Goodwill

The Company recognized goodwill amounting to R1,828.6 million, as a result of consolidating Pacific
Online starting June 5, 2014 and acquisition of Falcon Resources Inc. by Total Gaming Technologies inc.,
a subsidiary of Pacific Online, on December 11, 2014.

Other Assets

Other assets increased by R559.0 million (51%), to R1,655.1 million as of December 31, 2014 from
R1,096.1 million as of December 31, 2013, mainly due to the increase in input VAT amounting to R410.0
million and consalidation of other assets held by Pacific Online amounting to R134.3 million.

LIABILITIES

Total liabilities increased by B2,613.4 million (23%), to R13,960.2 million as of December 31, 2014, from
R11,346.8 million as of December 31, 2013, mainly due to increase in loans payable, net of decreases in
long-term debt and estimated liability on construction costs.

Loans Pavable and Long-Term Debt
Total debt, amounting to R4.750.0 million as of December 31, 2014, pertains to Peso loans from varnious

local financial institutions, with average interest at 3.8% per annum. The Company repaid its US$22
million in Floating Rate Notes (FRNs) upon maturity in May 2014, and prepaid Peso long-term debt
incurred for the City of Dreams Manila integrated resort project of B502.3 million. Total debt increased
by B3,046.7 million {179%), from R1,703.3 million as of December 31, 2013 to £6,350.0 million as of
December 31, 2014, due mainly to loan availments totaling £7,050.0 million in 2014.

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities increased by B460.5 million (19%), to B2,930.3 million in December

2014 compared to R2,469.9 million in December 2013 due mainly to the increases in trade payables.
Comprising accounts payable and other liabilities are principally trade payables of #1,955.8 million, non-
trade payables of R509.6 million, accrued expenses of R369.4 million, advances from related parties of
R75.3 million and customers’ deposits of B22.4 million.

Estimated Liability for Construction

The Company recorded an estimated liability for construction costs for City of Dreams Manila in March
2013 amounting to R2,247 6 million, as a result of accounting for its lease agreement with MCE pertaining
to the City of Dreams Manila building as a finance lease, as required under PAS 17. The estimated liability
decreased by R1,212.5 (54%), to R1,035.0 million in December 31, 2014 due mainly to paymenis made
to contractors.

Obligations under Finance | ease
This pertains to Pacific Online’s lottery equipment under finance lease accounting.
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Non-trade Liability
On May 20, 2013, Belle, PLAI, BGRHC, ABLGI and LRWC entered into a Memorandum of Agreement,

whereby Belle and PLAI have agreed to grant ABLGI the right to the settiement of amounts equivalent to
20% of the net lease income of the City of Dreams Manila located at Aseana Business Park in Paranaque
City (the “Project”) in consideration of the waiver of ABLGI's rights as casino operator, the termination
ABLGI agreements and the grant of advances of £4,000.0 million (ABLGI advance) as funding for the
construction of the casino integrated resort building. The carrying value of nontrade liability amounted to
£4 000.0 million as at December 31, 2013.

in December 2014, the implementing agreement has been executed with effectivity of terms and
conditions retrospective January 1, 2014. The R4,000.0 million ABLGI Advance was determined as the
fair value of ABLGl's 30% share in the net lease income of the Project. Such liability shall be accreted
over the lease term using implicit interest rate of 13.13% per annum. The carrying value of nontrade
liability amounted to R4,241.3 million as at December 31, 2014.

EQUITY
The Company's shareholder's equity as of December 31, 2014 of R27.430.9 million was higher by

R7.223.8 million (36%), compared to the level as of December 31, 2013 of Rr20,207.1 milion. The
increase resulted from increases in Other Reserves, Non-controlling Interests and Retained Eamings (see
following discussions).

Preferred Stock and Cost of Parent Company Shares held By Subsidiaries
In July 2014 Belle redeemed through cash payment and cancelled its preferred shares held by PLC.

Consequently, the cancellation of the preferred shares also decreased the cost of parent company shares
held by subsidiaries by R1 billion. The decrease in cost of parent company shares held by subsidiaries
was offset by the Belle common shares held by Pacific Online amounting to P347.2 million. Pacific Online
was consolidated by the Group in June 2014 when the Group increased its ownership from 34.9% to
51.9% of common shares outstanding.

Other Reserves

In September 2014, Belle and its subsidiaries sold 3,173.7 million PLC shares (consiituting approximately
12% interest in PLC) to stockholders comprising minority interests in PLC, with total net proceeds of
R5 123.5 million. The excess of the proceeds from the sale over the equivalent carrying amount of the
12% interest in PLC was recognized as an increase in other reserves. Belle’s ownership in PLC stood at
about 79% as at December 31, 2014. Transaction costs amounting to #1,084.3 on transfers of assets
between Belle and PLC was recognized as a decrease in other reserves.

Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interests increased by R2,045.5 million, from R787.8 miillion as of December 31, 2013 to
P2 833.3 million as of December 31, 2014, mainly due to the following: (a) acquisition of additional non-
controlling interest in Pacific Online amounting to 8665.9 million; (b) settiement of subscription receivables
amounting to R1,165.6 million (c) net profit attributable to non-controlling interest amounting to R354.4
million and (d) sale ofinterest in PLC without loss of control in a secondary offering amounting to 21,7041
million.

Retained Earnings

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded consolidated net income attributable to
equity holders of the parent amounting to RB2,202.3 milion that augmented retained eamings.
Transactions reducing retained eamings were its payment of cash dividends amounting to R205.8 million
in July 2014. The Company thus had consolidated retained earnings of B5,568.1 million as of
ggfgmber 31, 2014, compared to consolidated retained eamings of R4 ,533.7 million as of December 31,



Below are the comparative key performance indicators of the Company and its subsidiaries:

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
Asset to equity ratio 1.51:1.00 1.56:1.00
Current or Liquidity ratio 1.99: 1.00 1.71:1.00
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.17: 1.00 0.29:1.00
L Interest rate coverage ratio {0.06): 1.00 0.19:1.00
Return on assets 13.68:1.00 17.39:1.00
Return on equity 7.0% 2.3%

Below are the comparative key performance indicators of the material partly-owned subsidiaries of Belle:

Premium Leisure Corp

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
Asset to equity ratio 1.01:1.00 1.13:1.00
Current or Liquidity ratio 3276 : 1.00 1.74 : 1.00
Debt-to-equity ratio Not Applicable | Not Applicable
Interest rate coverage ratio Not Applicable | Not Applicable
Return on assets 14.93% {0.43%)
Return on equity 15.20% (0.47%)
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Pacific Online

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
Assetito eql;-i-tg—ratio 1.31:1.00 143 :1.00
7:.)urrent or Liquidity ratio 3.8;: 1.00 2.58:1.00 |
Debt-to-equity ratioL 0.31:1.00 043:1.00
Solvency rau‘-o“ - 0.94:1.00 0.73:1 ook |
Interest rate coverage ratio - 5760m1_00 5§6.77 : 1.00
Return on assets 20.69% 23.30%
Return on ecuity 20.38% 22.48%

The above performance indicators are calculated as follows:

Current Ratio

Debt to Equity Ratio

Asset-to-equity Ratio

Retum on Equity

Retum on Assets

Interest Coverage Ratio

Net debt-to-equity ratio

Solvency ratio

The Company does not foresee any cash flow or liquidity problems over the next twelve months. As at
December 31, 2014, total loans of the Company of R4,750.0 million were comprised short-term bank
borrowings of £3,000.0 million and long-term debt of 21,750.0 million. Belle has a number of revenue-
generating projects, rental income and expected dividends from subsidiaries from which 1o receive cash
flow. Meanwhile, the Company continues to be in compliance with the terms of all of its debt obligations.

Current Assels

Current Liabilities

Interest-bearing debi

Total Equity

Total Assets
Total Equity
Net Income

Average equity during the period

Net Income

Average assets during the period

Income Before Interest & Tax

interest Expense

interest-bearing debt less cash and cash equivalents

and HTM Investments

Total Equity

Net Income + Depreciation

Total Liabilities



As at December 31, 2014, except for what has been noted in the preceding, there were no material events
or uncertainties known tc management that had a material impact on past performance, or that would
have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

+« Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Liquidity) Material commitments for
capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a materal impact on the Company's short-
term or long-term liquidity;

+ Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obiigation that is material to the company,
including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

» Al material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons
created during the reporting period.

+ Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such
commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures:

Under the License granted to PLAI by PAGCOR, the parties in Consortium (PLAI, Belle and MCE) are
committed to invest a minimum of US $1 billion (“investment Commitment”) into the Project. Under the
PAGCOR Guidelines, of the US$1.0 billion, US$650.0 million shall be invested upon the opening of the
integrated resort and the other US$350.0 million shall be invested within a period of three (3) years from
the commencement of the integrated resort operations. The {nvestment Commitment shall be composed
of the value of the land (@ maxium of up to US$150 million) and the development costs of the
infrastructures and facilities within the Project. The Consortium already exceeded the investment
Commitrment upon the soft opening of City of Dreams Manila on December 14, 2014.

+ Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Sales)
+ Any Significant Elements of Income or Loss (from continuing operations)
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December 31, 2013 versus December 31, 2012 Results of Operations (in thousands)

Years Ended December 31 Horizontal Analysis Vertical Analysls
2013 2012 increase (Decrease} w03 | 2012
REVENUE

Interest income on finance lease accounting P 1177510 P - 1,177,570 100.0% 4.9% 0.0%
Termination fee income 949,608 - 949,608 100.0% 36.2% 0.0%
Sales of real estate and club shares 175,280 323,563 {148,283) -45.8% 6.7% 65.4%
Lease income 157,136 18,427 138,709 752.7% 6.0% 3.7%
Revenue from property management 105,033 95,272 9,761 10.2% 4.0% 19.3%
Others 59,620 57,171 2,449 4.3% 2.3% 11.6%
2,624,247 494,433 2,129,814 430.8% 100.0% 100.0%
COST OF REAL ESTATE AND CLUB SHARES SOLD {115,389) {117,152) (1,763) -1.5% -4.4% -23.7%
COST OF SERVICES OF PROPERTY MANAGEMENT ({60,269) {72,943} {12,674) -17.4% -2.3% -14.8%
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES {642,642} {275,450) 367,192 133.3% -24.5% -55.7%
DAY 1 GAIN ON FINANCE LEASE ACCOUNTING 2,324,434 - 2,224,434 100.0% 88.6% 0.0%
GAIN OGN SHARE SWAP 772,247 - Tr2,247 100.0% 29.4% 0.056
EQUITY IN NET EARNINGS OF ASSOCIATES 119,940 288,730 {168,790) -58.5% 4.6% 58.4%
INTEREST EXPENSE (103,852) {128,151) {24,299) -19.0% -4.0% -25.9%
NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS (86,167) (36,718) (49,449} 134.7% -3.3% -7.4%
INTEREST INCOME 56,112 116,453 {60,341} -51.8% 2.1% 23.6%
GAIN ON LIQUIDATING DIVIDEND - 539,671 (539,671) -100.0% 0.0% 109.1%
OTHER CHARGES - net 81,052 {95,064}  {176,116) -185.3% 3.2% -19.2%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 4,969,713 713,809 4,255,904 596.2% 189.4% 144 4%

PROVISION FOR {BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX
Current 305,577 75,154 226,423 286.1% 11.6% 16.0%
Deferred 1,027,952 78,992 948,960 1201.3% 39.2% 16.0%
1,333,529 158,146 1,175,383 743.2% 50.8% 32.0%
NET INCOME [ 3,636,184 P 555,663 3,080,521 554.4% 138.6% 112.4%

Belle Corporation (“Belle” or “the Company”} realized consolidated net income of R3,636.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. The Company’s 2013 net income was &3,080.5 million (554%) higher
than consolidated net income of R555.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. This was achieved
due to significantly higher revenues, a Day 1 Gain on Finance Lease Accouniing (“Day 1 Gain™) of
£2 324 4 million and a gain on the swap of the Company’s 808 million shares of Highlands Prime, Inc. for
109 million shares of SM Prime Holdings, Inc. amounting to B772.2 million (the “Swap Gain"} during
2013,

Revenues

Gross revenue of R2 624.2 million was higher by B2,129.8 million (431%), compared to B494 .4 million in
2012, due to the receipt of revenues arising from the lease and operating agreements with Philippine
Subsidiaries of Melco Crown Entertainment, Ltd. {collectively “MCE”) totaling 82,284 .3 million, comprised
of a termination fee of 8949 6 million received from MCE in March 2013, the termination fee represents
the various costs MCE agreed to absorb as one the conditions of the Company in including MCE as co-
licensees of the City of Dreams Manila integrated resort complex, B157.1 million in current lease income
on 6.2 hectares of leased land and R1,177.6 million in interest income on finance lease accounting for

approximately 17 hectares of building space, which total an increase of 2,265.9 million compared to total
lease income of R18.4 million in 2012.

The lease agreement with Melco for casino building phase 1 has been accounted for under finance lease,
in accordance with Philippine Accounting Standards 17 (PAS 17). Under the finance lease, Belle
recognized finance lease receivable measured at present value of the minimum lease payments, and



derecognized the cost of the related asset. The excess of the present value of minimum lease payments
over cost of the asset amounting to B2,324 .4 million was recognized as one-time “Day 1 Gain on finance
lease”. Under PAS 17, the building lease is treated as a theoretical sale under a capital lease
arrangement, notwithstanding the fact that Belle is not relinquishing ownership of any and all property
being leased to MCE. The Company has been devoting significant resources to development activities
connected with its integrated resort project located in Aseana Business Park in Parafaque City, which
will be named “City of Dreams Manila” and is targeted for its Grand Opening within 2014. City of Dreams
Manita, which carries the brand name of MCE'’s flagship resort in Macau'’s Cotai Strip, will be operated by
MCE through an operating agreement with Belle and its wholly-owned subsidiary, PremiumLeisure and
Amusement, Inc. ("PLAI").

Gross revenue from sales of real estate and club shares for 2013 of R175.3 million was lower by £148.3
million (46%), compared to R323.6 million in 2012. Gross profit from sales of real estate and club shares
for 2013 of R59.9 million was also lower than gross profit therefrom during 2012 of R206.4 million by
R1486.5 million (71%), due to lower sales of real estate and ciub shares. There were no new real estate
projects launched by the Company in 2013 and 2012.

Cost of Real Estate and Club Shares Sold

Cost of real estate and clubs shares sold decreased by B1.8 million (2%) to R115.4 miillion in 2013 from
R117.2 million in 2012 due mainly to lower unit sales of real estate and club shares sold in 2013.

Cost of Services of Property Management

Cost of services of property management decreased by R12.6 million (17.4%) to R60.3 million in 2013
from R72.9 million in 2012 due to lower maintenance and water costs in 2013.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by R367.2 million (133%), from R275.5 million in 2012 to
R642 6 million in 2013. The substantial increase in general and administrative expenses was due to the
following: (i) expenses directly related to PLAI; {ii) higher depreciation expense of 50.9 million in 2013
compared to B30.9 million in 2012; (i) higher administrative expenses of R182.4 million in 2013 compared
to R109.4 million in 2012 mainly due to higher office rentals and professional fees; and (jii) Payment to
AB Leisure Global, Inc. in consideration for the waiver of rights under its previous agreements with the
Company, amounting to R283.5 million. These increases were partially offset by iower selling expenses
of B23.9 million in 2013, compared o £37.0 million in 2012.

Financial Income and Expenses

Interest expense decreased by 8#24.5 million (19%), to R103.9 million in 2013, from R128.2 million in
2012. The decrease was caused in large part by lower borrowings during 2013, compared to 2012. The
Company also capitalized borrowing costs amounting to 2111.0 miltion in 2013 and R247.0 million in
2012, on borrowings incurred for construction of City of Dreams Manila.

Interest income decreased by R60.4 million (52%), from R116.5 million in 2012 to R56.1 milfion in 2013
due to lower interest rates and the termination of the Company's US$57.5 million Escrow Deposit
(maintained for its PAGCOR license) in May 2013, as MCE put up its own Escrow Deposit to replace it.

Equity in Net Earnings of Associates

The Company's equitized net eamings from associated companies decreased by R168.8 million (59%) to
£119.9 million in 2013, from R288.7 million in 2012. Pacific Online Systems Corporation (“POSC™), owned
35% by Belle during 2013, brought equitized eamings of B113.1 million out of netincome of R323.7 millicn
in 2013, compared to equitized eamings of R142.1 million out of net income of R406.8 million in 2012,
POSC leases on-line equipment to the Philippine Charity Sweepstakes Office for their lottery operations
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located mostly in Visayas and Mindanao. Woodland Development Corporation ("WDC"), Belle's 47%-
owned associate, brought equitized eamings of B3.8 million out of net income of 8.0 million in the 2013
period, compared to equitized earnings of 2135.0 million out of net income of P287 .3 million in the 2012
period. The significant decrease in net income of WOC during 2013 was due to a one-time gain on safe
of land to SM Development Corporation recognized in 2012.

Gain on Liquidating Dividend

In November 2012, the Company received its assigned land valued at 21,054 2 million, with 42,166
square meters in area, as a liquidating dividend from Belle Bay City Corporation ("BBCC"). The receipt
of the land from BBCC as liguidating dividend resulted in the cancelation of Belle's investments in BBBC
and recognition of a gain on liquidating dividend of B538.7 million.

Net Foreign Exchange Loss

The Company posted total foreign exchange translation losses of B86.2 million in 2013, arising from its
US$22 miillion in foreign currency denominated Floating Rate Notes (the “FRNs”) due in 2014 and its
US$50.0 million escrow deposit maintained as required under its PAGCOR license (the “Escrow Deposit™)
until May 2013 (when MCE put up its own Escrow Deposit to replace if). Comparatively, its net foreign
exchange translation losses in 2012 amounted to BR36.7 million.

The Company recorded a foreign exchange translation loss from its FRNs of R73.7 million in 2013 (based
on a foreign exchange rate of P44 .40:US%1.00 as of December 31, 2013 vs. P41.05:US$1.00 as of
December 31, 2012) compared to a foreign exchange translation gain of 861.4 million in 2012 (based on
a foreign exchange rate of #41.05:US%1 .00 as of December 31, 2012 vs. P43.84:US$1 as of December
31, 2011).

During 2013, the Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of R12.5 million from its Escrow Deposit,
upon temination thereof in May 2013, based on a foreign exchange rate upon termination of R
40.85:US$1.00 vs. the foreign exchange rate of P41.05:U5%1.00 as of December 31, 2013. In 2012, the
Company recorded a foreign exchange translation loss on the Escrow Deposit of R98.1 million, based on
the foreign exchange rate as of December 31, 2012 of P41.05:US%1.00 vs. the actual conversion rate of
R43.02:US%1.00 in June 2012.

Provision for Income Tax

Provision for income tax increased by R1,175.4 million (743%), to £1,333.5 million in 2013 from R158.1
million in 2012, due to the higher taxable income and a R697.3 million deferred tax liability recognized on
the R2,324 4 million Day 1 Gain in 2013.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing, Belle Corporation realized consolidated net income of R3 6362 million for
2013. This is R3,080.5 million (554%) higher than the consolidated net income of B555.7 million for 2012
and comprises a record level . Moreover, the Company's consistent profitability has allowed it to post
positive consolidated retained eamings of B4,533.7 million as of December 31, 2013.



31 December 2013 versus 31 December 2012 Statement of Financial Position (in thousands)

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 Horizontal Analysis Vertical Analysis

Audited Audited meed | % a3 | 2012
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents P 1,170,3% P 1,419,711 [249,315) -17.6% 3.7% 5.6%
Short-term Investments - 985 (965) -100.0%  0.0% 0.0%
Receivables 1,210,787 1,352,972 {142,185 -10.5% 3.8% 5.3%
Finance lease receivable 9,752,112 - 9,752,212 1000%  30.9% 0.0%
Real estate for sale - at cost 3,592,276 2,901,335 690941 238% l14% 114%
Club shares - at cost 2,810,121 2,812,642 {2421) 01% 8.9% 11.0%
Investments in and advances ta associates - net 978,016 1,883,059 [905,043) -48.1%  3.1% 7.4%
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,773,793 28,615 1,745174 6D9B.0%  5.6% 0.1%
Held-to-maturity investments 750,000 750,000 - 0.0% 2.4% 2.9%
Advances to refated parties - net 11,587 482,469 470,882) -97.6%  0.0% 1.9%
Investment properties 2,958,707 5084824 [2826117) 47.0%  94%  219%
Property and equipment 176,014 160,283 15731 9.8% 0.6% 0.6%
Intangible assets 5,261,186 5,261,186 - 0.0% 16.7%  20.7%
Escrow fund - 2,064,450  (2064450) -1000% 0.0% 8.1%
Pension asset 12,515 1,643 10,872 661.7%  0.0% 0.0%
Other assets 1,096,138 758,284 337,854  44.6% 3.5% 3.0%
Total Assets P 31,553,848 P 25,462,442 6,091,406 239% 1000% 100.0%
{JABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Loans payable P 200,866 P 2,081,714 [1881,248) -90.4% 0.6% 8.2%
Accounts payable and other liabilities 2,469,852 1,869,808 600,044 32.1% 7.8% 7.3%
Income tax payable - 416 [416) -100.0%  0.0% 0.0%
Assignment of receivables with recourse 89,549 - 89,549 100.0%  03% 0.0%
Deferred tax liabilities - net 836,530 167,944 668,586 1398.1%  1.7% 0.7%
Long-term debt 1,502,800 4,719,165 (3216365} -68.2%  48%  185%
Estimated liability on construction costs 2,247,567 - 2247567 1000%  7.1% 0.0%
Nontrade liability 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 100.0% 12.9%  00%
Total Liabilities 11,346,764 8,839,047 2507717 284%  360%  34.7%
Equity
Attributable to equity holders of the parent:
Preferred stock 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 0.0% I 19%
Common stock 10,558,383 10,559,383 - 0.0% 335%  415%
Additional paid-in capital 5,503,731 5,503,731 - 0.0%  174%  216%
Equity share in cost of Parent Company shares held by associates [2,501) (731,595) 729,295 997%  00%  -2.9%
Cost of Parent Company shares held by subsidiaries (2,257,631} (562,375) 1695256 -301.4% -7.2%  -2.1%
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale financial assets - net (190,785} 14,868 (205,653} -1383.2% -06%  0.1%
Other reserves 21,386 {1,225} 21611 -18458%  0.1% 0.0%
Excess of net asset value of an investment overcost 252,040 - 252040  0.0% 0.8% 0.0%
Retained Earnings 4,533,666 893,813 3,639,853 407.2%  14.4% 3.5%
Total Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 19,419,289 16,676,499 6133302 368%  6L5%  65.5%
Non-Controlling Interests 787,795 (53,104 840,899 -1583.5% 25%  -0.2%
Total Equity 20,207,084 16,623,395 3583589 216%  640%  65.3%
Totai Liabilities and Equity P 31,553,848 P 5,462,442 B091406  23.9%  1000%  100.0%
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ASSETS

Total assets of the Company increased by B6,091.4 million (24%), to ®31,553.8 millien as of December
31, 2013, from B25 462 4 million as of December 31, 2012.

Cash and cas ivalen

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by R249.3 milion (18%), to R1,170.4 million in 2013 from
®1,419.7 million in 2012, mainly due to the following: (i} expenditures for the construction of City of Dreams
Manila amounting F2,214.9 million; (i loan principal repayments of B3,668.5 million; and (i) payments
to ABLGI amounting to #283.5 million. The decreases in the cash and cash equivalents were offset by
the following cash receipts: (iy ®4,000.0 million ABLGI Advance (recorded under Nontrade Liability) and
(i)} termination of the escrow fund amounting to R2 064.5 million.

Finance Lease Receivables

Due to the requirements under PAS 17, management has accounted for its lease agreement with Melco
Crown for the City of Dreams Manila building as a finance lease even though there is neither a stipulation
nor any intention to transfer title therefor to Melco Crown. The Company thus recorded a finance lease
receivable equivalent to the fair value of the leased property, amounting to B9,375.0 million (fair valuation
was detemmined by discounting the minimum lease payments at the inception date of the lease
agreement).

Receivables

Receivables decreased by R142.2 million (11%), to B1,210.8 million as of December 31, 2013 from
®1,353.0 million as of December 31, 2012 The decrease was mainly due to net liquidations of receivables
on real estate sold.

Real estate for sale and Club shares

Real estate for sale increased by R690.9 million (24%), to R3,592.3 miilion as of December 31, 2013 from
®2,901.3 million as of December 31, 2012, due mainly to the transfer of Tagaytay land from The Couniry
Club at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc. (TCCATH) and Tagaytay Highlands International Goif Club, Inc.
(THIGCI) in the aggregate value of R529.7 million as payment for long-outstanding advances.

Club shares held by the Company, valued at the lower of historical cost or market, decreased by R2.4
million (0.1%), to R2,810.2 million as of December 31, 2013 from ®2,812.6 million as of December 31,
2012 due to sales thereof.

Investments in and advances to associates

Investments and advances decreased by R912.7 miillion (49%), to R970.3 million as of December 31,
2013 from ®1,883.1 million as of December 31, 2012. In August 2013, Highlands Prime Inc. (“Highlands
Prime?) shares of common stock, amounting to ®819.4 million, were swapped for SM Prime Holdings,
Inc. (*SMPH") shares of common stock at an exchange rate ratio of 0.135. The Company thereby
acquired 109 million shares of SMPH, in exchange for its 809 million shares of Highlands Prime. The
investmentin SMPH shares has been classified under “Available-for-sale financial assets”.

Availablefor-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets increased by R1,745.2 million (6,098%) to ®1,773.8 million as of
December 31, 2013 from ®28.6 million as of December 31, 2012, due mainly to the swap of HPI shares
of common stock to SMPH shares. The Company recorded an investment in SMPH shares amounting
to ®1,776.0 million as a result of the swap. The increase was partially offset by the decrease in the market
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value of SMPH shares amounting to B173.7 milion, based on the closing price of SMPH of
R14.66 per share as of the end of 2013.

Investment properties

Investment properties decreased by B2,626.1 million (47%), from R5,584.8 million as of December 31,
2012 to B2,958.7 miillion as of December 31, 2013, due to the derecognition of the construction costs on
the City of Dreams Manila Project as a resuit of the finance lease accounting treatment of the lease
contract with MCE, as required under PAS 17. However, it shouid be noted that Belle intends to retain
legal ownership of the property, irespective of the accounting treatment required under PAS 17.

Escrow Fund

The Company’s US$57.5 million Escrow Deposit, maintained for its PAGCOR license, was terminated in
May 2013, as MCE put up its own Escrow Deposit to replace it.

Advances to related parties

Advances to related parties decreased by P470.9 million (88%}) to ®11.6 million as of December 31, 2013
from ®482.5 million as of December 31, 2012, due mainly to the transfer of land from TCCATH and
THIGCI amounting to ®97.5 million and ®432 .2 million, respectively, as payment for advances.

Other assets
Other assets increased by B337.9 million (45%) to B1,096.1 million as of December 31, 2013 from
R758.3 million as of December 31, 2012, due mainly to an increase in advances to contractors in 2013

for the City of Dreams Manila project, amounting to R323.0 million and input VAT amounting to #115.6
million.

LIABILITIES
Total liabilities increased by B2 507 .7 million (29%) to ®11,346.8 million as of December 31, 2013, from
18,839.0 million as of December 31, 2012, due to an increase in accounts payable and other liabilities

and the recognition of estimated liability on construction costs under PAS 17.

Loans payable and Long-term debt

Total debt amounting to R5,792.8 million as of December 31, 2012 is comprised of. Peso loans from
various local financial institutions, with average interest at 4.25% per annum, amounting to R200.5 miliion;
advances from ABLGI amounting to R4,000.0 million (recorded under “Nontrade Liability”); FRNs with a
Peso equivalent amounting to B977.2 million; Peso long-term debt incurred for the City of Dreams Maniia
Project of ®498.8 million; and Assignment of receivables with recourse amounting to
#®89.5 million . The FRNs have a principal amount of US$22 million due on May 10, 2014 and carry interest
at a floating rate of 2% per annum above the six-month LIBOR rate.

Total debt decreased by B1,097.7 million (16%), from R6,800.9 million as of December 31, 2012 to
®5,703.2 million as of December 31, 2013, due mainly to bank loan repayments totalling P3,668.5 million,
which was offset by a loan from ABLGI amounting to R4,000.0 million in 2013.

Accounts pavable and other liabilities

Accounts payable and other liabllities increased by R600.0 million (32%), to R2,.469.9 million as of
December 31, 2013 compared to B1,869.8 million as of December 31, 2012. Comprising accounts
payable and other liabilities are principally trade payables of B1,185.8 milion, advances from related
parties of R77 6 million, accrued expenses of R562.9 million, non-trade payables of P640.3 million and
customers’ deposits of B25.9 million.
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Estimated liability for constructions costs

The Company recorded an estimated liability for constructions costs for the Phase 1 of City of Dreams
Manila in March 2013 amounting to P2,247.6 million as a result of the accounting of its lease agreement
with MCE as a finance lease, as required under PAS 17. Phase 1 comprises approximately 17 hectares
out of a total of 30 hectares of planned building gross floor area for City of Dreams Manila.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities increased by R668.6 million (398.1%) to ®836.5 million as of December 31, 2013
from

R167.9 million as of December 31, 2012. The increase was mainly due to the deferred tax of R697.3
million on the Day 1 Gain.

EQUITY

The Company's shareholders' equity as of December 31, 2013 of F20,207.1 million was higher by
R3,583.7 million (21%), compared to the year-end 2012 level of R16,623.4 million, due mainly to the
consolidated netincome recorded in 2013, The Company thus attained consolidated retained eamings of
R4,533.7 million as of December 31, 2013, compared {o consolidated retained earnings of R893.8 million
as of December 31, 2012. Of the Company's retained earnings at year-end 2013, approximately R417.7
million is estimated to be allowable for dividend declarations, inasmuch as accounting income arising from
the Day 1 Gain, the Swap Gain and PAS 17 finance lease interest income are not considered eligible
and/or appropriate for immediate dividend declarations.

Below are the comparative key performance indicators of the Company and its subsidiaries:

31 Dec 2013 | 31 Dec 2012

Asset-to-equity ratio 1.56 : 1:00 1.53:1.00
Current or Liquidity Ratio 1.88 :1.00 2.46:1.00
Debi-to-equity ratio 0.29:1.00 0.41:1.00
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.19:1.00 032:1.00

Interest rate coverage ratio | 17.39:1.00 6.57:1.00

Return on assets 12.8% 2.3%

Retum on equity 5.5% 3.4%




Below are the comparative key performance indicators of the material partly-owned subsidiaries of Belle:

Premium Leisure Comp.

31 Dec 2013 3t Dec 2012
Asset to equity ratio 1.13:1.00 1.09:1.00
Current or Liquidity ratio 1.74 : 1.00 0.55:1.00
Debt-to-equity ratio Not Applicable | Not Abplicable
Interest rate coverage ratio Not Applicable | Not Applicable
Return on assets (0.43%) (56.78%)
Return on equity (0.47%) (60.28%)
Pacific Online
31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012
Asset to equity ratio 1.43:1.00 1.47 :1.00
Current or Liguidity ratio 2.58 :1.00 251:1.00
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.43:1.00 0.47:1.00
Solvency ratio 0.73:1.00 0.80:1.00
Interest rate coverage ratio 56.77 : 1.00 43.85:1.00
Retum on assets 15.72% 18.13%
Retum on equity 22.48% 26.63%
The above performance indicators are calculated as follows:
Current Ratio Cumrent Assets
Current Liabilities
Debt to Equity Ratio Interest-bearing debt
Total Equity
Asset-to-equity Ratio Total Assets
Total Equity
Return on Equity Net Income
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Average equity during the period

Return on Assets Net Income
Average assets during the period

Interest Coverage Ratio Income Before Interest & Tax
interest Expense

Net debt-to-equity ratio Interest-bearing debt less cash and cash equivalents
and HTM Investments

Total Equity

Solvency ratio Net Income + Depreciation
Total Liabilities

The Company does not foresee any cash flow or liquidity problems over the next twelve (12) months. Of
the ™5,792.8 million in Company’s loans payable as of 31 December 2013, 200.5 million are comptrised
of short-term bank borrowings that have historically been mostly renewed or rolled-over, with Belle paying
only the interest. The balance of 4,000.0 million comprises a loan from ABLGI, which has a final maturity
on or about 2024. Belle anticipates increases in its cash flow during 2014 arising from the tumover of
Phase 2 of City of Dreams Manila to MCE, and the opening of City of Dreams Manila. Moreover, Belle
also has a number of revenue-generating real estate projects in the pipeline to further enhance cash flow
in the future. Meanwhile, the Company continues to be in compliance with the terms of all of its debt
obligations.

As of 31 December 2013, except for what has been noted in the preceding, there were no material events
or uncertainties known to management that had a maternal impact on past performance, or that would
have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

(viiy Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Liquidity)Material commitments for
capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
short-term or long-term liquidity;

(vii) Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the company,
including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

{im) All material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons
created during the reporting period.

(x) Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such
commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures.

Under the Provisional License granted to PLAI, the parties in Consortium (PLAI, Belle and MCE
Leisure) are committed to invest a minimum of US $1 billion (“Investment Commitment") into the
Project. Under the PAGCOR Guidelines, of the US$1.0 billion, US$650.0 million shall be invested
upon the opening of the integrated resort and the other US$$350.0 million shall be invested within a
period of three (3) years from the commencement of the integrated resort operations. The
Investment Commitment shall be composed of the value of the land (& maxium of up to $150
million) and the development costs of the infrastructures and facilities within the Project. The
integrated resort is expected to open in the 4th quarter of 2014. As agreed in the Cooperation
Agreement between Belle, PLAI and MCE Leisure, the $650 million investment commitment will be
shared 50-50 between Belle and MCE Leisure. As of December 31, 2013, Belle has a total
investment of $281.9 million of the $325.0 million share in the investment commitment with
PAGCOR. Belle funded, and will fund its required capital expenditures from the cash proceeds
raised from the September 2011 stock rights offering and loans.
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(xi}
(xil)

{xik)

(xiv)

Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Sales)
Any Significant Elements of Income or Loss (from continuing operations)
Refer to Management Discussion and Analysis Operating Performance and Financial Condition.

Causes for Any Material Changes from Period to Period of FS which shall include vertical and
horizontal analyses of any material item (5%).

Refer to Management Discussion and Analysis Operating Performance and Financial Condition.

Seasonal Aspects that has Material Effect on the financial statements
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2016 Plan of Operations

Belle shified its principal activity from mining and oil exploration to property development when it
developed Tagaytay Highlands in 1989. Residential projects in Tagaytay City include Pinecrest Village,
The Villas, The Belle View and The Woodlands. Residential projects in Batangas comprise the Midlands
and Greenlands development areas. Among the Midlands residential projects are Alta Mira, Lakeview
Heights and Lakeside Fairways. Greenlands residential projects are Plantation Hills and four subdivisions
of Saratoga Hills.

Residential projects in Tagaytay City are completed and turned over tc its buyers. Lakeside Fairways
was introduced in April 2007 which consists of subdivision lots adjacent to 27 holes of the Tagaytay
Midlands golf course in Talisay, Batangas. The construction of 9 additional holes for the Tagaytay
Midiands goif course has been completed. The first seven clusters of Lakeside Fairways (Kew Gardens,
Terrazas de Alava, Lakeside Enclave, Tivoli Place, Cotswold, Katsura and Yume} and Greenlands
residential projects namely Plantation Hills, The Parks, The Verandas and Fairfield at Saratoga Hills are
fully-completed. Nobhill at Saratoga Hills is 99% complete and commenced lot turmover to buyers in 2015.
Sycamore Heights, located at Lakeside Fairways, which has more than 25 hectares in developable area
comprising 329 lots is 92% complete as of December 31, 2015.

For the gaming side, construction of the Company'’s integrated resort at the entrance of PAGCOR's
Entertainment City was completed during 2015. The site of the integrated resort is on 6.2 hectares of
prime land at the comer of Roxas Boulevard and Aseana Avenue in Parafiaque City, and it is about one
(1) kilometer away from the Mall of Asia complex. On October 25, 2012, Belle and PLAI signed a
Cooperation Agreement with MCE for the development and operation of the integrated resort. The
Cooperation Agreement places Belle as the licensee and owner of the resort's land and buildings, white
MCE will be the developer and operator of all facilities within the resort complex through its Philippine
subsidiary, Melco Crown (Philippines) Resorts Corporation ("MCP”). MCE is the developer and owner of
integrated resort facilities historically focused on the Macau market. Its highly successful “City of Dreams”
integrated resort complex on Macau's Cotai Strip houses a gaming facility, a Crown hotel, a Grand Hyatt
hotel, a Hard Rock hotel, and an upscale retail operation, along with a mix of bars and restaurants that
draw large crowds from Hong Kong and China. MCE is building its second integrated resort in Macau, to
be called “Studio City”. On October 8, 2013, MCP announced the use of the name of MCE'’s flagship
Macau resort to brand the integrated resort as “City of Dreams Manila”, and later announced Crown
Towers, Hyatt and Nobu as the hotel brands to be used for the resort’s more than 800 hotel rooms. City
of Dreams Manila has approximately 30 hectares of gross floor area, which houses more than two (2)
hectares of gaming space, more than two (2) hectares of retail and restaurant facilities, more than nine
hundred (900) high-quality hotel rooms and various entertainment facilities. It is currently allowed to
operate a maximum of approximately three hundred eighty (380) gaming tables, one thousand six
hundred and eighty {1,680) slot machines and one thousand six hundred and eighty (1,680) electronic
table games.

Belle and MCE estimate combined investment costs, including the estimated value of land used for the
project, at approximately US$1.3 billion as of December 31, 2015, The soft opening of City of Dreams
Manila took place on December 14, 2014 and the Grand Launch took place on February 2, 2015. Belle
and MCE already satisfied the US$1 billion minimum required level of investiment and all other PAGCOR
Guidelines by the time of its Grand Launch, resulfting in City of Dreams Manila being the first property in
Entertainment City to be issued a Regular License, on May 5, 2015.

Existing investments will continue to be managed at Beille’s listed gaming subsidiary, PLC. PLC, which
is 78.7%-owned by Belle as of December 31, 2015, owns 100% of the capital stock of PLAI and 50.1%
of the capital stock of Pacific Online. PLAI is a co-licensee with Belle and MCP under the PAGCOR
license for City of Dreams Manila, and is entitled to a share of gaming earnings therefrom through an
Operating Agreement with MCE. Pacific Online is a listed company that leases online equipment to the
Philippine Charity Sweepstakes Office for its lottery and keno operations.
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ANNEX TO MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) SECTION

Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the Company,
including any default or acceleration of obligation

None. The Company does not foresee any events that may trigger material financial obligation to the
Company, including defauit or acceleration of an obligation.

All material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangement, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the Company with unconsolidated entities or other
persons created during the reporting period

None. There were no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangement, obligations, and other
relationships of the Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons that the Company is aware of
during the reporting period.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Scheduies as of and for the year ended 31
December 2014 listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules
are filed as part of this Information Statement. Supplementary information are as follows:

1) Supplementary Schedules

Financial Assets

Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees and Principal Stockholders (other
than related parties)

Amounts Receivable from related parties which are eliminated during consolidation of
financial statements

Intangible Assets - Other Assets

Long-Term Debt

indebtedness to Related Parties

Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

Capital Stock

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration

Key Financial Ratios

Cc—IOemMmMoU O wWp

2) Schedule of all the effective standards and interpretations

3) Map of the relationships of the companies within the group
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MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Market Information

The principal market where the registrant's commeon equity is traded is the Philippine Stock Exchange
(“PSE").

The high and low sales prices for each quarter within the last two (2) fiscal years of the registrant's
common shares, as quoted on the PSE, are as follows:

Stock Prices in 2
High & Low
2015
First Quarter 489 | 410
Second Quarter 436 | 3.28
Third Quarter 3.81 2.99
Fourth Quarter 3.58 2.64
2014
First Quarter 577 479
Second Quarter 815 4 .41
Third Quarter 5.60 4.75
Fourth Quarter 5.30 4.65

As of December 31, 2013, Belle’s market capitalization amounted to R30.7 biilion based on the closing
price of £2.91 per share. Belle's market capitalization as of February 29, 2016 amounted to R32.5 billion
based on the closing price of R3.08 per share.

Security Holders
Belle has 1,824 shareholders as of February 29, 2016. Common shares outstanding as of February 29,

2016 totaled 10,498,679,857. The top 20 stockholders as of February 29, 2016, with their corresponding
shareholdings and percentage thereof to total shares outstanding, are:

RANK |~ TUNAME [ No.ofShams Held.| %o To@l

1 BELLESHARES HOLDINGS, INC. 2,604,740,622 24.

2 PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION (NON-FILIPINO) 2,221,499 864 21.160
3 PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION (FILIPINO) 1,719,043 495 16.374
4 SYSMART CORPORATION 1,629,353,802 15.520
5 sM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 695,068,560 6.621
6 SYBASE EQUITY INVESTMENTS CORPORATION 531,320,577 5.061
7 SOCIAL SECURITY SYSTEM 370,469,140 3.529
8 EASTERN SEC. DEVT. CORP. 171,733,866 1.636
9 JACINTO C.JR. NG 135,860,666 1284
10 PREMIUM LEISURE CORP. 95,987,719 0.952
11 JACINTO L. SR. NG 88,835,833 0.846
12 PARALLAX RESOURCES INC. 86,308,131 0822
13 SLW DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 66,082,333 0.629
14 WILLY N. OCIER 42,197,702 0.402
15 JACINTO JR. NG &/OR ANITA C. NG 18,293,333 0.174
16 BENITO TAN GUAT 10,020,000 0.095
17 LIM SIEW KIM 6,200,000 0.059
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RANK] NAME | No.ofStamsied| %o
18 F. YAP SECURITIES, INC. 6,127,000
19 JAMES GO 4 816,999
20 WILLIAM T. GABALDON 4 000,000
Dividends

In Aprii 28, 2014, the Company's Board of Directors (‘BOD") approved the declaration of cash dividends
of Two Centavos {R0.02.) per share. The record date to determine the shareholders entitled to receive
the cash dividends was set on May 13, 2014 with the payment made on June 2, 2014,

On January 27, 2015, the Parent Company’'s BOD approved the declaration of a special dividend of
Bighteen Centavos (0.18) pershare, totaling R1,900.7 million, payable on March 9, 2015 to stockholders
of record as of February 10, 2015. On July 31, 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration
of dividend of R0.095 per share, totaling R1,003.1 miliion, payable on August 28, 2015 to stockholders of
record as of August 14, 2015.

There is no legal restriction that limits or would likely limit Belie's ability to pay dividends, aside from its
retained earnings available for such.

Dividend Policy

1. Dividends shall be paid to all shareholders within thirty (30) days from declaration.
2. The Company shall be compelled to declare dividends when its retained eamings shall be in
excess of 100% of its paid-in capital stock, except:
a. When justified by definite corporate expansion projects or programs approved by the Board;
b. When the Company is prohibited frorm declaring dividends under any loan agreement with any
financial institution or creditor, whether local or foreign, without its consent, and such consent
has not been secured;
c. When it can be clearly shown that such retention is necessary under special circumstances
obtaining in the Company, such as when there is a need for special reserve for probable
contingencies.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The Company did not sell or issue securities within the past three (3) years that were not registered under
the Securities Regulation Code.

Pursuant to the stock rights offering conducted on September 2011, the Company offered for subscription
One Billion Five Hundred Eight Million Four Hundred Eighty-Three Thousand Two Hundred Fifty-Seven
{1,508,483,257) common shares out of its authorized but unissued capital stock to qualified sharehoiders
of record as of 2 September 2011 at an exchange ratio of one (1) offer share for every six (6) common
shares held by qualified sharehoiders of record. The offer price was Three Pesos (R3.00) per share.
Exemption from registration has been claimed under Section 10.1(e) of the Securities Regulation Code,
being a sale by the Company of its common shares to its own stockholders exclusively, and no
commission or other remuneration was paid in connection with such sale of common shares.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Please refer to the portion of this Information Statement on “Directors and Executive Officers”



COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANUAL OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company remains focused on insuring the adoption of systems and practices of good corporate
govemance in enhancing value for its shareholders.

In compliance with the initiative of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"), Belle submitted its
Corporate Governance Manual (the “Manual”) to the SEC. This manual institutionalizes the principles of
good corporate governance in the entire Company. The Company believes that corporate governance,
the framework of rules, systems and processes goveming the perfornance of the Board of Directors and
Management of their respective duties and responsibilities, and from which the organization’s values and
ethics emerge, is of uimost importance to the Company's shareholders and other stakeholders, which
include, among others, clients, employees, suppliers, financiers, government and community in which it
operates. The Company undertakes every effort possible to create awareness throughout the entire
organization.

Even prior to the submission of its Manual, however, the Company already created various Board-level
committees. These committees were comprised of an Executive Commitiee, a Nomination Committee for
the selection and evaluation of qualifications of directors and officers, a Compensation and Remuneration
Committee to look into an appropriate remuneration system, and an Audit Committee to review financial
and accounting matters. A Risk Management Committee was subsequently formed to review the policies
and procedures relating to the identification, analysis, management, monitoring and reporting of financial
and non-financial risks. A Compliance Officer was also appointed. Members of various committees are
expected to serve for a term of one (1) year. The Company submits its Corporate Govermnance Self-Rating
reports to the SEC and PSE as proof of its compliance with the leading practices and principles on good
corporate governance.

The Board establishes the major goals, policies and objectives of the Company, as well as the means to
monitor and evaluate the performance of Management. The Board also ensures that adequate internal
control mechanisms are implemented and properly complied in all levels.

The Company is not aware of any non-compliance with its Manual of Corporate Govemnance, by any of
its directors, officers or employees.
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UNDERTAKING TO PROVIDE PRINTED COPIES OF THE
INFORMATION STATEMENT AND ANNUAL REPORT

UPON WRITTEN REQUEST OF ANY SHAREHOLDER OF RECORD ENTITLED TO NOTICE
OF AND VOTE AT THE MEETING, THE COMPANY SHALL FURNISH SUCH SHAREHOLDER
WITH A COPY OF THE COMPANY’S INFORMATION STATEMENT (ON SEC FORM 20-1S)
AND ANNUAL REPORT (ON SEC FORM 17-A) WITHOUT CHARGE. ANY SUCH WRITTEN

REQUEST SHALL BE ADDRESSED TO:

ATTY.A. BAYANI K. TAN
Corporate Secretary

BELLE CORPORATION
5"FLOOR TOWER A, TWO E-COM CENTER
PALM COAST AVENUE, MALL OF ASIA COMPLEX
CBP-1, PASAY CITY 1300, PHILIPPINES
Email: bayani.tan@bellecorp.com
Tel No.: 632-662-3888
Fax no.: 632-662-8890
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BELLE

CORPOGRATION

U

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY -
FOR CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC Building, EDSA Greenhills
Mandaluvong Citv, Metro Mamia

The management of Belle Carporation and Subsidiaries 1s responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the consolidated fimancial statements for the voars ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, mciuding the
additional components attached therein, m accordance with Philippine Fmancial Reporting Standards. This
responsibilitv inchudes desipming and irmplementing internal controls relevant 1o the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due o
fraud or crror. selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies. and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financiai statements and subnuts the same o0
the stockholders.

SvCip Gorres Velavo & Co.. the mdependent auditors. appomied by the stockholders has examined the
consolidated financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and 1n
its report to the stockholders, has oxpressed its opinion on the faimess of presentation upon completion of such
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BENITO TAN GUAT
Chatrman of the Board

Siened this 29th day of February, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Belle Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Belle Corporation and
Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31,
2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, statements of chang&s'in
equity and statements of cash flows for cach of the three years in the period ended December 3 1, 2015,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
rcasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
nisstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s Judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant {o the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.



Upinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
financial position of Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries as at Dece:
financial performance and their cash flows for each of the three ye

in all material respects. the
mber 31, 2015 and 2014, and their
ars in the period ended

December 31, 2015 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Ramon D. Dizon

Partner

CPA Certificate No. 46047

SEC Accreditation No. 0077-AR-3 {Group A),
February 21, 2013, valid until April 30, 2016

Tax Identification No. 102-085-577

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-17-20135,
February 27, 2013, valid until February 26, 2018

PTR No. 5321631, January 4, 2016, Makati City

February 29, 2016
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BELLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Amounts in Thousands)
December 31
2015 2014
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 9, 40 and 44) 3,570,065 £6.326,509
Investments held for trading (Notes 10, 20, 36 and 44) 226,747 262,815
Receivables - net (Notes | 1, 40 and 44) 1,599,607 1,474 911
Current portion of finance lease receivabie (Notes 38 and 44) 1,419,651 722,745
Real estate for sale - at cost (Note 12) 843,074 935,530
Club shares - at cost (Note 13) 2,995,593 2,700,551
Other current assets (Notes 14 and 37) 2,323,619 2,193 830
Total Current Assets 12,978,356 14,616,891
Noncurrent Assets
Land held for future development (Notes 12 and 24) 3,018,515 3,018,515
Finance lease recetvable - net of current portion (Notes 38 and 44) 15,725,603 8,866,747
Investments in and advances to associates - net (Notes 15, 40 and 44) 65,364 93,909
Available-for-sale financial assets (Notes 16 and 44) 2,041,303 1,887,379
Investment properties (Notes 17, 25 and 38) 1,540,961 4,432 277
Property and equipment (Note 18) 770,716 576,817
Intangible asset (Note 19) 4,970,341 5,249 552
Goodwill (Notes 20 and 21) 1,828,578 1,828 578
Pension asset (Note 39) - 1,103
Deferred tax assets (Note 37) 42,261 41,234
Other noncurrent assets (Note 22) 710,167 778,084
Total Noncurrent Assets 30,713,809 26,774,195
TOTAL ASSETS P43,692,165 41,391,086
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other current liabilities (Notes 12, 24, 40 and 44) $2,435,975 P2.930,340
Loans payable (Notes 23 and 44) 1,000,017 3,000,017
Assignment of receivables with recourse (Notes 11, 40 and 44) - 28026
Income tax payable 49,600 56,546
Estimated liability on construction costs (Note 17) 2,556,836 1,035,028
Current portion of’
Nontrade liability (Notes 26 and 44) 455,886 274,562
Obligations under finance lease (Note 38) 25,028 16,356
Long-term debt (Notes 25 and 44) 362,500 12,500
Installment payable (Notes 38 and 44) 173 928
Total Current Liabilities 6,886,015 7,354,303

(Forward)



December 31

2015 2014
Noncurrent Liabilities
Noncurrent portion of:
Nontrade liability (Notes 26 and 44) #4,839,172 P3,966,694
Long-term debt (Notes 25 and 44) 4,621,875 1.737.500
Obligations under finance lease (Note 38) 93,527 76,494
Installment payable (Notes 38 and 44) - 198
Pension liability (Note 9 12,346 18,787
Deferred tax liabilities - net (Note 7 1,166,104 806,229
Total Noncurrent Liabilitics 10,733,024 6,605,902
TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,619,039 13,960,205
Equity
Attnibutable to equity holders of the parent:
Common stock (Note 27) 10,561,000 10,559,383
Additional paid-in capital 3,503,731 5,503,731
Treasury shares (Note 27) (134,442) -
Equity share in cost of Parent Company shares held
by associates (Note 13) (2,501) (2,501
Cost of Parent Company common and preferred shares held
by subsidiaries (Note 3) (1,749,628) (1,604,824}
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale financial assets - net
(Note 16) 520,618 87,046
Retamed earnings (Note 27) 4,903,882 6,530,078
Other reserves (Notes 2, 3 and 3N 3,085,896 3.272.665
Excess of cost over net asset value of an investment (Note 20) 252,040 252,040
Total Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 22,940,596 24,597,618
Non-controlling interests (Note 3) 3,132,530 2,833,263
Total Equity 26,073,126 27 430,881
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 43,692,165 PB41,391 086

See accompanying Notes to Consoltdated Financial Statements.



BELLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Years Ended December 31
2015 2014 2013
REVENUE
mtqest Imcome on ﬁnmce lease (Note_ 38) £1,917,354 £1,409,173 81,177,570
Equipment rental and instant scratch ticket sales
(Notes 38 and 41) 1,537,648 949,721 -
Gaming revenue share - net (Note 28) 756,238 38,809 -
Sale of_‘ real estate and club shares 347,775 300,252 175,280
Lease income (Note 38) 190,906 188,757 157,136
Revenue from property management 112,682 115,356 105,033
Termination income (Note 4]) - - 949,608
Others (Note 29) 332,879 161,724 59,620
5,195,482 3,163,792 2,624 247
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of lottery services (Note 30) (595,142) (306,021 -
Cost of gaming operations (Note 31) (382,023) (18.709) -
Cost of real estate and club shares sold
{Notes 12 and 32) (157,942) (125,856) (115,389
Cost of lease income (152,584) (11,368) (3.803)
Cost of services for property management
(Notes 12 and 33) (80,208) (88,052} (60,269)
General and administrative expenses (Note 34) (950,414) (731,508) (638,839)
(2,318,313) (1.281,514) {818,300)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Accretion of nontrade liability (Note 26) (631,684) (533,348) -
Interest expense (Note 35) 273,977 (98,723) (103,852)
Net foreign exchange gaimn (loss) 36,135 (7.619) (R6,167)
Interest income (Note 35) 34470 29,979 36,112
Equity 1n net eamings of associates (Note 15} 27,340 117,190 119,940
Gam from cancellation of Swap Agreement
(Note 41) - 1,219,133 -
Gain on significant acquisitions - net (Note 20} - 879,348 -
Gain (loss) on finance lease (Notes 17 and 38) - (812,842) 2,324,434
Gain on share swap (Note 15) - - 772247
Other income (charges) (Note 36) 44,391 14,747 81,052
(783,325 807,865 3,163,766
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 2,093,844 2,690,143 4,969,713
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 37)
Current 306,296 179,943 305,577
Deferred 363,038 (46,474) 1,027,952
669,334 133,469 1,333,529
NET INCOME 1,424,510 2,550,674 3,636,184
(Forward)
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Years Ended December 31
2015 2014 2013
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME.
(LOSS)
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale financial
assets - net (Note 16) $521,570 £277.831 (B205,653)
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale tinancial
assets - net recycled to profit or loss
(Note 16) (87,998) - -
Fair value change due to recovery of previous
impairment (Note 41) - 1,559,847 ~
Recycling of fair value change due to
cancellation of Swap Agreement
(Notes 16 and 41) - (1,559,847) -
Share in unrealized gain (loss) in available-
for-sale financial assets of associates
{Note 15) - 1,573 (8,560)
433,572 279,404 (214,213)
Items not to be reclassified to profit or Toss
in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement gain (loss) of pension
asset/liability - net (Note 39) 9,046 (23,178) 5,880
Income tax effect (2,714) 6,954 (1,764)
6,332 (16,224) 4,116
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS) 439,904 203,180 (210,097)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR P1,864,414 B2,819,854 3426087
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (Note 43) #1,186,460 B2.202.253 P3.639,853
Non-controlling mierests 238,050 354,421 (3,669)
21,424,510 P2,556,674 3,636,184
Total comprehensive income attributable to-
Equity holders of the parent 1,623,417 B2,465,433 83,429,756
Non-controlling interests 240,997 354,421 (3,669)
$1.864,414 B2 819,854 B3 426,087
Basic/Diluted Eamnings Per Share (Note 43) P0.116 BO.216 B(.355

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31
2015 2014 2013
gASH :LOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
come before income tax
Adjustments tor- 2,093,844 P2.69%,143 P4.969.713
Interest income on finance lease (Note 38
Accretion of nontrade liability (Note 26) ) (L(?;Z’gg:) t1:405.173) (L.177.570)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 18. 19, 30. 3], 33 ' 533,348 B
and 34) )
Interest expense (Note 35) 331,135 140,360 34939
Loss (gain) on sale of 3.977 98,723 103,852
Available-for-sale investments (Notes 16 and 36) {99,342) _ -
Investments held for trading (Notes 10 and 36) (7,439) (22.296) _
Property and equipment (Notes 18 and 36 307 (’451) 72 028)
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 36) _ (31.353) )
Amortization of discount on trade receivables | )
(Notes 11 and 2% 56,768 9.9
Unrealized mark-to-market gain on mvestments (56.768) (9.954) (32.280)
held for trading (Note 36) 43,464 34,206
Unrealiz_cd foreign exchange loss - net (36:135) ( 7ﬁ19) 86 16;
[ntcl_'cst_ 1ncotme (Notc 35) _ (34,470) (29,979 (56,112)
Egu_lty In net eamings of associates (Noie 15) 27,340 (117.190) (119,940
D1v1<_iend mconk {Note 29) (23,209 (22,443) .
Pens_m‘n costs (Notes 34 and 39) 20,241 8913 5318
Provision for (reversal of): _
Probable loss on other assets (Note 36) (34,951) 9,034 4418
Doubtful accounts (Note 36) 32,437 5,492 352
Impairment loss on advances to associates (Note 36) - 40 -
Impairment loss on investment in associates (Note 36) (255) - -
Impairment loss on advances to related parties
(Note 36) ~ - 4.137
Gain from cancellation of Swap Agreement (Note 41) - (1,219,133) -
Gain on significant acquisitions - net (Note 20) - (879,348) -
Loss (gain) in finance lease (Notes 17 and 38) - 812.842 (2,324,434)
Gain on share swap (Note 15) - - {772,247
Working capital adjustments:
Decrease (increase) in:
Receivables 895,944 1.266,829 2,552,727
Real estaie for sale 92,456 {361.769) (690.941)
Club shares (295,042) 215475 2,421
Other assets (68,012) (1,782,994) (331,509)
Decrease in trade and other current liabilities {521,390) (113.053) (3.515,856)
Net cash generated from (used for) operations 1,422,872 (244 324) (1,328,871
interest received 34,470 44,929 1,214,806
Income taxes paid (272,151) (123397 (325,601)
Contributions to ihe retirement fund (Note 39) (15,000) (15,000) (10,310)
Net cash provided by (used i) operating activities 1,170,191 (337,792) (449.976)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 7
Expenditures on investment properties (Note 17) (2,171,854) (2.605,824) (977.326)
Acquisitions of’ _
Investment in associate (I_\Iote 15) ©5 135) (‘2 ég’gzg; B
Investments held for trading (Note 10) (366:257) a 04 535) (41.821)

Property and equipment (Note 18)

Payment of subscription (Note 15) (3,675,000}

Forward)

RUIMEEERN



Years Ended December 31

Collection of advances from associate (Note 15) 3 67523(1)3 201?1:1 20;»3
Purchase considetation for acquisitions of subsidiaries. net o )
of cash acquired (Note 20) - (195,576)
Proceeds from redemption of held-to-maturity investments - 781’353 .
Proceeds from disposal of: o )
Investments held for trading (Note 10) 65,181 200.201 -
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16) 308,515 . -
Property and equipment (Notes 18 and 36) 20,037 572 76,294
Interest paid - capitalized to investrrent properties (Note 17) - (80,2853 (11 1502'%)
Decrease in: T
Investments in and advances to associates and related parties 56,140 - 463.014
Escrow fund (Note 41) - - 2.064.450
Short-term investments - - 965
Dividends received (Note 29) 23,209 22 443 -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (2,130,167) (2,424 983) 1,474,553
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments of:
Long-term debt and loans payabie (3,015,625 {4,013.459) (5.250.037)
Interest - net of capitalized interest (273,977 (98.723) (135,586}
Acquisition of Parent Company shares held
by a subsidiary (Note 27) (145,931) (21,192) -
Transaction costs of acquisition and disposal
of non-controlling interest (Note 3} (10,949) (1,138.283)
Proceeds from:
Disposal of Parent Company interest in PLC
without loss of control (Note 2) — 53.534516 -
Availment of loans and long-term debt (Notes 24 and 26) 4,250,000 7.050.000 229941
Collection of subscriptions recetvable
from non-controlling interest 185,481 1,165,644
Disposal of interest in Pacific Online without loss of control
(Note 3) 2,744 254,661 -
ABLGI advance (Note 26) 780,000 - 4.000.000
Disposal of Parent Company shares held by a subsidiary - 2,073 -
Dividends paid (3,039,387) (280.452) -
Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 27) (134,442) - -
Acquisition of non-contrelling interest (Note 27) (74,909) (231.656) -
Increase (decrease) in:
Nontrade liability (377,883) (292,092) -
Advances from related parties (2,479) (2,272 {105.791)
Obligations under finance lease 25,706 118 -
Installment payable (952) (2,336 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (1,832,603) 7,926,507 (1,261,473)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 36,135 (7.619) (12,419
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH i
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,756,444) 3,156,113 (249.315)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,326,509 1,176,396 1.419,711
SH EQUIVALENTS
CASE’IJ}ENDDC(?F YE.SR (Note 9) 13,570,065 P6,326,509 1,170,396

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



BELLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L

General Information

Corporate Information

Be_l]_e Corporation (“Belle” or “Parent Company™) is a stock corporation organized in the
Philippines on August 20, 1973 and was listed at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on

F eb_ruary 2, 1977. The businesses of Belle, direct and through subsidiaries and associates, include
magnly r_eal estate development, principally in the high-end leisure property market, gaming and
various investment holdings.

The registered office address of Belle is 5th Floor. Tower A, Two E-Com Center, Palm Coast
Avenue, Mall of Asia Complex, CBP-1A, Pasay City.

Authorization of the Issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with
a resolution of the Board of Directors (BOD) on February 29, 2016.

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for

mvestments held for trading and availabie-for-sale (AFS) financial assets which have been
measured at fair value (see Notes 10 and 16). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Philippine peso, the Parent Company’s functional and presentation currency, and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise mdicated.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company

and all of its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Company™} as at December 31, 2015 and
2014. Specifically, the Company controls an investee, if and only if, the Company has:

e Power over the investee (i.c., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee);
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting and similar rights of an investee. the
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an

mvestee, including;

o The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the mvestee,
o Rights arising from other contractual arrangements: and
e The Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

RN
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The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investec if facts and circumstances indicate
that ?ht;re are changes to one or micre of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a
subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are meluded in the consolidated financial statements from
the date the Company gains control until the date the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the
equity holders of the Parent Company and to the non-~controtling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Company’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income and
cxpenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Company are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Company loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related
assets (including goodwill), Liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity
while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any mvestment retained is
recognized at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements compnse the financial statements of Belle and the following
subsidiaries that it controls:

2015 2014
Percentage of Ownership Percentage of Ownership
Subsidiarics Industry Direct  Indirect Total Direct  Indirect Total
Belle Bay Plaza Cotporalion (Belle Bay Plaza)* Investment 100.0 - 100.0 100.0 - 100.0
Metropolitan Leisure and Tourism Corporation
(ML.TCy* Tavestment 100.0 - 100.0 160.¢ - 100.0
Parallax Resources, Inc. (PRIy* Investment 100.0 - 100.0 100.0 100.0
SLW Development Corporation (SLW)* Investment 100.0 - 100.0 100.0 - 100.0
Belle Grande Resource Holdings Inc. Investrment 90.0 - 90.0 90.0 - 90.0
Premism Leisure Corp. (PLC) (formerly Sinophil i
Corporation) and Subsidiaries: Gaming 78.7 1.0 79.7 787 0.3 79.0
PremiumLeisure and Amusement Inc. (PLAFR) Gaming - 100.0 106.0 - 190.0 100.0
Foundation Capital Resources Ing.* Investment - 100.0 100.0 - 100.0 100.0
Sinophil Leisure and Resorts Corporation® Investment - 100.0 100.0 - 100.0 [00.0
Pacific Online Systems C ration .
(Pacific Onli.nZ) and Suﬁ?ij:l)iaries: Gaming - 50.1 50.1 16.6 353 51.9
Loto Pacific Leisure Corporation (LotoPac)Gaming - 100.0 %0.1 - 100.0 100.0
Lucky Circle Corporation (LCC) Gaming - 1000 50.1 - 10¢.0 100.0
Total Gaming Technologies, Inc. (T'GTl) Gaming - 98.9 98.9 - 98.9 98.9
Falcon Resources Ine. (FRT) Gaming - 100.0 100.0 - 160.0 100.0

*Non-operating
The Company’s subsidiaries are all incorporated in the Philippines.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent
Company using consistent accounting policies.

Material Partlv-owned Subsidiaries

Pacific Online

The non-controlling intercsts of Pacific Online are matcrial to the Company. Non-controlling
interest holds 48.1% as at December 31, 2014.



The summarized financial information of Pacit; ine | i i
| ¢ Online is provided below. This i 10N 1
based on amounts before Intercompany eliminations, b T information i

Summarized Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2014

2014
It Thousands)
Total current assets B1,771.169
Total noncurrent assets
Sy 580,392
Total current liabilities (458.632)
Total noncurrent liabilitics (94.431)
Total equity £1,798. 498
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent #803,723
Non-controlling interests 994,775
Total P1,798 498
Summarized Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended
December 31, 2014:
2014
{In Thousands)
Revenues 21,030.329
Costs and expenses (635.368)
Other charges - net (151,903)
Income before income tax 243 (58
Provision for income tax {120,002)
Net income 123,056
Other comprehensive loss (11,564)
Total comprehensive income 2111492
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent B43.113
Non-controlling interests 68,379
Total 2111492

Summarized Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the vear ended December 31, 2014

2014
{In Thousands)

Operating B502.535
Investing (187,764)
Financing (,445)

£309,326

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

L
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Dividends paid to non-controlling interests in 2014 amounted to #74.6 million. On August 5
2015, the remaining direct interest of the Parent Company in Pacific Online was soldto PLC. As
a result of the transaction, the Company recognized additional non-controlling interests amounting
to 2190.2 million and a credit to *“Other reserves - transactions with non-controlling interest”
amounting to #190.2 million in the equity section of the 2015 consolidated statement of financial
position, gross of transactions costs amounting to £10.9 million. Accordingly, the non-controlling
interests attributable to Pacific Online are already included in the non-controlling interests
attributable to PL.C as at December 3 I, 2015.

PLC

The non-controlling interests of PLC are material to the Company. Non-controlling interests hold
20.9% and 21.0% as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

The summarized financial information of PLC is provided below. This information is based on
amounts before intercompany eliminations.

Summarized Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as at December 31, 2015 and 2014

2015 2014
(In Thousands)

Total current assets £3,147,209 £3.035,433

Total noncurrent assets 13,294,789 12,837 428

Total current liabilities 440,574 83.953

Total noncurrent liabilitics 112,166 1,048

Total equity £15,889,258 £15,787 860
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent 212,762,884 P13,949 372

Non-controlling interests 3,126,374 1,838,488

Total £15,889,258 215787 860

Summarized Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended

December 31, 2015 and 2014:
2015 2014
(In Thousands)

Revenue £1,475,565 238 809
Costs and expenses {1,209,625) (420,367)
Other income charges - net 141,978 1,725,620
Income before income tax 407918 1,344,062
Provision for income tax (184,763) (5.117)
Net income 223,155 1,338,945
Other comprehensive income (loss) (286,137) 19,431
Total comprehensive income (loss) (P#62,982) 21,358,376
Atiributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent (P216,401) 21,072,334

Non-controlling interests 153,419 286,042
Total (R62,982) 21358376




Summarized Consolidated Statements of Cagh F lows for the years ended December 31_ 2015 and

2014:
2015 2014
‘ tIn Thousands)
%Z?;"gg 970,611 (R383,598)
Financing (1,805,245) (11,020,891)
Net _ i (669,931) 14,095 686
¢t increase in cash and cash equivalents {£1,504,565) P2 691 ’] 97

i _ , thus ;111 of the;
related gains and related transaction costs were accounted for directly in equity. As a result of the

sale, the Cpmpany recogmzed additional non-controlling interests amounting to R1,704.1 mitlion
and a credlt' to “cher reserves - transactions with non-controlling interests™ amoun;.ing to
P3,81_30_.4 nullion m the equity section of the 2014 consolidated statement of financial position
pertaming to the proceeds from the sale, net of transaction costs.

Corporate Reorganization

On June 2, 2014, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the plan to transfer the gaming
business and interests of Belle to PLC (the “Investment Plan™) by authorizing the sale of the
Parent Company’s investments in PLAI and Pacific Online. PLAI is 2 grantee by PAGCOR of a
License to operate integrated resorts, including casinos in the vicinity of Entertainment City.

On June 20, 2014, the Parent Company and PLC entered into a subscription agreement for
24,700,000,000 common shares of PLC at a subscription price of #0.369 per share or a total
subscription of #9,114.3 million, thercby increasing the Company’s ownership in PLC to 89.8%.
Subscription payments were made by the Parent Company in July 2014. As a result, the Company
recognized £1,896.0 million adjustment to non-controlling interests. Transaction costs amounting
to #54.0 million were charged to “Other reserves - transactions with non-controlling interests™ in
the equity section of the 2014 consolidated statement of financial position. The Company’s
consolidated interest in PLC was subsequently reduced by the sale of approximately 3.5 billion
shares in PLC in the secondary market (see Note 2).

On July 22, 2014, Belle and PLC executed a Deed of Sale of Shares for the sale of 100%
ownership interest in PLAI by Belie to PLC for a consideration of P10,847.8 million. The
transaction resulted in a B55.3 million adjustment to non-controlling interests in the Company s
2014 consolidated financial statements. Transaction costs amounting to B1,084.3 million were
charged to “Other reserves - transactions with non-controlling interests” in the equity section of
the 2014 consolidated statement of financial position.

On July 22, 2014, PLC executed several Deeds of Sale of Shares with Belle and certain of its
substdiartes for the acquisition of 101,668,953 common shares of Pacific Online at a subscription
price of £15 per share, equivalent {0 34.5% ownership interest in Pacific Online, for a total
consideration of 1,525 0 million. Thas resulted to a decrease in the Parent Company’s direct
ownership interest in Pacific Online to 16.2% immediately after the sale. The transactions
resulted in a #£304.9 million adjustment to non-controlling interests.

LU



s?ll to Bell.e its non-gaming related assets consisting of the followi
chnmnated in the Company’s consohidated financiaj Statements:

*  Membership shares ; T ' ' i
Blogo mm;l_)on; ©s n Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc, (TMGCD) for a consideration of
*  Alot with gross area of 4,348 square meters located withi 1
: Ot 4, S n the Aseana Business P k
Manila Bay Reclamation Area for a consideration of B250(,( million; and Tk at the

* Several parcels of land in The Parks at Sarato a Hills within the T i
for a consideration of B73.4 million. © ey Midiands complex

On July 22, 201 4, Belle and PLC executed a Memorandum of Agreement for the redemption of
1,000,000,000 preferred shareg by Belle for a cash consideration of £1,000.0 milion,

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the
amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is
permutted to recognize such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in
which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service.
The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since the Company’s retirement plans are noncontributory.

Annual Improvements to PFRS (2010 to 2012 cycie)

The Annual Improvements to PFRS (2010 10 2012 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. Except as otherwise stated, the adoption of these
amendments did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

® PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition, is apphied prospectrvely and
clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of performance and service conditions which

are vesting conditions, including:

A performance condition must contain a service condition
A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of
another entity in the same group

* A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition

» Ifthe counterparty, regardless of the reason. ceases lo provide service during the vesting
period, the service condition is not satisfied.

* PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accountin g for Contingent Consideration in a Business
Combination, is applied prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after July 1, 2014, It clarifies that a contmgent consideration that is not classified
as equity is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not it falls

within the scope of PAS 39,
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PFRS 8,. Operating Segrrzems - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the
7; otqé/ o{hthe Reportable Segments ' Assets to the Entity's Assets, are applied retrospectively and
clari at: )

. An entity must disclose the judgments made by management in applying the aggregation
critena m the standard, including a brief description of operating segments that have been
aggregated and the econontic characteristics (e, 2., sales and gross margins) used to assess
whether the segments are “similar’.

e The ret_:qnqilia?ion of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required
disclosure for segment Habilities.

PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of
Accumulated Depreciation, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets: Revaluation Method -
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Amortization, is apphed retrospectively and
clarifies in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that the asset may be revalued by reference to the observable
data on either the gross or the net carrying amount. In addition, the accumulated depreciation
or amortization is the difference between the gross and carrying amounts of the asset.

PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel, is applied retrospectively
and clarifies that a management entity, which is an entity that provides key management
personnel services, is a related party subject to the related party disclosures. In addition, an
cntity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the expenses incurred for
management SCrvICes.

Annual Improvements to PFRS (201] to 2013 cyele)

The Annual Improvements to PFRS (2011 to 2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary
amendments to the following standards. Except as otherwise stated, the adoption of these
amendments did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements, 1s applied
prospectively and clanfies the following regarding the scope exceptions within PFRS 3:

e Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of PFRS 3.

s This scope exception applies only {o the accounting in the financial statements of the joint
arrangement itself.

PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception. 1s appled prospective]y and
clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can be applied not only to financial asscts and
financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of PAS 39

PAS 40, Investment Property, is applied prospectively and clarifies that PFRS 3, qnd not the
description of ancillary services in PAS 40, 1s used to determine if the? transactign ls_thc
purchase of an asset or business combination. The description of gmcﬂlaxy services tn PAS 40
only differentiates between investment property and owner-occupied property (i.e., property.

plant and equipment).

MINEIREHEN
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PFRS 11, JointArra;_"zgements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
(Am_eqdments), Tequire that a joint operator tha is accounting for the acquisition of an mtefest
In a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, must
apply the; relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The ame;ndments
also 919{11‘3/ that a previously held interest in a Joint operation is not remeasured on the
acquisition of an additional interest in the same Joint operation while joint controf is retained
In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 1] to specify that the amendments do-
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the repofting entity, are under
common control of the same ultimate controlling party.

The z-m_‘u‘andments apply to both the acquisition of the initial Interest in a joint operation and the
acquisition of any additional interesis in the same Joint operation and are prospectively
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with carly adoption
permitted.

PERS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts, is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose
acti'vg'tics are subject to rate-regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting
policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon iis first-time adoption of PFRS.

PFRS 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Since the
Company is an existing PFRS preparer, this standard would not apply.

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments), are
intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the presentation and disclosure
requirements in PFRS. They clarify the following:

* That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either
obscuring material information with immaterial information; or aggregating material items
that have different natures or functions

»  That specific line items in the statement of income and QCJ and the statement of financial
position may be disaggregated

» That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial
statements

»  That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those
items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Early application is permitted and entities do not need to disclose that fact as the amendments
are considered to be clarifications that do not affect an entity’s accounting policies or
accounting estimates. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on
its consolidated financial statements.

PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements. PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other
tintities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - lvestment Enfities:
Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments), clarify that the ex_emptiop in PFR_S _10
from presenting consolidated financial statements applics to a parent entity that is a subsidiary
of an investment entity that measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value and that only a
subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides
support services to the investment entity parent is consolidated. The a_tmendmgnts als_o Qllow
an investor (that is not an investment entity and has an mvestment entity associate or joint
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venture), when applying th§ equjty method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by

amendmgnts are not applicable to the Company since the Company is not an investment entity
nor does it have investment entity associates. )

Arnnual Improvements 10 PFRS (2012-201 4 cycle)
The Anmual Improvements to PFRS (2012-2014 cycle) are effective for anmal periods beginning

on ;erafter January 1, 2016 and are noi expected to have a material impact on the Company. They
mclude: ’

o PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held Jor Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in
Methods of Disposal, is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal
through sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be
considered to be a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There
is, therefore, no interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRS 5. The
amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal method does not change the date of
classification.

* PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Coniracts, requires an entity to
provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a transferred asset that is derecognized
in its entirety. The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can
constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the
fee and arrangement against the guidance for continuing involvement in PFRS 7 in order to
assess whether the disclosures are required. The amendment is to be apphied such that the
assessment of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be
done retrospectively. However, comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for
any period beginning before the annual period in which the entity first applies the
amendments.

* PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PERS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial
Matements (Amendments), is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on
offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim
financial report unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the
most recent annual report.

» PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate, is applied
prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based
on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the
obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that
currency, government bond rates must be used.

o PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information “Elsewhere in the Interim
Financial Report, is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures
must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between
the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim
financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report).
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Effective January 1, 2018

mpairment, and hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after Janmary 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required
but comparative information is not compulsory. Early application of previous versions of
PFRS 9 is permitted if the date of initial application is before February 1, 2015

The adoption of PFRS 9 (2014 version) will have an effect on the classification and
measurement of the Company”s financial assets but will have no impact on the classification
and measurement of the Company’s financial liabilities. The adoption of the other phases of
the project is not expected to have any significant impact on the Company’s consolidated

financial statements. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this
standard.

The following new standard and amendments issued by the IASB has not yet been adopted
by the FRSC:

* International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects o be entitled to in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue. The new revenue standard is
applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.

o IFRS 16, Leases, was issued in January 2016. Under the new standard, lessees will no longer
classify their leases as cither operating or finance leases in accordance with [AS 17, Rather,
leases will apply the single-asset model, wherein lessees will recognize the assets and the
related liabilities for most leases in their balance sheets and, subsequently, will depreciate the
lease assets and recognize interest on the lease liabilitics in their profit or loss. The
accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the

- principles of lessor accounting under IAS 17. The accounting by lessors is substantially
unchanged as the new standard carries forward the principles of lessor accounting under
IAS I7. Lessors, however, will be required to disclose more informatton in their financial
statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residnat value. The new standard is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 and plans to adopt the
new and amended standards on their required effective dates once adopted locally.

' |
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6. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fair Value Measurement
Th 1al 1 ivati
e Company measures tinancial mstruments such as derivatives and non-financiaj assets such ag

investment Properties, at fair value at each reporting date.

* In the principal marke_:t fgr the asset or Liability; or
* Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest,

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate m the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows. based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Company’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring and
nonrecurring fair value measurements.

For the purposc of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classg:s qf assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level

of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Farr value measurement disclosures are presented in Note 44.

L L



'

—

L ¥ ]
i

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash 1_nc]udes cash on hand and in banks. Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank
deposit rates.

Cash equivalents are shqrt'-term, hi ghly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cqsh. wﬂh original maturity of three months or less from date of acquisition and are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial Assets

Date of Recognition of Financial Assets. The Company recognizes financial assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on
scttlement date, i.c., the date that an asset is delivered to or by the Company.

Initial Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets. Financial assets are recognized initially
at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assct.

Categories of Financial Assets. Financial assets. at initial recognition, are classified as financial
assets at FVPL, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS financial assets
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and, where
allowed and appropriate, re-cvaluates such classification every financial reporting date.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has no derivatives designated as hedging
instruments.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial asscts at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sclling or repurchasing in
the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by
PAS 39,

The Company’s financial assets held for trading consist of equity instruments in quoted shares
of stock shown as shown under “Investments held for trading” account m the consolidated

statements of financial position (see Note 10).

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. These are not entered into with the intention of
immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as financial assets at FVPL or AFS

financial assets.

This category includes the Company’s receivables, finance lease receivable, d‘.:positqs‘ _
advances to associates, as shown under “Investments in and advances to associates” account in
the consolidated statement of financial position, advances to related parties and guarantee

bonds (sce Notes 11, 14, 15 and 40).

RIIRKIREREN
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HTM Investments

HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financiaf assets with fixed or determinabie
Payments and fixed maturity that the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity, Wh_cn the Company sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM financia]
assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as AF S financial assets.

AFS Financial Assets

AFS financial assets inchude Ccquity investments and debt securities. Equity investments
classified as AFS are those that are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair

_in response to chang_es in the market conditions. The Company designates financial
1_115tru;nents as AFS if they are purchased and held indefinitely and may be sold in response (o
hiquidity requirements or changes in market conditjons.

This category inclqdes the Company s investments in quoted and unquoted equity securities
shown under “Available-for-sale financial assets” account in the consolidated statements of
financial position (see Note 16).

Subsequent Measurement. For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in four categories: F VPL, Loans and Receivables, HTM Investments and AFS financia
assets.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financiat
posttion at fair value with net changes in fair value presented as part of “Other income
(charges)” account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective mterest
rate (EIR) method less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
EIR amortization is recognized in profit or loss. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the loans and receivab_le_s
are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. The losses arising
from impairment are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

HTM mvestments

These investments are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method, less
mmpairment in value. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integr_al part of the EIR. The EIR
amortization is included under “Interest income” account in the consolu_iated‘ statement of
comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the
consohidated statement of comprehensive income.
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AFS Financial Assets

AFS ﬁganc:al assets are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses
recognized as a separate component of other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
until the investment is derecognized or determined to be impaired, at which time, the

cumulative gaiq or loss is recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

AFS financial Aassets in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market, or derivatives linked to such cquity instruments are measured at cost becausc its fair
value cannot be measured reliably.

The Company evaluates its AFS financial assets whether the ability and intention to sell such
in the near term is still appropriate. When the C ompany is unable to trade these financial
assets duc to inactive markets and management’s intent significantly changes to do so in the
foreseeable future, the Company may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare
circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when the financial asset
meets the definition of loans and receivables and the Company has the intent and ability o
hold these assets for the foresecable future or maturity. The reclassification to HTM is
permitted only when the Company has the ability and intent to hold until the financial asset
matures accordingly.

For a financial asset reclassified from the AFS financial assets category, the fair value
carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its new amortized cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognized in other comprehensive income is
amortized to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest method. Any difference between
the new amortized cost and the expected cash flows is also amortized over the remaining life
of the asset using the EIR method. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in the consolidated statement of changes in equity is reclassified to
the profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where the Company holds more than one investment in the same security, these are deemed to
be disposed of on a specific identification basis. Interest earned on holding AFS financial
assets are reported as interest income using the effective interest rate. Dividends carned on
holding AFS financial assets are recogmzed in profit or loss 1n the consolidated statement of
comprehensive mmcome when the right to receive payment has been established. The losses
arising from impairment of such financial assets are recognized in profit or loss in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial Liabilitics

Date of Recognition of Financial Liabilities. The Company recognizes financial labilities in the

consolidated statement of financial position when 1t becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Initial Recognition of Financial Liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognized imtially at far
value and in the case of other financial liabilities. net of directly attributable transaction costs.

UL
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;Ga;fones of Fma;.ma{ Ll:qbflz’ties. Financial liabilities are classified as financial Habilities at

, pthe_r financial lngbihUes which are measyred at amortized cost or as derivatives designated
as he'dgmg_ instruments mn an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the &
classification of its financial liabilities at witial recognition and, where allowed and appropr; t
re-evaluates such classification every financial reporting date. pproprate

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014. the Com 1al liabiliti
atD T 31, . pany has no financial liabilit
derivatives designated as hedging instraments. FPes A At FVPL and

Other financial liabilities arc not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception

qf tl}f: l_iabﬂity. This includes liabilities arising from operations (e.g.. trade and other current
hiabilities).

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014_. this categorv includes the Companys loans payable. trade

Subsequent Measurement. Afier initial recognition, other financial Kabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the EIR method, Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognized
as well as through the amortization process. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
EIR amortization is recognized in profit or ioss.

Offsetting of Financiai Assets and Financial Ligbilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount s reported in the
consolidated statement of financial posttion if, and only if, therc is a currently enforceable right to
offset the recognized amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

“Day 1" Difference

Where the transaction price in a nonactive market is different from the fair value of other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 17 difference) in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other
type of asset. In cases where unobservable data is used, the difference.between the transaction
price and model value is only recognized in profit or loss in the consohdgted statement of
comprehensive income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is
derecognized. For each transaction, the Company determines the appropriate method of
recognizing the “Day 17 difference amount.

Classification of Financial Assets and Financral Liabilities Between Debt and Equity
A financial asset and financial liability is classified as debt if it provides for a contractual
obligation to:

* deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity: or _ N
* exchange financial assets or financial labilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Company; or _
= satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

NN
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Hthe Compaqy does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Cpmpany assesses at cach reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
ﬁnanC{al asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets 1s deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred
“loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or _the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
mclude indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows such as changes In arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost. For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the
Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are
not mdividually significant. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
mcurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial assct’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced through use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount based on the effective interest rate of the asset.

If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset 1s included in a group of financial assets with
swmilar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss 1s or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The Company provides an allowance for loans and receivables which they deemed to be
uncollectible despite the Company 's continuous effort to collect such balances from the respective
customers. The Company considers those past due receivables as still collectible if they become
past due only because of a delay on the fulfillment of certamn conditions as agreed 1n the contract
and not due to incapability of the customers to fulfili their obligation. However, for those
receivables associated with pre-terminated contracts, the Company directly writes them off from
the account since there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, n a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previqusly
recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss 1s
recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, to the extent
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.

AFS Financial Assets. For AFS equity investments, the Company assesses at cach teporting date
whether there is objective evidence that an ivestment or a group of investments is impaired. The
evidence of impairment for equity securitics classified as AFS fmaqcnal assets would include a
significant or prolonged decling in fair value of investments belqw its cost. Where there is o
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition
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cost an_d the_ current fair value, less any i pairment loss on that financial asset previously
recogmzed_m the other comprehensive income - is removed from other comprehensive mcome
and recogmized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Impmr_mcnt losses on equity investments are not reversed through the profit or loss in tﬁe
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Increases in fair value after impairment are

recognized d_irec_:tly n other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial Asset Carried at Cost. 1f there is objective cvidence that an impairment loss on an
unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of suchan
unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

* the Company’s right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; or

» the Company retains the right to recetve cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement, or

* the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Company has transferred its right to recetve cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a “pass-through™ arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the
Company also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liabihty
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Company could be required to repay.

Financial Liabilities. A financial liabtlity is derecognized when the obligation under the Liability
is discharged or cancelled or has expired.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive Income.

Real Estate for Sale and L.and Held for Development

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be
held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and

net realizable value (NRV).
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Cogt includes land acquisition Ccost, amounts paid to contractors for construction, planning and
design costs, costs of site preparation, professtonal fees, property transfer taxes, construction

overheads and other related' costs. Non-refundable commissions paid to sales or marketing agents
on the sale of real estate units are expensed when incurred.

NRV is the f.stimatcd selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on market prices
at the reporting date and discounted for the time value of money if material, less costs to complete
and the estimated costs of sale. The cost of inventory property recognized in profit or loss on
dlsposgl is determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property sold and
allocation of any non-specific costs based on the relative size of the property sold. NRV in respect
o_f lqnd under development is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for
similar completed property, less estimated costs to complete construction and less an estimate of
the time value of money to the date of completion.

Ciub Shares

Club shares are stated at the lower of cost and NRV. The cost of club shares sold is determined on
the basis mainly of the actual development cost incurred plus the estimated development cost to
complete the project based on the estimates as determined by the in-house engineers, adjusted with
the actual costs incurred as the development progresses. NRV is the estimated selling price less
estimated cost to complete and sell,

Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Company has significant influence and which is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee. but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The considerations made in determining significant influence or control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. Investments in associates are accounted for under
the equity method. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the
Company’s share of net assets of the associates since their respective acquisition dates. Goodwill
relating to the associates is included in the carrving amount of the investments and is not tested for
impairment individually.

Under the equity method, the investments in associates are mitially recognized at cost.

The profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Company”s
share of the results of operations of the associates. When there has been a change recognized
directly n the equity of the associates, the Company recognizes its share of any changes and
discloses this, when applicable, as part of other comprehensive income and in the consolidated
statement of changes 1n equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Company and the associates are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.

The aggregate of the Company’s share in income or loss of associates is shown on the face of the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. This is the income or loss attril;utable to equity
holders of the associates and therefore is mncome or loss after tax and non-controlling interest in

the subsidiaries of the associates.

If the Company’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds the carrying amount of an ‘
investment, the Company discontinues including its share of further losses. After the Company's
investment is reported at zero value, additional losses are provided for anc_i a l_iability is recognized
only to the extent that the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Company
resumes recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the share of

net losses not recognized.
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After application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary to
Tecognize an addi.tional impairment loss on the Company’s investment in its associates The
Con_’lpany deterpnnes at cach reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that each of
the mvestn;ent n associates is impaired. If such evidence exasts, the Company calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the investment in

assoctate and its carrying value and recognizes the loss against profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Company measures and recognizes anv
yetained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the )
Investment in associates upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized n profit or loss in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent
Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with
those of the Parent Company .

Investment Properties

Investment properties comprise of land and building under construction held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when
the definition of an investment property is met. Investment property is measured mitially at cost
including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal
services and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an
existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and
excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties, except for land, are stated at amortized cost less impairment
and accumulated depreciation, if any. Investment properties under construction are not
depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are completed and become available for
operational purpose.

Investment property 1s derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses. which are the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment property, on the rcti_rem‘ent or d_lsposal, are
recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year of

retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by ending of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating 1eas_e to another_
party. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in
use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a

view to sale.

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method except for pusmcss
combinations under common control in which an accounting similar to pooling of interest method
is used. Business combinations under common control are those in which all of the combining
entities or businesses are controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the business
combination, and that control is not transitory. Under the acquisition method, the cost of an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition
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date f‘all' yalue and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business
combination, the acquirer measures the non-conirolling interest in the acquiree cither at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs
mcurrf?d are expensed and included in “Genera) and adminisirative expenses” account in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

For accounting similar to pooling of interest method, the assets, liabilities and equity of the
acquired companies for the reporting period in which the common control business combinations
occur, and for any comparative periods presented, are included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company at their carrying amounts as if the combinations had occurred from the
date when the acquired companies first became under the control of the Company. The excess of
the cost of business combinations over the net carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the
acquired companies is recognized under “Excess of cost over net asset value of an investment”
account in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial position.

When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and habilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date, This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

I the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. It is
then considered in the determination of goodwill.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of PAS 39 is measured at fair value with changes m fair value
recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwall

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling inter
costs and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and Labilities
assumed. After mitial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. If the fair valuc of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration
transferred, the Company re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired
and all of the habilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be
recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of
net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in
profit or loss as part of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

If the mitial accounting for a business combination is imcomplete by the end of the reporting
period in which the combination occurs, the Company measures in its consolidated financial
statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. During the
measurement period, the Company retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts recognized at
the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts
recognized as of that date. During the measurement period, the Company also recognizes
additional assets or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those
assets and liabilities as of that date. The measurement period ends as soon as the Company

NN



receiye_:g the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date or learns that more information is not obtainable. The measurement period does
not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwiil acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisitton date, allocated to each of the Company’s cash generating units, or group of cash
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination irrespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or group of units.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:

* represents the lowest level within the Company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes; and

* 1s not larger than an operating segment or determined in accordance with PFRS 8, Operating
Segment.

[mpairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit or
group of cash generating units, 1o which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit or group of cash generating units is less than the carrying amount. an
impairment loss is recognized. Where goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit or group of
cash generating units and part of the operations within the unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained. Impairment loss with respect to goodwill is not reversed.

Negative goodwill which 1s not in excess of the fair values of the acquired identifiable
nonmonetary assets of subsidiaries and associates is charged directly to income.

Transfers of assets between commonly controlled entities are accounted for under historical cost
accounting,

When business combination involves more than one exchange transaction (occurs in stages), each
exchange transaction is treated separately by the Company, using the cost of transaction and fair
value information at the date of each exchange transactions, to determine the amount of goodwill
assoctated with that transaction. Any adjustment to fair value relating to the previously held
mterest 1s a revaluation and is accounted for as such.

When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus
goodwill is recognized in profit or loss.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, except land, are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes of the cost of replacing part of the
property and equipment and borrowing costs for long term construction projects if the recognition
criteria are met. When significant parts of plant and equipment are recognized to be replaced at
intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives, Likewise,
when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrving amount of the property
and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and
maintenance costs are charged against profit or Ioss in the consolidated statement of
comprehenstve income as mcurred. Land is carned at cost net of accumulated 1mpairment losses,

if any.



Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives
of the assets:

Lottery equipment 4--10 vears or term of lease,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 15 years or the term of the lease,
whichever is shorter

Machinery and equipment 5 years

Condominium units and improvements 17 years

Transportation equipment 4-5 years or the term of the lease,

. whichever is shorter
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 vears

The residual values, usefid lives and methods of depreciation of property and equipment are
reviewed at cach financial year-end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Construction-in-progress represenis property and equipment under construction and is stated at
cost. This includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Construction-in-progress is
transferred to the related property and equipment when the construction or installation and related
activities necessary to prepare the property and equipment for their intended use have been
completed. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until such time that assets are completed
and available for use.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
the year the asset is derecognized.

Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in
use.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangtble assets,
excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and the related expenditure is
reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year the expenditure is
incurred.

The useful lives of mtangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lrves are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for imparment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives 1s recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the expense category consistent with the function of
intangible assets.
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Other Assets

Other assets are stated at cost less accumulated mmpairment losses, if any are shown in the
consolidated statement of financia) position. The accounting policies specific to the related assets
are as follows:

Creditable Withholding Tax (CWT). CWT is recognized by virtue of Republic Act No, 3424, also
known as the Tax Reform Act of 1997, relative to the withholding on income subject to expanded
and final withholding tax on compensation, value-added tax and other percentage taxes. CWT is
recognized when the other party withheld certain taxes pavable to the tax authority, and is reduced
to the extent of that CWT which will not be realized through the use of an allowance account.

Instant Scratch Tickets, Spare Parts and Supplies. Instant scratch tickets, spare parts and supplies
are included under “Other current assets™ account i the consolidated statements of financial
position. Instant scratch tickets are valued at cost, less any impairment loss. Spare parts and
supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost, which includes all costs
attributable to acquisition, is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Net realizable value
of spare parts and supplies is its current replacement cost.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets (excluding Goodwill)

The Company asscsses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that investments in
associates, investment properties, property and equipment, intangible asset and other assets may
be impaired. If any such indication exists and when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (C GU) fair value less costs
to sell or and its value in use. The recoverable amount and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples and other available fair value indicators. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pretax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to

the asset.

Any impairment loss 1s recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired assets.

For asset excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or
have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s or CGU’s
recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a
change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last



Redtzined carnings represent the accumulated earnings of the Company, net of dividends declared
to date.

Treasury Shares

Treasury shares represent issued Parent Company shares which werc subsequently repurchased.
These are recorded at cost and shown in the consolidated statements of financial position as a
deduction from equity.

Equity Share in Cost of Parent Compan Shares Held by Associates

Equity share in cost of Parent Company common shares held by associates represents the amount
that reduces the Company’s “Investments in and advances to associates” account and equity
balanpc by the Company’s cffective ownership tn Parent Company common shares held by
associates.

Cost of Parent Company Common and Preferred Shares Held by Subsidiaries

Cost of Parent Company common shares held by subsidiaries are equity instruments which are
reacquired (treasury shares) and are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss
1s recognized in the profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. Any difference

between the carrying amount and the consideration is recognized in other reserves.

Non-controlling Interest (NCI)
the Parent Company and

NCI represents the portion of profit or loss and the net assets not held by

are presented separately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statements of financial position, separately from total equity attributable
to owners of the Parent Company. Any losses applicable to a non-controlling shareholder of a
consolidated subsidiary in excess of the non-controlling shareholder’s equity in the subsidiary are
charged against the NCI even if this results in NCI having a deficit.

NCl represent the equity interest m PLC and Pacific Online not held by the Parent Company.

Revenue Recogmtion

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the amount of the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or reccivable. taking into account contractually defined

terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.
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The _Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criterig to determine if it i acting
as principal or agent. Except for *Commission income,” the Company has concluded that it is

acting as a principal in all of its revenye arrangements. Th ; : i
: - The following specific recognition cri
must also be met before revenue is recognized: &P &n criteria

Real estate sales, where the Company has material obligations under the sales contract to provide
improvements after the property are sold, are accounted for under the percentage of completion
method. Under this method, the gain on sale is realized as the related obli gations are fulfilled and
the units are completed, measured principally as a percentage of actual cost incurred to date over
the total estimated project cost.

If none of the revenue recognition criteria are met, deposit method is applied until all the
conditions for recording a sale are met. Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buvers is
accounted as customers’ deposits included under “Trade and other current liabilities™ account in
the consolidated statements of financial position,

Equipment Rental and Instant Scrarch Ticket Sales. [ncome from equipment rental of central
computer, communications equipment, including its accessories, lotto termmals, including the
right to use the application software and manuals for the central computer system and terminais
and draw equipment, as well as maintenance and repair fees are recognized based on a certain
percentage of gross sales of the lessee’s online lotiery operations, as computed by the lessee in
accordance with the agreement, or a fixed annual rental per terminal in commercial operations,
whichever is higher.

Revenue from sale of instant scratch tickets is recognized when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the Instant Scratch Tickets (tickets) have passed to the buyer and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably, net of all directly attributable costs and expenses.

Lease Income. Lease income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the terms of the lease.

Revenue from Property Management. Revenue is recognized as services of providing utilities and
maintenance are performed.

Gaming Revenue Share. Revenue representing monthly payments from MCE Leisure based on
the performance of gaming operations of City of Dreams Manila integrated resort and casino is
recognized when earned pursuant to an Operating Agreement.

lermination fncome. Termination income is recognized when amount is actually collected.
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Gain on Share Swap. Gain is recogmized upon delivery of shares and upon confirmation of receipt
by the other party.

Dr‘vide_.'nds. Revenue is recognized when the Company’s right to recsive the payment is
established.

Commission Income on Sale of Real Estate Project of Related Party (prescnted under “Other
revenue” account). .Revenue 1s recognized when the related services are rendered. Commission is
computed as a certain percentage of the net contract price of the sold real estate project of a related
party.

Commr:ssion Income on Ticket Sales (presented under “Other revenues” account). Commission is
recognized as a certain percentage of sales of PSCO lottery, sweepstakes, and instant scratch
tickets.

[ncor_ne Jrom Forfeitures (presented under “Other income™ account). This represents income from
forfeitures of the deposits and, to a certain extent, installments from customers in the event of a
default and/or from cancellations of sales. Revenue is recognized upon approval of cancellation.

Penalty (presented under “Other income™ account). Penalty pertains to income from surcharges
for buyers’ default and late payments. Income is recognized when penalty is actually collected.

Other Income. Revenue is recognized when there is an incremental economic benefit, other than
the usual business operations, that will flow to the Company and the amount of the revenue can be
measured reliably.

Costs and Expense Recognition

Costs and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in equity, other
than those relating to distributions to equity participants. Costs and expenses are recognized in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the basis of systematic
and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are expected to arise over several
accounting periods and the association with income can only be broadly or indirectly determined;
or immediately when expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the extent
that, future economic benefits do not qualify, cease to qualify, for recognition in the consolidated
statement of financial position as an asset.

Cost of real estate sold includes all direct materials and labor costs, and those indirect costs related
to contract performance. When it is probable that the labor contract cost will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognized immediately. Changes in job performance, job conditions
and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final
contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and gross margins, are
recognized in the year in which the revisions are determined. The cost of inventory recognized in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income upon sale i1s determined with
reference to the specific costs incurred on the property, allocated to the saleable area based on
relative size and takes into account the percentage of completion used for revenue recognition

purposes.
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b. A renewal opti_oq @s exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal ar
€xtension was mtially included in the lease term;
¢ There is a substantial change to the asset or assets,

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in cucumsftanc&svgavc rise to the reassessment for scenarios a. cord and at the date of
renewal or extension period for scenario b,

(,bmpany as a Lessee. Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of
ownership of the assct are classified as operating icases. Operating lease payments are charged
aganst profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on 2 straight-line

basis over the lease term.

Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and rewards mcidental to
ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at fair value of the leased
property or, of lower, at the present value of the nunimum lease payments. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant raie of interest on the temaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized
in profit or loss.

Company as a Lessor. Leases wherc the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an
operating lease are added to the carrymg amount of the Icased asset and recognized over the lease
lerm on the same bases as rental income, Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period
in which they are carned.

Finance leases which transfer to the lessec substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item, are recorded as finance lease receivable measured at present value of
the mmimum lease payments. Lease payments from the lessee are apportioned between finance
lease income and reduction of the lease reccivable so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remarning balance of the receivable. Lease income is recognized under “Interest income on
finance leas¢” account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

The cost of the leased item is derecognized at inception of the lease. Cost includes estimated cost
to complete the construction of a leased item and recognized as “Estimated liability on
construction costs” separately shown in the consolidated statements of financial position and shall
be settled based on actual billings from the contractors and adjusted upon completion of the
construction. Any difference between the actual cost incurred and the estimated liability on
construction costs are recognized in profit or loss.
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directly attributable to bringing the building to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capabl_e of operating in a manner intended by management. Lease costs are necessary and
unavoidable costs of constructing the building, because without this lease, no construction could
occur. Otherwise, this may be expensed outright.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable {o the development of the Company’s projects that

necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are capitalized as part
of the cost of the investment property account m the consolidated statements of financial position.
Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use is complete. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Pension Costs

The net defined benefit hability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets adjusted for
any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan,

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

= Service cost
*  Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
* Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognized
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs. These amounts are calculated pertodically by
independent qualified actuarics.

Net interest on the net defined benefit Hability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by
applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit Liability or asset.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in

profit or loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, difference between ipterest 1'_ncome and
return on plan assets and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling (excl_udmg net interest on
defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other comprehensn_ve income in the period
in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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Plap assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying imsurance
policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid
directly to thq Company. Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. When no
market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future
cash ﬂows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk assoctated with the plan assets and the
maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expec

period until the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher

from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The Company’s rig_ht to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
defined benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair valoe when and only when
reimbursement is virtually certain,

Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity that the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be
determined at the reporting period.

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translations

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded in Phulippine peso by applying to the
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Philippine peso and the foreign currency
at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are restated using the closing exchange rate at the reporting date. All differences are
recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Nonmonetary
items measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of initial transactions. Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Income Taxes

Current Jncome Tax. Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred Income Tax. Deferred income tax is provided using the liabihity method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying

amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deterred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

= Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination that, at the time of the transaction.
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and . o

= Inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and by the parent, venture or investor, respectively, it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foresecable future.
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L)cfegrtzd tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences the carry forward
on ]

of unused tax credits from excess minimum Corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular

. Whgre the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
Initial recognition of an asset or ltability in a transaction that is not a business combination
i'md, at téle time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or

0ss; an

* inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
assoclates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be availabie to allow all or
part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at
cach reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probabie that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liablity is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized i “Other comprehensive income™ account are included
in “Other comprehensive income™ account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Vaiue-Added Tax (VAT)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except:

* where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the

asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
* receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination but not satisfying the criteria for separate
recognition at that date should be recognized subsequently if new mformatlc_m about factg and
circumstances changed. The adjustments would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 1s jncluded as part
of “Input VAT” under “Other current assets™ account or “Qutput VAT payable” under “Trade
payable and other current liabilities™ account, respectively, in the consolidated statements of

financial position.



Earnings Per Share EPS

Basic EPS is computed by dividin.g‘ net profit or loss for the year attributable to common equity
holdf;:rs of the parent,‘after Tecogmtion of the dividend requirement of preferred shares, as
applicable, by the weighted average number of issued and outstanding common sharm’during the

vear, after giving retroactive effect to any stock dividends declared during the vear.

conversion of all the dilutive potential common shares into common shares, The calculation of
diluted EPS does not assume conversion, exercise, or other issue of potential common shares that
would have an anti-dilutive effect on EPS,

As the Company has no dilutive potential common shares outstanding, basic and diluted EPS are
stated at the same amount.

Operating Segments

For management purposes, the Company 1s organized into business units based on the nature of
the products and services provided, with each scgment representing a sirategic business unit that
offers different products.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation; and, a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented as part of
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive mncome, net of any reimbursement.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current
pretax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, They are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets arc not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial

statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events after the Reporting Period

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company s financial position at
the reporting period (adjusting events), if any, are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
consolidated financial statements when material.
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7. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financia statements requires management to make
Judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in ouicomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Recognition of Revenue and Cost of Sale of Real Estate and Club Shares. Selecting an appropriate
revenue recogmition method for a particular sale transaction requires certain judgments based on
sufficiency of cumulative payments by the buyer, completion of development and existence of a
binding sales agreement between the Company and the buyer. The completion of development is
determined based on actual costs incurred over the total estimated development costs reconciled
with the engineer’s judgment and estimates on the physical portion of contract work done if the
development cost is beyond preliminary stage.

Revenue and cost from sale of real estate and club shares sold amounted to #347.8 mitlion and
21579 million, respectively, in 2015, 3003 million and #1259 million, respectively, in 2014,
and £175.3 million and £115.4 million, respectively, in 2013 (see Note 32).

Business Combinations. The Company acquires subsidiaries which own real estate and gaming
operations. At the time of acquisition, the Company considers whether the acquisition represents
an acquisition of a business or a group of assets and liabilities. The Company accounts for an
acquisttion as a business combination where an integrated set of business processes is acquired in
addition to the asset acquired. More specifically, consideration is made of the extent to which
significant processes are acquired and, in particular, the extent of services provided by the
subsidiary.

When the acquisition of subsidiary does not constitute a business, it is accounted for as an
acqusition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquusition 1s allocated to the assets
and habilities acquired based upon their relative fair vatues and no goodwill or deferred tax is
recognized.

Please refer to Note 20 for the Company’s most recent business combinations,

Assessing Significant Influence over Associates. Significant influence is presumed when there is a
holding of 20% or more of the voting power of the investee {held directly or indirectly, through
subsidiaries). Management assessed that the Company has significant influence over all its
associates by virtue of the Company’s holding more than 20% voting power in the investee,
representation on the board of directors. and participation in policy-making processes of the
associates.

The carrying value of the investments in and advances to associates amounted to P65.4 million
and P93 .9 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 15).
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cXposure to, or rights to variable returns. from its mvolvement with the iny ' ili

, i A estee and its ability to
affect those returns throqgh 1s power over the investee. As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the
Company has not consolidated any investee by virtue of de facto control.

Determining Sybsidiqries with Material Non-controllin g Interests and Material Associates.
The Compaqy 15 required to disclose certain financial mformation on its subsidiaries with material

Management determines material substdiaries with material not-controlling interests as those with
assets, non-controlling interests, revenues and net income greater than 5% of consolidated assets,
non-controlling interests, revenues and net income. Material associates are those where the
Company’s carrying amount of nvestment or equity in net earnings is greater than 5% of the
consolidated assets or net income at vear end.

The Company has determined PLC in 2015 and PLC and Pacific Online in 2014 as subsidiaries
with material non-controliing interests (see Note 3). The Company has no material associates in
2015 and 2014 (see Note 15).

Evaluation of Lease Commitments. The evalnation of whether an arrangement contains a lease is
based on its substance. An arrangement 1s, or contains a lease when the fulfillment of the
arrangement depends on specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to usc the
asset.

Evaluation of Lease Agreemeni. The Parent Company has entered into a lease agreement with
MCE Letsure (Philippines) Corporation for City of Dreams Manila for the lease of a building.

The determination of whether a lease agreement has to be accounted for as operating or finance
lease requires significant judgment. Management has determined based on evaluation of the termis
and conditions of the arrangement, that the Parent Company transfers substantially all the risks
and benefits incidental to ownership of the building and that the present value of the minimum
lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the building at the lease
inception date. On those bases, the Parent Company accounted for the lease of the building
structures under finance lease (seec Notes 17 and 38).

Operating Lease - as a Lessor. The Parent Company, as a lessor, has accounted for the Icase
agreements for its land under an operating lease. The Parent Company has determined that it has
not transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the leased properties to the lessee

because of the following factors:

a) the lessee will not acquire ownership of the leased propertics upon termination of the lease;

and
b) the lessee was not given an option to purchase the assets at a price that is sufficiently lower

than the fair value at the date of the option,

Lease income earned from lease of land amounted to P183.7 million in 20 15, #1833 million in
2014, and P152.7 million in 2013 (seec Note 38).
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Pac;ﬁc Orﬂ}nc and T(_}TI leases to Philippine Charity Sweepstakes Office (PCSO) the lottery
Cquipment 1t uses for its nationwide on-line lottery operations. Pacific Online has determined that
1t has retained substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the lottery ¢quipment bein
leased to PCSO. Accordingly, the lease is accounted for as an operating lease. ¢

Revenue frqm equipment rental in 2015 and 2014 amounted to 1,459 3 million and
B828.7 million, respectively (sce Note 38).

Fi inafgce Leasg - as a Lessee. Pacific Online also entered 1nto various finance lease agreements
covenng certam lottery equipment. Pacific Online determined that it bears substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the said properties under finance lease
agreements.

The cMg amount of lottery equipment under finance lease arrangements amounted to
B128.4 million and P123 3 mullion as at December 31,2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 38).

Uperating Lease - as a Lessee. The Parent Company, as a lessee, has entered into lease
agreements for its office space, land, parking lots. machinery, office and transportation equipment.
The Parent Company has determined that it has not acquired the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased properties, thus the Company recognized the lease agreements as
operating leases.

Rent expense recognized from operating lease amounted to 11.7 million each in 2015 and 2014,
and P11.6 million in 2013 (see Notes 34 and 38).

Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear are described below. The Company based its
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements
were preparcd. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however,
many changes due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the
Company. Such changes are related in the assumptions when they occur,

Determination of Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. Certain financial
assets and financial liabilities are carried and disclosed at fair value, which requires extensive use
of accounting estimates and judgments. While significant components of fair value measurement
were determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e.. foreign exchange rates and interest
rates), the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Company utilized a different
valuation methodology. Any changes in the assumptions could affect the fair value of these
financial assets and financial Habilities. Please refer to Note 44 for the required disclosures on the
fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilitics.

Determination of Fair Value of Financial Assets Not Quoted in an Active Market. The Company
classified financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is quoted or not in an
active market. Included in the evaluation on whether a financial asset is quoted in an active
market is the determination on whether quoted prices are readily and regularly available, and
whether those prices represent actual and regularly accruing market transaction in an arm’s length

basis.
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involving these sha_res, therefqre these investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any. The
Company does not intend to dispose these investments in unquoted shares. ]

The carrying value of AFS financial assets in unquoted shares amounted to 0.8 million and
£2.7 million as at December 3 1, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 16).

Determinaﬂon of Impairmenr of Receivables and Advances to Associates and Other Related
Parties. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts at a level considered

and known market factors,

The Company reviews the allowance on a continuous basis. Accounts that are spectfically
identified to be potentially uncoliectible are provided with adequate allowance through charges to
mncomme in the form of provision for doubtful accounts. The amount and timing of recorded
provision for doubtful accounts for any period would differ if the Company made different
judgments or utilized different estimates. An increase in the Company’s allowance for doubtful
accounts would increase the recorded operating expenses and decrease its assets.

Aggregate provision for doubtful accounts on trade and other recetvables and impairment loss on
advances to related parties amounted to P32 4 million and R5.5 million in 2015 and 2014,
respectively, and net reversal of provision of 3.8 million in 2013 (see Notes 11 and 36).
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtfi] accounts, amounted to £1_599.6 million and

P1.474.9 million as at December 3 1. 2015 and 2014, respectively. Allowance for doubtful
accounts amounted to #155.0 million and £132. 1 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (see Note 11).

Provision for doubtful accounts on advances o associates and impairment loss on advances to
related parties amounted to £0.04 million in 2014, and nil in 2015 and 2013 (see Notes 15, 36
and 40). Advances to associates, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, amounted to

B29 8 million and #3,704.6 million as at December 3 1, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Allowance
for impairment amounted to ®145.3 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 (see Notes 15

and 40).

Determination of NRV of Real Estate for Sale, Club Shares and Supplies Inventory. Real Estatc
for sale, club shares and supplics inventory are stated at lower of cost and NRV. The Company
writes down the carrying value of real estate for sale, club shares and supplies inventory whenever
the NRV becomes lower than cost due to changes in estimated selling prices less cost to sell. The
carrying value is reviewed at least annually for any decline in value.

The carrying values of inventories carried at cost are as follows:

2015 2014
tIn Thousands)
Real estate for sale and land held for future
development (see Note 12) £3,861,589 £3,954,045
Club shares (sce Note 13) 2,995,593 2,700,551
75,661 96,521

Supplies inventory*(see Note 14)

*Included under “Other current assets” account in the consolidated statements of "financial position.
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Deterr_nination of Impar’rment of AFS Financial Assets. The Company determines that AFS
financial assets are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair

This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment, In making this
Jjudgment, t_hp Company evaluates, among other factors, the normal volatility in share price for
quqted cquities. In addition, AFS financial assets are considered impaired when the Company
believes that future cash flows generated from the investment is expected to decline significantly.
The Company’s management makes significant estimates and assumptions on the future cash
flows expected and the appropriate discount rate to determine if impairment exists. Impairment
may also be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the
investee, industry and sector performance.

No provision for impairment loss was recognized in 2015, 2014 and 2013. However, as discussed
in Note 41, the Company implemented the cancellation of the Swap Agreement and therefore
reversed the impairment loss recognized in prior years on the shares, net of certain costs,
amounting to £1,219 | million. The carrying vatues of AFS financial assets amounted to

£2,041.3 million and P1,887.4 miltion as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively

(see Notes 16 and 41).

Determination of Commencement of Amortization of Gaming License. The Company’s gaming
license (“License™) will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the License which is
concurrent with Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation’s (PAGCOR) congressional
franchise set to expire in 2033. The amortization of the License commenced on

December 14, 2014, the effectivity of the Notice to Commence Casino Operations issued by
PAGCOR which replaced the provisional license (see Note 413,

Purchase Price Allocation - Estimating the Fair Values of. Acquiree’s Identifiable Assets and
Liabilities and Pre-existing Relationship and Previously Held Interest. Goodwill and Gain on
Bargain Purchase. Where the fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities cannot
be derived from active markets, the Company determined the fair values using internal valuation
techniques and generally accepted valuation approaches. The inputs to these valuation approaches
are taken from historical experience and observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, estimates are used in establishing fair values. The estimates may include discount rates
and assumptions used in cash flow projections.

The fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired from Pacific Online in 2014 amounted to
P1,338.3 million (see Note 20). The Company accounts for the acquired businesses using the
acquisition method which require extensive use of accounting judgments and estimates to allocate
the purchase price to the fair market values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities and
contingent liabilities, if any, at the acquisition date. Any difference in the purchase price and the
fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as either goodwill in the consolidated balance
sheet or gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss. Thus, the numerous judgments made in
estimating the fair value to be assigned to the acquiree’s assets and liabilities can materially affect
the Company’s financial position and performance.



The acquisition of Pacific Online in 2014 has resulted in recognition of goodwill amounting to
B1,717.6 million (see Notes 20 and 21). Also, the acquisition by TGTI of FRI in 2014 also
resulted to a goodwill of 1109 million. Prior to TGTI’s acquisition of FRI, TGTI has an existing
consqltaqcy arrangement with FRI which is considered as a pre-existing relationship in a business
combmatx_on, thus the acquisition also resulted to recognition of loss on settlement of pre-existing
relatl_op‘_sl“up amounting to #2174 million and deducted against the “Gain on significant
acquisitions - net in the 2014 consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 20).

The Company’s controlling interest in Pacific Online in 2014 also requires remeasurement of
previously held interest in Pacific Online and has resulied inio 2 gain on remeasurement
amounting to £1,096.8 million and presented under “Gain on significant acquisitions - net account
in the 2014 consolidated statement of comprehensive income (see Note 20).

is allocated. Estimating value in use requires management to make an estimate of the expected

future cash flows from the cash-generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate to calculate
the present value of those cash flows,

There is no impairment loss on goodwll in 2015 and 2014. The carrymng amount of goodwill
amounted to £1,828.6 million as at December 3 1. 2015 and 2014 (see Notes 20 and 2.

Estimation of Useful Lives of Property and Equipment. The useful life of each of the Company s
property and equipment is estimated based on the period over which the asset is expected to be
available for use. Such estimation is based on a collective assessment of industry practice, internal
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets, The estimated useful life of each asset is
reviewed periodically and updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical
wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the'
asset. It 1s possible, however, that future financial performance could be materially affected by
changes in the amounts and timing of recorded expenses brought about by changes in the factors
mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful life of any property and equipment would
increase the recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease assets.

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of property and equipment in 2015 and 2014.

Determination of Impairment of - Nonfinancial Assets. The Company assesses whether there are
any indicators of impairment for all nonfinancial assets at each reporting date. Investments in
assoclates, investment properties, property and equipment and other assets are reviewed for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverabie.
Intangible asset is reviewed annually for impairment while it is still not vet available; fo; use.
Determining the value in use of these nonfinancial assets, which requires the deternungt;on of
future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such
assets, requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the
consolidated financial statements. Future events could cause the Company to conclude that such
nonfinancial assets ar¢ impaired. Any resulting irapairment loss could have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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The carrying values of nonfinancial ass i e
eLs subject .
December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows%l octed to impairment review as at

2015 2014

vestn _ (In Thousands;
nvestments in associates - net (see Note 15) £81
. 456

Investment properties (sce Note 17) 1,540,’961 f i;g%g;
Proper-ty and equipment (sec Note 18) 770,716 ,576,817
Intangible asset (see Note 19) 4,970,341 5,249,552
Other current assets* (sce Note 14) 1,128,001 2,084,989

*Excluding supplies mventory, dep

08 {13, advames fo o,lizcer.s‘ and emplo EES. dCCT, i ]
s pioyees. aecrual a COUnL rt ",
) - s and certain advances 10}

The carrying value of recognized deferred tax assets amounted to $£4.465.8 million and
£2,398.0 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Unrecognized deferred tax
assets amounted to £934.0 million and P942.5 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (see Note 37).

Determination and Computation of Pension Cost. The cost of defined benefit pension plans and
other post-employment medical benefits as well as the present value of the pension obligation are
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation mnvolves making various
assumptions. These include the determination of the discount rates, future salary increases and
mortality rates. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-
term nature, defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. Pension asset amounted to P1. [ million as at
December 31, 2014. Pension liability amounted to B12.3 million and B18.8 million as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 39).

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest_ rates of ‘ '
government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, wlth
extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.

Further details about the assumptions used are provided in Note 39.

Evaluation of Legal Contingencies. The Company is currently involved in legal and .
administrative proceedings. The Company s estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of
these claims has been developed in consultation with outside legal counsel handling defense in
these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results. The Company currently does not
believe these proceedings will have a matenal adverse effect on its financial statements. It is
possible, however, that future financial performance could be materially affected by changes in the
estimates or in the effectiveness of strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 42).

No provision for probable losses has been recognized in 2015, 2014 and 2013.

LU
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8. Segment Information

The primzfry Segment reporting format is presented based on business segments in which the
Company 5 r{sks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and

The Company is primarily in the busiesses of real estate development, property management and

gaming and gaming-related activities. Others pertain to investment companies which are mostly

dormant.

Segment assets include all operating
cash, receivables, real estate for sale,
equipment, net of accumulated depre
operating liabilities and consist princ
assets and liabilities do not include d

borrowings.

Segment revenue, scgment expenses and se

assets used by a segment and consist principally of operating
club shares, investment properties and property and

ciation and impairment. Segment liabilities include all
ipally of accounts payable and other labilities, Segment
eferred income taxes, investments and advances, and

gment performance include transfers among business

segments. The transfers, if any, are accounted for at competitive market prices charged to
unaffiliated customers for similar products. Such transfers are eliminated in consolidation.

The amounts of segment assets and liabilities and segment profit or loss are based on measurement
principles that are similar to those used in measuring principles that are similar to those used in
measuring assets and liabilitics and profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements, which

are in accordance with PFRS.

Financial information about the Companys business segments are shown below:

215
Reat Estate Gaming

Development  and Gamsng

and Property Related Eliminations/

Management Activities Others  Adjustments  Consolidated

fIn Thousands)
Earnings Inforrmation
Revenue P3,357,190 £2,566,986 - #728,694) 5,195,482
Costs and expenses (708,806) (1,911,451} (119) 302,063 (2.318,313)
Equity in net ¢camings of associates 27,340 — - - 27,340
Intersst expense (291,870) (10,884) - 18,777 273977
Interest mcome 20,401 42,843 45 (28,819) 34,470
Provision for income tax 375,632 293,702 - - 669,334
Net profit for the year 2,666,523 480,922 (87) (1,722,848) 1,424,510
Net profit attributable to
equity holders of the parent 2,666,523 242,868 (80) (1,722,851) 1,186,460
Other Information
Investments in and advances to
associates 9,799,835 - 4,780,763 (14,515,234) 65,364

Investments held for trading 226,747 - - 226,747
Available-for-sale financial asseis 2.023.380 1,040,720 - (1,022,797) 2,041303
Advances to related parties 21,274 - - (7,072) 14,202
Segment assets 31,984,466 15,558,020 113,842 (6,244,614) 41,411,714
Segment lHabilities 2,594,615 542,123 26,012 (618,888) 2,543,862
Total consolidated assets 43,828,957 16,825,487 4,894,605 (21,789,719) 43,759,330
Total consolidated liabilities 20,238,107 699,324 4,906,341 (8,157,568) l;l,ggg,:;];
Capital expenditures 3,487,716 312,703 - - ,800,
Degreciation and amortization (22,545) (607,834) - 284,066 (346 313)

MR
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2014
Real Estate Gamjjlg
Development and Gaming
and Property R_elgted Eliminations/
Management Activities Others Adjustments Cousolidated
tIn Thousands)
Earnings Information
gz::]::d PB2.336,086 P1.091,938 P1.350 (B265.582) P3.163,792
Is and expenses _ (702,107) {701,009 {20.419) 142,021 (1,281,514)
Equity in net eamings of associates 1.286 147,425 - (3 1’521) ‘l 17’
Interest expense ' ’ 190
oxp (89.798) (8,92%) (220,000) 220,000 (98,723)
lntersas_t mcomg 22,667 7.312 222,000 {222,000) 29,979
I{’Jr(:wsnglt ?or ;Ecome tax 1.112.895 129743 - {1,109,169) 133’469
et profit for the year 6,707, : )
Net profit attributable to 046 1.863.660 7297 (6021930) 255673
equity holders of the parent 6.707,646 .
Other Information par : 1.509,240 7.297 (6,021,930} 2,202,253
Investments in and advances 1o
associates 10,000,006 1.556,556 4,000,763 (15.463,416) 93,909
Iuvestments held for trading - 746,617 - (483,802) 262,815
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,872,478 1.238614 (1,223,713) 1 887,379
Advances o related parties 16,504 - - (19.577) 26927
Segment assets 27,829,655 18.764,154 126,956 (7,600,709) 39,120,056
Segment liabilities 3,027,898 718,625 56,354 (750.469) 3.052.408
Total consolidated assets 39,748,644 22,305,952 4,127,719 24,791,229) 41.391,086
Total consolidated Jiabilities 16,221,242 4,115,095 4,099.369 (10.475,501) 13,960,205
Capital expenditures 2,699,728 80,703 - - 2,780.433
Depreciation and amortization (25.130) (26,871 - (11.634) (63,635)
2013
Real Estate Gaming
Development and Gaming
and Property Related Eliminations/
Management Activities Others Adjustments Consolidated
In Thousands;
Earnings Informmation
Revenue P2,689.682 P8,068 P-- (P73,503) B2.624,247
Costs and expenses (841,261) (12,539) (356 35.856 (818.300)
Equity in net carnings of associates 6,838 113,102 - - 119.940
Interest expense (103.852) - - (103,852)
Interest income 56,108 4 - - 56,112
Provision for income tax 1,332,276 1,253 - - 1.333,529
Net profit for the year 3,539,242 133,058 1,529 (37.64%) 3,636,184
Net profit atiributable to
equity holders of the parent 3.542.901 133,058 1,539 (37.645) 3,639,853
Other Informmation
Investments in and advances to
associates 7.217.779 146,912 4,000,763 (10.387,438) 978,016
HTM investments 750,000 - - - 750,000
Available-for-sale financial assets 3.252.731 1,572,102 41,742 (3.092,782) 1.773.793
Advances to related parties 11,587 - - 11,587
Segment assets 22,930,795 41,671 54,633 4,993333 28,040,452
Segment liabilities 3.108.310 1.283 25 (627,756) 2.481.862
Total consolidated assets 34,162,893 1,780,684 4,097,138 (8.486,867) 31,553,848
Total consolidated liabilities 14,366,829 1.174,227 4,019,455 (8,213,747) 11,346,764
Capital expenditures [.130.170 - - - 1.130,170
Depreciation and amortization (34.382) (415} (142) - (34,939)

Revenues from a certain customer in the Company s real estate development business amounted to
£2.108.3 million, £1,597 9 million and 1,334,7 milhion for the years ended December 31, 2015,

2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Revenues from another customer in the Company’s gaming and gaming-related activities

amounted to £1,459.2 million and P828.7 million for the years ended December 31. 2015 and
2014, respectively, ?

'1_"he_ f_o!lowing illustrate the reconciliations of reportable segment revenues. net profit, assets and
liabilities to the Company’s corresponding amounts; ‘

2015 2014 2013
(I Thousands)

Revenues
Total revenue for reportable segments P5,924,176 P3,429374 B2.697.750
Elimination for intercompany revenue (728,694) (265,582) (73.503)
Total consolidated revenues RS, 195,482 P3,163,792 ?2,624:247
Net Profit for the Year
Total profit for reportable segments #3,147,358 P8.578.603 P3.673.829
Elimination for intercompany profits (1,722 848) (6,021,929 (37.645)
Consolidated net profit £1,424,510 $2,556,674 P3,636,184
Assets
Total assets for reportable segments P41,411,714 P39.120,056 P28.040,452
Investments in and advances to associates 65,364 93,909 978,016
HTM investments - - 750.000
AFS financial assets 2,041,303 1.887.379 1,773,793
Investments held for trading 226,747 262815 -
Advances to related parties 14,202 26,927 11,587
Total consolidated assets P£43,759,330 P41,391,086 B31,553,848
Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments £2,543,862 B3.052.408 B2.481.862
Loans payable 1,000,017 3,000,017 200 466
Long-term debt 4,984,375 1,750,000 1,502,800
Nontrade liability 5,295,058 4241256 4 000,000
Advances from related parties* 72,789 75,267 77.539
Deferred tax liabilities - net 1,166,104 806,229 836,530
Estimated liability on constriction costs 2,623,999 1,035,028 2,247,567
Total consolidated liabilities £17,686,204 13,960,205 P11,346,764

*Presented under "Trade payables and other current liabilities” account in the consolidated statements
of financial position.

The Parent Company’s Executive Committee, the chief operating decision maker of the Company.
monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the
consolidated financial statements. However, financing (including interest expense and interest
income) and income taxes arc managed as a whole and are not alocated to operating segments.
Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to
transactions with third parties.

Disclosure of the geographical information regarding the Company’s revenues from p-xtemal
customers and total assets have not been provided since 2ll of the Company’s consolidated
revenues are derived from operations within the Philippines.

Capital expenditures consist of additions of property and equipment and expenditures on
investment properties.

MINEEINN



9. Cash and Cash Equivalents
This account consists of:
2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Cash on hand and in banks (see Note 40) £1,307,022 P1,357916
Cash equivalents (see Note 40) 2,263,043 4,968,593
£3,570,065 £6,326,509
_Cash m banks carm interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are short-term
myesiments which are made for varying periods within one day to three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Company and earn interest at the respective short-term
investment rates.
Interest income earned from cash in banks, cash equivalents and short-term investments
amounted to #33.2 mllion, 217.0 million and £13.1 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively
{see Note 33).
10. Investments Held for Trading

This account consists mainly of investments of Pacific Online in quoted shares of stock of Leisure
and Resorts World Corporation, Vantage Equities, Inc., APC Group, Inc., DFNN, Inc., ISM
Communications Corp. and Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company.

The movements in mvestments held for trading during 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year £262,815 P
Assets of a subsidiary acquired through a business
combination (see Note 20) - 376,454
Acquisitions 65,138 30,060
Disposals (see Note 36) (57,742) (177 905)
Unrealized mark-to-market gain (see Note 36) (43,464) 34,206
Balance at end of year £226,747 P262 815

In 2015 and 2014, the Company sold certain mvestments held for trading for B65.1 million and
P200.2 million, respectively.
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11. Receivables - net

This account consists of:

2015 2014
{fn Thousands)

Trade receivables:
Real_ estate sales _ £663,522 £625.164
Equipment rental and instant scratch ticket sales 275,123 315,912
Leasgs (see Note 38) 357,053 239,543
Gaming revenue share receivable (see Note 28) 136,276 38,809
Related parties (see Note 40) 21,696 34,420
Accrued interest 5,151 1,671
Advances to third parties and others 295,821 351,449
1,754,642 1,606,968
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 155,035 132 057
£1,599,607 81474911

* Trade receivables from real estate sales are noninterest-bearing and are generally collected in

mnstallment within 3 to 5 years.

* Trade recervables from equipment rentals and sales of instant scratch tickets are generally on a

30 to 45 days credit term.

=  Gaming revenue share receivable is coliectible on a 20 days credit term. This pertains to the
Company’s receivable from MCE Leisure for the gaming revenue share in the operations of

City of Dreams Manila.

* Advances to third parties and other receivables are noninterest-bearing and generally have

90 days term.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, trade receivables from real estate with nominal amount of
£718.9 million and #681.8 million, respectively, were recorded initially at fair value. The fair
value of the receivables was obtained by discounting future cash flows using applicable interest
rates ranging from 1.29% to 9.44% and 2.33% to 4.80% in 2015 and 2014. The unamortized
discount amounted to 554 mllion and £56.6 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Amortization of discount on trade receivables from real estate, shown under “Other
revenue” account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, amounted to

P56.8 million, P10.0 million and P32.3 million in 2013, 2014 and 2013, respectively

(see Note 29).

Movement of unamortized discount on trade receivables from real estate sales are as follows;

2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Trade receivables at nominal amount P718,881 B6o8L 761
Less discount on trade receivables:

Balance at beginning of year 56,597 50,376

Discount recognized during the year 55,530 16,175
Amortization during the year (see Note 29) (56,768) {9,954)

55,359 56,597

Balance at end of year £663,522 £625,164




Terms and conditions relating to related party receivables are disclosed in Note 40,

Movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

2015
Related
Trade Parties Others Total
(In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year £1,794 £7.494 £122,769 £132,057
Provision (see Note 36) 32,437 - - 32,437
Write-off (2,752) - (6,707) (9,459)
Balance at end of year £31.479 #7,494 £116,062 £155,035
2014
Related
Trade Parties Others Total
{In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year #5773 B8 656 P123,576 £138.005
Provision (see Note 36) 5,492 - - 5,492
Allowance of a subsidiary accounted
under step acquisition (4,124) {i,162) (807) (6,093)
Others (5,347) - ~ (5,347)
Balance at end of year £1,794 £7,494 £122.769 2132057
12. Real Estate for Sale and Land Held for Future Development - at cost
This account consists of:
2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Land held for future development £3,018,515 £3 018,515
Residential lots 839,771 932,227
Condominium units 3,303 3,303
3,861,589 3,954.045
Real estate for sale - current (843,074) (935,530)
Real estate for sale - noncurrent £3,018,515 B3 0IR,515

Land held for future development consists of properties in Tagaytay City, Batangas and Cavite.

It includes certain parcels of land with a carrying value amounting to P474.8 million and

P985.6 mullion as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, located in Batangas which are
already in the Company’s possession but are not yet fully paid pending the transfer of certificates
of title to the Company. Outstanding payable related to the acquisition shown under “Trade and
other current liabilities™ account in the consolidated statements of financial position amounted to
£131.0 nuilion and P166.1 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, rcspeciively (see Note 24).,

r
1!!..'.' 4 g




46 -

A summary of the movement in real estate for sale is set out below:

2015 2014
(In Thousands}
Balance at beginning of year £935,530 £654,967
anstruction/devclopment costs incurred 65,486 406’419
Disposals (recognized as cost of sales) (see Note 32) (157,942) (125’856)
Balance at end of vear £843,074 9935:530

A summary of the movement in land held for development in 2014 is set out below:

2014
tIn Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year £2.937,309
Land acquired during the year 82,223
Other adjustments/reclassifications (1,017)
Balance at end of year B3 018,515
There was no movement in land held for development in 2015.
. Club Shares - at cost
This account consists of:
2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Tagaytay Midlands Golf Club, Inc. (TMGCI)
(see Note 40) £1,278,589 P1,153,519
The Country Club at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc.
(Country Club) 971,167 802,251
Tagaytay Highlands Intemational Golf Club, Inc.
(Tagaytay Highlands) 653,756 652,700
The Spa and Lodge at Tagaytay Highlands, Inc. 92,081 92,081
£2,995,593 82 700,551

The Company has a Development Agreement (DA) with TMGCI for the construction and
development of a 36-hole golf course which was amended on December 15, 1999. The terms of
the amended DA call for as many subscriptions as there are shares, such that the club shares issued
by TMGCI to the Company as the development progresses were in proportion to pre-agreed
amount of development cost, inclusive of the initial capital contribution.
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14, Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Advances to contractors and suppliers - net of
allowance for doubtful accounts of
£20.3 million in 2015 and 2014 £1,454,751 £1,657,762
Input VAT - net of allowance for probable loss of
P1.5 million in 2015 and 12 .4 million in 2014 312,485 192,708
Prepaid expenses and others - net of allowance for
probable loss of #57 2 million 1 2015 and 2014 243,501 88,983
Creditable withholding tax - net of allowance for
probable loss of 4.3 million in 2015 and 2014 221,648 145,536
Instant scratch tickets supplies - at cost 44,114 65,713
Spare parts and supplies - net of allowance
for decline in value of P3.§ million in 2015
and £18.7 million in 2014 31,547 30,808
Deposits 8,331 8,615
Advances to officers and employees - net of
allowance for doubtful accounts of B3.5 million
in 2015 and 2014 7,242 3,705
£2,323,619 £2.193 830

Advances to contractors and suppliers are noninterest-bearing and are expected to be applied

against future billings.

Input VAT pertains to the VAT arising from the construction of the investment properties and land

under development.

Prepaid expenses and others pertain to various prepaid expenses such as insurance, commission,

subscription and refundable deposits for various contracts.

Creditable withholding tax pertains to the withholding tax related to the goods sold and services

rendered by the Company.

Advances to officers and employees are noninterest-bearing and are normally liquidated within a

year.

Gain on sale of spare parts and supphies amounted to 1.9 million m 2015 (see Note 36).

AN
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15. Investments in and Advances to Associates - net

This account consists of"

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Investments in associates - net of impairment
m value of #141.7 mallion in 2015
and £141.9 million in 2014 81,456 2110,261
Advances to associates - net of aliowance
for doubtful accounts of P145.3 miflion
in 2015 and 2014 (see Noie 40) 29.836 3,704,576
Subscription payable (45,928) (3,720,928)
P65,364 £93.900

Investments in Associates

Investments in the following significant associates are accounted for under the equity method:

1015 2014
Percentage of Ownership Percentage of Ownership
Associates Industry Direct  Indirect ‘Fotal Direct  Indirect Total
Belle Jai Alai Corporation (Belle Jai Alai)* Gaming 50.00 - 50.06 50.00 - 50.00
Lucky Star Gaming Corporation (Lucky Star)”  Gaming 49.00 - 49.00 49.00 - 49.00
Woodland Development Corporation (WDC)  Real estate 47.00 - 47.00 47.00 - 47.00
APC Group, Ins. (APC) Mining 46.64 221 48.35 46.64 221 48.85
Belle Bay City Corporation (Belle Bay City)** Gaming 34.89 - 34.89 34.89 - 34.89
*Non-operating
**In Liquidation
The associates were all incorporated in the Philippines.
Movements of investments in associates consist of:
2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Acquisition cost:
Balance at beginning of vear £5.438,315 #5792,.12}
Acquisition of additional interest in an associate - 413,272
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted under
acquisition method (see Note 20) - (767.078)
Balance at end of year 5,438,315 5438315
Accumulated equity in net losses:
Balance at beginning of year (5,197,690) (4,667.,730)
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted under
acquisition method (see Note 20) - (600,150)
Equity in net earnings for the vear 27.340 117,190
Share in declared dividends {56,400) (47.,000)
Disposal through share swap

Balance at end of vear

(5,226,750) (5,197,690

(Forward)
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2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Accumulated share in unrealized gain
on AFS financial assets:
Balance at beginning of year 214,061 P12,488
Share during the year - 1:5 73
Balance at end of year 14,061 14,061
Total 225,626 254,686
Less allowance for impairment in value
Balance at beginning of vear 141,924 141,924
Reversal of impairment in value (see Note 36) (255) =
Balance at end of year 141,669 141,924
Less equity in cost of Parent Company common
shares held by associates 2,501 2,501
£81.456 2110261

The details of carrying values of the investments accounted for under the cquity method, advances
and subscriptions payable are as follows:

2015
Carrying Subscription
Values Advances Payable
n Thousands)
Publicly listed -
APC £77422 £320 E o
Closely held -
Others 4,034 29,516 (45,928)
£81,456 £29.836 (B45,928)
2014
Carrying Subscription
Values Advances Payable
{In Thousands)
Publicly histed -
APC P77.422 P3,675,178 (R3,675,000)
Closely held -
Others 32,839 29,398 (45,928)
£110,261 £3,704,576 (#3,720,928)

Summarized financial information of the Company’s associates, which are considered immaterial
are as follows:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Net income (P18,312) R122.856
Other comprehensive loss (9,560) (2,309)
Total comprehensive income {27.878) 120,547
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Investments in Highlands Prime. On August 12, 2013, the Parent Company entered into a share
swap agreement with SM Land, Inc. wherein the Parent Company’s investment in Highlands
Prime with a total of 804,557,877 shares were exchanged for 108,615,313 SM Prime shares of
SM Land, Inc., included under “AFS financial assets™ account. The said transaction resulted in a
gain amounting to #772.2 million.

Investment in Pacific Online. Pacific Online is engaged in lottery in Visayas and Mindanao. The
Company’s total ownership in Pacific Online increased to 51 9% as at December 31, 2014, from
34.9% as at December 31, 2013, after a series of share purchases in the secondary market at the
PSE during 2014. As a result, the Company consolidates Pacific Online effective June 5, 2014.
The acquisition method of accounting for business combination resulted to a goodwill of
B1,717.6 million (see Notes 20 and 21). By end of 2015, the Parent Company has already
transferred all direct interest in Pacific Online to its subsidiary, PLC,

Subscriptions payable to APC. Belle and APC agreed that the advances of Belle to APC will be
applied against subscription payable. As at December 31, 2014, the subscription payable was
presented as a reduction from advances to APC.

In February 2015, Belle and APC finalized the agreement. Accordingly, the advances and
subscription payable have been settled and the corresponding shares have been issued.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts of Advances to Associates _ ’
Movement in allowance for doubtful accounts determined using specific identification method is

as follows:

2015 2014

(In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year P145,273 P145,233
Provision during the year (see Note 36) - 40
Balance at end of vear £145,273 £145.273

16. Available-for-sale Financial Assets
This account consists of:

2015 2014

(In Thousands)

Shares of stock:

Quoted £2,035,354 £1.879,730
Unquoted 839 2,729
Club shares 5,110 4,920
£2,041,303 P 887379

The Company intends to hold these investments indefinitely in response to liquidity requirements
or changes in market conditions.
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Movement in AFS financial assets consists of-

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Cost:
Balance at beginning of year £1,813,982 P3,574,829
Cancellation of share swap agreement
~ (see Note 41) - (1,559,847)
Disposal {267,913) -
Write-off (2,029) -
Reclassification and others - (201,000)
Balance at end of year 1,544,040 1,813,982
Unrealized gain (loss) on AFS financial assets:
Balance at beginning of vear 87,046 (190.785)
Disposal (87,998) -
Increase in fair value during the year 521,570 277,831
Balance at end of year 520,618 87,046
Allowance for impairment in value:
Balance at beginning of year 13,649 1,610,251
Cancellation of share swap agreement
(see Note 41) - (1,559.847)
Write-off/others 9,706 (36,755)
Balance at end of year 23,355 13,649
£2,041,303 £1,887.379

As at December 31, 2013, AFS financial assets also include the 46,381,600 shares of Legend
International Resort H.K. (LIR-HK) held by PLC m relation to a Swap Agreement which was

subsequently rescinded as further discussed in Note 41.

In 2014, TMGCI club shares amounting to £198.0 million were reclassified to “Club shares - at

cost” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Dividend income realized from AFS investments amounted to £23.2 million and £22.4 mullion in

2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 29).

Proceeds from sale of AFS investments in 2015 amounted to B358 2 million {(see Note 36).

17.

Investment Properties

This account consists of’

2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Land (see Note 25) P£1,540,961 £1],540.962
City of Dreams Manila building phase 2 -
construction in progress (CIP) (see Note 25) — 2,891 315
21,540,961 £4,432 277
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[nvestment properties consist of_ entertainment and resort facilities still under construction, land
intended for leasc and land that is the subject of the operatng lease agreement (sce Note 3’8).

As at December 31, 2014,' borrowing costs amounting to 2191 .3 million has been capitalized as
part of investment properties under construction (see Notes 23 and 25). The average capitalization
rates used were 3.9% in 2014, Movements in investment properties are as follows:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)

Balap_cc at beginning of year £4,432,277 22 958,707

Add_ltlons 3,368,676 1,393,285
Capitalized borrowing costs, including amortization

of debt discount (see Notes 23 and 25) — 80,285

Derecognized asset under finance lease (6,259,992) —

Balance at end of year £1,540,961 R4.432 277

Construction cost of the City of Dreams Manila building phase I, amounting to B7.1 billion, was
derecognized and accounted for as finance lease in 2013 (see Note 38). Construction cost of the
City of Dreams Manila building phase 2, amounting to 6.3 billion, was derecognized and
accounted for as finance lease in 2015 (see Note 38). Related estimated liability on construction
costs amounted to #2.6 billion and 1.0 billion as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Resulting gain on mitial recognition of the finance lease amounted to £2.3 billion was separately
shown in the 2013 consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The carrying value of the mvestment properties approximates the aggregate fair value as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014. The fair values were determined based on a cost approach
valuation techmque using current material and labor costs and categorized under Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. The current use of all investment properties 1s their highest and best use.

. Property and Equipment
The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2015

Office
Land and Machinery Condominivm Furnitsre,
Lottery Lessehold and Units and Transportation Fixtures and  Construction-
Equipment _lmprovements Equipment Tmprovements Eqaipment Equipment in-progress Total
(In Thousawds)

Cost
Balance at begimning of year £123,478 #276,078 #239.303 #243,787 866,467 #163,567 45,944 #1 58,624
Additions 277.265 6,345 5600 750 12,650 10,066 43,581 366,257
Disposal - - - ~ (26,214} {21,036} = {48.250)
Balance at end of year 500,743 182,423 244,903 244,537 52,903 161,597 89,525 1,676,631
Accumulated Depreciation,

Amortization and Impsirment

Loss
Balance at beginning of year 62,366 249,090 173,050 175,274 27.334 94,693 - 781.807
Depreciation and #mortization

for the year (see Notea 30, 33

and 34) T7,264 10,781 12,473 10,769 15,422 15215 - 158,924
Dhsposal - — — - {17,790) (10,026) — (27,8!6!
Balance ut end of year 139,638 159,871 185,523 136,043 14 966 109882 - 905,915
Net Book Value PésLI1d 12,552 59380 ES5.454 mTmT - PSS BRY 515 BT, 716

BRI
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. Office
land and Machinery  Condominium Furniture,
Lottery Leasehold _ and Units and  Transportatiosn Fixtures and  Construction-
Equipsarent Improvements Equip: Impro Equip Equipment in-pms Total
In Thousards)
Cost
Balance at beginning of year B P251.248 £225 289 P43 769 B
Assetr of pubsidiary accounted T 304 FT398 7082 BR45.650
under acqumntion method
(s¢e Note 20) 292,583 21.055 - - 24025 46,790
(@ A 214 021 . : 384453
Afidlmns 31,097 778 13,014 8 19,852 37779 - 104535
Disposal (202) - - - {16,714) - - (16916
Reclassifications/adjustnents — - - - - — 40,862 40,862
Balance af end of year 323,478 776,078 239 303 243,787 66,467 163,567 45,944 1,358:624
Accumulated Depreclation,
Amortization and Impairment
Loss
Balance at beginning of year - 240,393 151403 65,120 32.879 69.881 - S 6TH
Depreciation and am ortization
for the yeay (see Notes 30, 13
. and 34) 62,447 8697 10,996 10807 11,169 24,810 - 128,926
Dispoaal (81) - - - (16,714) - - (16,795)
Reclussifications/edjustnents — - 651 {653) - 2 - —
Balance at end of year 62,166 249.05¢ 173,050 175,274 27,334 94,633 - 781,807
Net Book Value P61112 ?26*9& $66,253 FGE 13 £39.133 ?68*81 £45,044 P576,817

Allowance for impairment loss on property and equipment amounted to 21863 million as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014.

The Company has disposed of certain property and equipment at a loss of 0.4 million in 2015,
and at a gain of 0.5 million and 272.0 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively (see Note 36).

The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment which are still being used amounted to
£#378.9 million and #362.6 million as at December 31. 2015 and 2014, respectivelv. The
Company has no idle assets as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,

19.

Intangible Asset

Intangible asset pertains to the “License™ granted by PAGCOR for which PLAT 1s a co-licensee to
operate integrated resorts, mcluding casinos. The License runs concurrent with PAGCOR’s
Congressional Franchise, set to expire in 2033 (see Note 41).

The roliforward analysis of this account follows:

2015 2014
(T Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year B5,249,552 P5.260.91¢6
Amortization during the year (Noic 31) (279,211) (11,364)
Balance at end of year £4,970,341 P5,249 552

The amortization of the mtangible asset on the License started on December 14, 2014, the
effectivity of the Notice to Commence Casmo Operations granted by PAGCOR. For the year
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, amortization of intangible asset was presented qnder “Cost of
gaming operations” in the 2015 and 2014 consolidated statements of comprchensive income

{see Note 31).



-54 -

20. Significant Acquisitions and Business Combinations

Acquisition of Additional Interest in Pacific Onime
The Company’s total ownership in Pacific Online increased to 51 9% as at December 31, 2014,

from 3_4.. 94% as at December 31, 2013, after a series of share purchases in the secondary market at
the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) during 2014. As a result, the Company consolidates Pacific
Online effective June 5, 2014. This transaction is a business combination achieved in stages and
accounted using acquisition method. The primary reason for acquuring additional interest in
Pacific Online was to expand the Company’s share in the gaming business.

The computation for the gain on the remeasurement of the Company s previously held interest in
Pacific Online is as follows:

Amount

(In Thousands)

Fair value of mvestment before obtaining control 82 464,016
Less total investment carrving value before obtaining control:

Cost of investment beforc obtaining control 767,078

Accumulated equity in net earnings of Pacific Online

before obtaining control 600,150

1,367,228

Gain on remeasurement of investment in Pacific Online £1.096,788

The gain on remeasurement of investment 1s presented under “Gain on significant acquisitions -
net” in the 2014 consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and habilities as at the date of the acquisition follow:

Fair Values
{In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents £153,993
Receivables 703,608
Investments held for trading (Note 10) 376,454
Other current assets 120,113
Property and equipment (Note 18) 384,453
Other noncurrent assets 59,717
Total identifiable assets 1,798,338
Less:
Trade and other current habilitics 362,592
Other noncurrent liabilities 97.406
Total identiftable habilitics 459,998
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,338,340
Goodwill arising from acquisition (see Notec 21) 1,717,644
3,055,984
Non-controlling interest measured at proportionate share
of the fair \gfalue (665,879)
$2.390,105




Amount
{In Thousands)

Fair value of investment after remeasurement of previously

held interest ) £2.464.016
Purchase cash consideration '255j694
Total consideration 2,719,710
Consideration allocated to treasury shares and non-controlling C

interest in PLC (329,605)
Purchase consideration transferred £2,390,105

The_ goodwill of £1,717.6 million represents the value of expected synergies arising from the
business combination.

The gross amount and the fair value of receivables amounted to #715.4 million and
£703.6 million, respectively. The Company expects to collect an amount equal to the fair value
of the Pacific Online’s receivables at acquisition date.

The total consideration of 2,719.7 million included a consideration aflocated to a pre-existing
relationship with Pacific Online. Pacific Online held shares in the Parent Company and PLC at
acquisition date. This was accounted for as acquisition of treasury shares, recorded under “Cost of
Parent Company common and preferred shares held by subsidiaries™ account, and non-controlling
interest in PLC amounting to 2328.1 million and 1.5 million, respectively.

Transaction costs amounting to 0.4 million were recognized under “General and administrative
expenses” m 2014,

The Company’s consolidated revenue and net income would have increased by 8700.8 million and
would have decreased by £193.0 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2014 had
the acquisition of additional interest in Pacific Online taken place on January 1, 2014. Total
revenu¢ and net income of Pacific Online included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for 2015 are P1,718.3 million and £346.1 million, respectively. Total revenue and net
income of Pacific Online included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
2014 are B1,030.3 million and 123.1 million, respectively.

The net cash outflow on the acquisition is as follows:

Amount

tIn Thousands}

Purchase consideration o P255,694
Transaction costs (presented under operating activities) 409
Cash and cash equivalents acquired from the subsidiary {153,993)
2102110

Acquisition of Falcon Resources in¢c. (“FRI™)

On June 16, 2014, TGTI, a subsidiary of Pacific Online, and the shareholders of Falcon Resources
Inc. (FRI) entered into a Memorandum of Understanding {MOU) for the former’s intention to
acquire the latter’s interest in FRI representing 100% ownership. As at December 11, 2014, the
Deed of Sale for the transfer of shares of stock has been executed. FRI1s a company engaged in
consultancy services for TGT! and a sub-distributor for Pacific Online. FRI is a company

incorporated in the Philippines.

ReSRIEEREL
R
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The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of the acquisition follow:

Fair Values

. (In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents P38.685

Receivables 20,272

Other current assets 13:07 2

Other noncurrent assets 1,072

Total identifiable assets 73: 101

Less accounts payabie 51,475

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 21,626

Coodwill arising from acquisition (see Note 21) 110,934

Purchase consideration transferred P132.560

Amount

{Tn Thousands)

Total consideration P350,000
Consideration allocated to the cost of settiement of a pre-existing

relationship (217.440)
£132,560

The goodwill of B110.9 million represents the fair value of expected synergies arising from the
acquisition of FRI by TGTI.

The gross amount and the fair value of receivables of FRI amounted to £22.0 million and
£20.3 million, respectively, at acquisition date. The Company expects to collect an amount equal
to the fair value of the Pacific Online’s receivables at acquisition date.

The allocation of the consideration based on relative fair values of FRI’s businesses is as follows:

Fair Allocation
Market Values Rate Consideration
(In Thousands) {In Thousands)

Business combination -
distribution business B134,174 38% B132.560
Settlement of a pre-existing

relationship - consultancy
business 220,088 62% 217,440

354262 £350,000

The total consideration of 2350.0 million included a consideration allocated to a pre-existing
relationship with FRI. TGTI and FRI effectively terminated their consultancy services agreement
between as a result of the acquisition. Accordingly, #217.4 million loss was recognized and
presented under “Gain on significant acquisitions - net” in the 2014 consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

The Company’s consolidated revenue and net income would have increased by B 13.0 million and
P21 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2014 had the acquisition of FRI_ taken
place on January 1, 2014. Total revenue and net income of FRI included in the 2014 consolidated
statement of comprehensive amounted to 1.1 million and #0.2 million, respectively.
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The net cash outflow on the acquisition is as follows:

Amount
(fn Thousands)

Settlement of a pre-existing relationship (presented

under operating activities) B217 440
Purchase consideration 132,560
Cash and cash equivalents acquired from the subsidiary (38:685)

2311315

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in PLC

Parallax and SLW (wholly owned subsidiaries) acquired additional interest in PLC on

April 23, 2013 for a total consideration of B340.0 million. The acquisition of additional shares by
Parallax and SLW resulted to the Parent Company acquiring control over PLC with effective
ownership interest of 58.1% as of April 2013 through December 31, 2013. The pooling of interest
method was applied since Parallax, SLW and PLC are entities under common control  The excess
of cost over PLC’s net assets at the time of acquisition amounting to $252.0 million is recorded in
equity as “Excess of cost over net asset value of an investment.”

21.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired from business combinations as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 consist of:

Amount
tIn Thousands)

Acquisition of’
Pacific Online (see Note 20) P1,717,644
FRI (see Note 20) 110,934
R1 828578

The goodwill from the acquisition of Pacific Online and FR1I have been subjected to the annual
impairment review in 2015. The Company did not identify any impairment indicators relating to
Pacific Online’s and FRI’s goodwill as at December 31, 201 5 and 2014 as it expects to realize the
synergies from the business combinations.

Goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing. The recoverable amounts of the operations of
Pacific Online and FRI has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management.

Key Assumptions Used in Value in Use Calculations
The calculation of value in use for the cash-generating units are most sensitive o the following

assumptions explained as follows:

Pacific Online

Discount Rate. Discount rate reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to the cash
generating unit. The pre-tax discount rate of 7.56% was used in 2015 based on the weighted
average cost of capital of Pacific Online.
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Terminal Values and Growth Rate. Terminal values included in the value in use computations as
at [_)ece?mber 31,2015 amo_unted to 7.753.0 milhon. The growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow
projections beyond the period covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts is 0%.

FRI

Discow_zt Rate_. Discount rate reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to the cash-
generating unit by applying a suitable weighted average cost of capital. The pre-tax discount rate
used for the cash-generating unit is 12.64%.

Growth Rate. Growth rates and operating margins used to estimate future performance are equally
based on past performance and experience of growth rates and operating margins achievable in the
relevant industry. The range of terminal growth rate applied was 8.55% to 8.59%.

22,

Other Noncurrent Assets

This account consists of’

2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Deferred input VAT £637,997 B711,779
Guarantee bonds (see Notes 24 and 41) 45,000 40,000
Refundable deposits and construction bond
(see Note 38) 18,236 17,930
Others 8,934 8,375
£710,167 8778084
23. Loans Payable

Loans payable represents peso-denominated loans obtamed from local banks with interest of 4.3%
in 2015 and ranging from 3.8% to 5.5% in 2014. Loans payable have historically been renewed or

rolled-over.

The Parent Company availed unsecured loans amounting to £1,000.0 million and made principal
payments amounting to £3,000.0 million in 2015. The carrying amount of outstanding loans
payable amounted to P1,000.0 million and £3,000.0 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,

respectively.

Interest expense on loans payable charged to operations amounted to #39.5 million,
P75.1 million and £40.0 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013 respectively (see Note 35).

Interest expense on loans payable amounting to 49.8 milliqn was cgpitalized as part of
investment properties in 2014. No interest expensc was capitalized in 2015 and 2013

(see Note 17).
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24. Trade and Other Current Liabilities

This account consists of’

2015 2014
Trads tin Thousands)
T
£1,331,097
Accrued expenses: . F1,694.045
Langi transfer fees 68,743 57,132
Selling. 46,472 68,806
Professional and management fees 53,239 51,499
Others 195,286 287,446
Deferred income 223,795 195,001
Payables pertamning to land acquisitions
(see Note 12) 131,024 166,074
Advances from related parties (sec Note 40) 72,788 75,267
Customers’ deposits 50,591 22 473
Consultancy, software and license ‘
and management fees payable 37,484 17,088
Refundabie deposit and others 225,456 295,505
£2,435,975 22,930,340

* Trade pavables are non-interest bearing with an average term of 90 days.

»  Accrued expenses pertain to accruals for land transfer fees, professional and management fees,
selling, interest, salaries, communication, rent and utilities and other expenses which are
normally scttled with an average term of 30 to 90 days.

= Deferred income represents unamortized discount on refundable deposits related to lease
transactions (see Notes 38 and 41).

= Payables pertaining to land acquisitions represent unpaid purchase price of land acquired from
various land owners in Tagaytay City, Batangas and Cavite (see Note 12). These are
noninterest-bearing and are due and demandable.

s Customers’ deposits pertain to collections received from buyers for projects with pending
recognition of sale.

» Consultancy, software and license fees, and management fees payable relate to the following
agreements;

a. Consultancy Agreements

Pacific Online and its subsidiaries hired the services of several consultants for its gaming
operations. Consultancy fees are based on a certain percentage of the gross amount of
ticket sales of certain variants of lottery operations of PCSO. Consultancy fees amounted
to R68.5 million in 2015 and P46.6 million in 2014 (sec Note 30).

TR
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b. Scientific Games

On F ebrue_lry 15, 2005, Pacific Online entered into a contract with Scientific Games. a
company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Ireland, for the supply of
computer hardware and operating system software. Under the terms of the “Contract for
the Supply of the Visayas-Mindanao Online Lottery System,” Scientific Games provided
906 online lottery terminals and terminal software necessary for Pacific Online’s leasing
operations. In consideration. Pacific Online shall pay Scientific Games a pre-agreed
percentage of iis revenue from PCSO’s conduct of online lottery games using the
computer hardware and operating system provided by Scientific Games. The Coniract
ghgll c&)‘ntinue as Jong as Pacific Online’s Equipment Lease Agreement (ELA) with PCSO
is m effect.

On October 2, 2012, Pacific Online and Scientific Games amended the lottery terminals
and terminals software agreement dated February 5, 2005 wherein Scientific Games
provided Pacific Online with a license extension for the terminal software for a period
from April 1, 2013 until August 31, 2015, and for the supply of additional terminals for
the 2012 Amended ELA.

On November 20, 2015, Pacific Online and Scientific Games further amended the
CVMOLS, extending the term of the contract from September 1, 2015 until July 31, 2018
and for Scientific Games to supply 1,500 brand new terminals to the Parent Company.
The amended contract also removed the provision for the Inactive Terminal Fee of
US$25.00 per terminal per month for any additional terminals not connecied to the
software provided by Scientific Games.

Software and license fees amounted to B59.7 million in 2015 and 836.2 million in 2014
{(see Note 30).

¢. Intralot

i) On March 13, 2006, Pacific Online entered into a contract with Intralot, a company
incorporated under the laws of Greece, for the supply of online lottery system
necessary for the operation of a new online lottery system effective
December 8, 2006. Under the terms of the “Contract for the Supply of the Visayas-
Mindanao Online Lottery System,” Intralot provided Pacific Online the hardware,
operating system sofiware and terminals (collectively referred to as the “System™) and
the training required to operate the System. In consideration, Pacific Online shall pay
Intralot a pre-agreed percentage of the revenue generated by the terminals from
PCSO’s conduct of online lottery games running on the System, inchuding without
limitation, the revenue from the ELA contract or a fixed amount of US$110 per
terminal per month, whichever is higher. The Contract shall continue as long as
Pacific Online’s ELA with PCSO is in effect.

On July 10, 2006, Intralot entered into an agreement with Intralot Inc., a subsidiary
domiciled in Atlanta, Georgia, wherein Intralot assigned to Intralo_t, Inc. ;hg whole qf
its contract with Pacific Online, including all its rights and obligations ansing from 1it.

On August 16, 2012, Pacific Online and Intralot further agreed to amend the supply
agreement for the latter to supply reconditioned or refurbished lotto terminals to the
former. These additional terminals are ordered to enable Pacific Online to serve the
requirements of PCSO n the 2012 Amended ELA. However, Pacific Online has the
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opti_on to or'dcr frgm Intralot brand new lotto terminals at a higher price per unit.
Pacﬁ_ic Online paid In]:ralot a pre-agreed percentage of the revenue generated by the
terminals from PCSO’s online lottery operations in Luzon or US$110.00 per terminal
whichever is higher.

On September 6, 2013, Pacific Online and Intralot further agreed to amend the supply
agreement for the latter to provide for additional terminals to enable Pacific Online to
expand 1its online lottery operations. Furthermore, effective April 1, 2013, Pacific
Online and Intralot agreed to lower the percentage of revenues paid by the former to
the latter.

As at the date of the auditor’s report, the amendment to the contract is still under
negotiation between Pacific Online and Intralot. In the meantime, the parties have
provisionally agreed to use the old lease rate agreed upon on the amendment dated
September 6, 2013

Software and license fees amounted to £113.0 million in 2015 and B45.4 million in
2014 (see Note 30).

1) TGTI has a contract with Intralot for the supply of online lottery system (lottery
equipment) accounted for as a finance lease. TGTI 1s being charged a certain
percentage of equipment rental from the revenue from PCSO. On July 15, 2008, the
Lease Contract between TGTI and Intralot was modified such that instead of receiving
monthly remuneration calculated on a percentage basis of the gross receipts of TGTI
from ELA, Intralot now receive monthly remuneration calculated on a percentage
basis of the Gross Receipts of PCSO from its Online Keno games. On March 22,
2011, the Lease Contract between TGTI and Intralot was further modified to reduce
the percentage charged by Intralot to TGTI and that TGTI undertakes a letter of
guarantee amounting to #20.0 million not later than March 28, 2011 in order for TGTI
to secure the payment of Intralot’s remuneration. The said guarantee bond is
recognized under “Other noncurrent assets’ account in the 2014 consolidated
statement of financial position (see Note 22).

d Management Agreement

Pacific Online and its subsicharies entered into a Management Agreement with AB
Gaming and Leisure Exponent Specialist, Inc. (“Manager”) for the latter to provide
investment and management counsel and to act as manager and overseer of its operations.
In consideration of the Manager’s services, Pacific Online shall pay a monthly fee of

R0.1 million and an amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of the annual earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA). Management fees amounting to
£22.9 million in 2015 and P28.1 million in 2014 were presented as part of “Management
and professional fees” account under “General and admunistrative expenses” i the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (see Note 34).
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Covenants. Thc loan agreements provide certain restrictions and requirements principally with
respect to maintenance of required financial ratios and material change in ownership or control

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Parent Company is in compliance with the terms of iis
loan covenants,

Repayment Schedule
The repayment schedules of long-term debt are as follows:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)

2015 £12.500
2016 362,500 150,000
2017 885,096 150,000
2018 933,013 150,000
2019 1,973,638 1,250,000
2020 830,128 37,500

$£4,984,375 £]1.750,000

Interest expense on loans from long-term debt amounting to B30.5 million and £111.0 mullion in
2014 and 2013, respectively, were capitalized as part of “Investment properties” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position {sec Note 17).

26.

Nontrade Liability

On May 20, 2013, Belle, PLAL, BGRHC, ABLGI and LRWC entered into a Memorandum of
Agreement, whereby Belle and PLAI have agreed to grant ABLGI the right to a settlement amount
(“Settlement”) in consideration of the waiver of ABLGI's rights as casino operator, the
termination ABLGI agreements and the grant of advances of £4,000.0 million (ABLGI advance)
as funding for the construction of the casino integrated resort building. As at December 31, 2013,
the settlement amounts of B283.5 million was presented as “ABLGI payments” pending
finalization of the terms and repayment periods under the implementing agreement (see Note 34).

Tn December 2014, the implementing agreement has been executed with effectivity of terms and
conditions retrospective January 1, 2014. The £4,000.0 nullion ABLGI advance was determined
as the fair value of ABLGI’s Settlement. In 2015, ABLGH advanced additional £780.0 nullion.
Such liability shall be accreted over the lease term using the EIR method.

The interest component of the ABGLI advance amounting to P651.7 mullion and £333.3 were
recognized as “Accretion of nontrade liability” in the 2015 and 2014 consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Payments made to ABLGI amounted to 2377.9 million and

£292.1 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The carrying value of nontrade hability amounted to R5,295.1 million and £4,241.3 mullion as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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27. Equity
Capital Stock
The composition of the Parent Company’s common shares of stock follows:
2015 2014
Number Number
i of Shares Amount of Shares Amount
Authorized - P1 par_valuc 14,000,000,000 #14,000,000,000  14,000,000,000 B14,000.000,000
Issued and outstanding 10.518853.857  10,518.883,857  10,559.382,799  10,559.382,799

In 2015, the Parent Company issued additional 1,617,058 common shares at the offer price of

P1.00 per share.

The tollowing summarizes the information on the Parent Company’s registration of securities

under the Securities Regulation Code:

Authorized Number of Issue/
Date of SEC Approval Shares Shares Issued Offer Price
August 20, 1973 6,000,000,000 6,000,000,000 £0.01
March 19, 1976 2.000,000,000 464,900,000 0.01
December 7, 1990 - 920,000,000 0.01
1990 - 833,500,000 0.01
October 19,1990 (7,000,000,000) (8,136,216,000) 0.01
June 18, 199] — 3,381,840 0.01
1991 - 47,435 860 1.00
1992 - 11,005,500 1.04
December 7, 1993 - 473,550,000 1.00
1993 - 95,573.400 1.00
January 24, 1994 - 100,000,000 1.00
August 3, 1994 - 2,057,948 7.00
August 3, 1994 — 960,375 10.00
June 6, 1995 - 138,257 863 1.00
February 14, 1995 1,0600,000,000 - 1.00
March 8, 1995 — 312.068.408 1.00
March 17, 1995 2,000,000,000 - 1.80
March 28, 1995 - 627,068,412 1.00
July 5, 1995 - 78,060,262 1.00
September 1, 1995 - 100,000,000 1.00
March 1, 1995 - 94 857072 1.00
September 13, 1995 - 103,423,030 1.00
1995 - 123,990,631 1.00
1996 - 386,225,990 1.00
February 21, 1997 10,000,000,0600 - 1.00
1997 - 57,493,686 1.00
1998 - 36,325,586 1.00
March 19, 1999 - 16,600,000 1.00
April 26, 1999 - 450,000,000 1.00
April 27, 1999 - 300,000,000 1.00
1999 - 306,109,896 1.00
(Forward)

R



-65-

Authonzed Number of Issue/
Date of SEC Approval Shares Shares Issued Offer Price
2000 - 2,266,666 £1.00
2001 - 2,402,003,117 1.00
April 14, 2011 ~  2,700,000,000 1.95
July 18, 2011 - 119,869,990 3.00
July 18, 2011 ~ 17388613267 3.00
October 6, 2015 — 1,617,058 1.00

14,000,000,000 10,560,999 857

In a special mecting on November 18, 1989, the stockholders approved the increase in par value of
capatal stock from £0.01 to B1.00 and the decrease m the number of shares of authorized from

8.0 billion to 1.0 billion common shares. The resulting increase in par and reduction in the
number of shares was approved by the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commussion (SEC) on
October 19, 1990.

On February 14, 1995, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock from 1.0 billion
shares with a par value of £1.00 to 2.0 billion shares with the same par value. Subsequently, on
March 17, 1995, the SEC approved another increase in authorized capital stock from 2.0 billion
shares to 4.0 billion shares with the same par value.

On February 21, 1997, the SEC approved the increase in the authorized capital stock from
4.0 billion shares at a par value of B1.00 per share to 20.0 billion shares divided mnto 6.0 billion
preferred shares and 14 billion common shares, both at #1.00 par value.

The Parent Company declared stock dividends in 1991 and 1995. The total number of
shareholders of the Parent Company is 1,832 and 1,855 as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,

respectively.

Treasury Shares
During 2015, the Parent Company has repurchased a total of 42,146,000 Parent Company

common shares at a total cost amounting to 134.4 million

Cost of Parent Company Shares Held by Subsidi aries/ Associates

Details of this account as at December 31 follow:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Cost of Parent Company Common and Preferred
Held by Subsidiaries/ Assoctates P£1,647,290 1,502,486
Loss on Disposal of Parent Company Commion
Shares Held by Subsidiaries/Associates 104,839 104,839
£1,752,129 £1,607.325

Parallax, SLW, PLC, Pacific Online and other subsidiaries collectively hold 353,271,183 and
314,415,819 common shares of the Parent Company as at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. These are presented as “(ost of Parent Company common and preferred shares held

by subsidiaries” in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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Non-controlling Interests
[n 2015 and 2014, subsidiaries of the Parent Company acquired and sold interest in fellow

submdlaries._ Th'esc were accounted for as equity transactions with a corresponding adjustment to
non-controlling interest. -

Acquisition of npn-r_:ontrolling interests related to these transactions amounted to R74.9 million
and P231.7 I_nllla_on in 2015 a_nd 2014, respectively. Disposals, on the other hand, of
non-controlling interest, particularly in Pacific Online, amounted to 2254.7 million in 2014

Retained Earnings

The Parent Company’’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration, computed based on
the regulatory requirements of SEC amounted to £4,808.3 million and 26,378.5 million as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The difference between the consolidated retained
earni_ngs and the Parent Company s retained earnings available for dividend declaration primarily
consists of undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and equity in net earnings of associates. For
purposes of dividend declaration, income arising from lease of buildings of City of Dreams Manila
is accounted for under operating lease similar to treatment for income tax purposes

(see Notes 37 and 38),

Dividends

On January 27, 2015, the Parent Company’s Beard of Directors (“BOD™) approved the declaration
of a special dividend of Eighteen Centavos (R0.18) per share, totaling £1,900. 7 million, pavable
on March 9, 2015 to stockholders of record as of February 10, 2015. On July 31, 2015, the

Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of dividend of P0.095 per share, totaling
£1,001.8 million, payable on August 28, 2015 to stockholders of record as of August 14, 2015
Total dividends above are inclusive of dividends paid to related party sharcholders amounting to
$89.8 million.

On April 28, 2014, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of
Two Centavos (R0.02) per share, totaling B211.2 million, inclusive of dividends paid to related
party shareholders amounting to 5.4 million. The record date to determine the shareholders
entitled to receive the cash dividends was set to May 13, 2014 with the payment made on

June 2, 2014. No dividends on common stock were declared in 2013.

On February 29, 2016, the Parent Company” BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of
Nine-and-a-Half Centavos (Php0.095) per share, approximately totaling £1,000.0 million. The
record date to determine the shareholders entitled to receive the cash dividends was set to

March 14, 2016 with the payment set on March 29, 2016.

28

Gaming Revenue Share

PLAI started to recognize its gaming revenue share following the soft opening of the City of
Dreams Manila integrated resort and casimo operations on December 14, 2014 Gaming revenue
share is determined as follows:

2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Gaming revenue share - gross £1,008,317 P45 674
Less PAGCOR license fee paid by MELCO (252,079) {(6,865)

Gaming revenue share - net $756,238 238,809
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f}s of _Deccmbcr 3’1:,_2015 and 2014, the uncollected gaming revenue share recognized under
Recewabl;s - net” in the consolidated statements of financial position amounted to
£136.3 million and £38.8 million respectively (see Note 11).

29. Other Revenue

This account consists of:

2015 2014 2013
{In Thousands)

Commnussion and distribution income £180,499 £Y1,578 £1.489
Amortization of discount on trade

receivables (see Note 1 1) 56,768 9,954 32,280

Income from forfeitures 60,712 39,978 10,800

Dividend mcome 23,209 22,443 -

Income from playing rights 6,620 2,143 3,304

Penalty 2,593 2,398 8.720

Qthers 2,478 3,230 3,027

£332.879 £161,724 £59 620

Commission and distribution income 1s recogmzed as a certain percentage of sales of PCSO lottery,
sweepstakes and instant scratch tickets.

Income from forfeitures represents deposits, and to a certain extent, installment payments from
customers forfeited in the event of default and/or cancellations of real estate sales.

Dividend income pertains to dividends received from SM Prime Holdings Inc., an AFS financial
asset.

Penalty pertains to income from surcharges for buyers’ default and late payments. Income is
recognized when penalty is actually collected.

Others pertain to revenues from salc of scrap supplies and various administrative fees during the
year.

30. Cost of Lottery Services

This account consists of:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)

Software and license fees (see Note 24) P172,672 P31 654
Operating supplies 159,183 45,339
Communication fees 87,195 63,780
Depreciation and amortization (see Note 18) 73,128 68,643
Consultancy fees (sec Note 24) 68,457 46,603
Online Lottery System Expenscs 34,507 —
£595,142 £306,021
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31. Cost of Gaming Qperations

This account consists of:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Amortization of intangibie asset (Note 19) £279,211 211,634
Consultancy fees (Note 41) 76,003 7.075
Marketing expenses 11,760 T
Payroll-related expenses 9,811 -
Representation and entertainment 2,628 -
Transportation and travel 2,610 —
£382,023 P18.709
32. Cost of Real Estate and Club Shares Sold
This account consists of:
2015 2014 2013
{In Thousands)
Materials and labor 100,466 280,057 838 301
Land 37,396 29,799 21,701
Cost of club shares sold - - 23,735
Overhead and others 20,080 16,000 11,652
P157,942 £125,856 £115,389
33. Cost of Services for Property Management
This account consists of:
2015 2014 2013
(fn Thousands)
Water services £51,224 R61,328 216,014
Power and maintenance 28,984 26,724 44,255
£80,208 £388,052 60,269

The cost of services for property management mcludes depreciation and amortization amounting
to £11.7 million in 2015 and 8.3 million in 2014. There was no depreciation and amortization
recognized under “Cost of services for property management” in 2013.
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34. General and Administrative Expenses

This account consists of:

2015 2014 2013
(In Thousands)

Personnel costs (see Notes 39 and 40) B306,547 2194728 £83.992
Management and professional fees

(Notes 40 and 41) 102,651 66,272 22 546
Rentals and utilities

{see Notes 38 and 40) 92,596 54,708 41,245
Transportation and travel 89,910 69,101 4,364
Taxes and licenses 67,530 98,071 30,339
Depreciation and amortization

(see Note 18) 67,102 52,001 34,939
Representation and entertamment 49,837 25,017 4,636
Marketing and advertising (see Note 40) 47,793 84 078 60,240
Communication 20,936 1,839 1,380
Reparrs and maintenance 20,590 13,440 20,280
Selling expenses 20,042 19,741 23914
Security and janitorial 19,813 11,751 14,379
Registration fees 9,615 4224 2,778
Insurance 2,012 985 840
ABLGI payments (see Note 26) - - 283,501
Others 33,440 35,552 8,966

£950,414 £731,508 £638.839

Others pertain to office supplies, insurance, seminar fees and association dues incurred
during the year.

Personnel Costs

2015 2014 2013

{In Thousands)
Salaries and wages £267,484 170,585 p70.833
Pension costs (see Note 39) 20,241 8,913 5,318
Employee benefits and others 18,822 15,230 7,841

B306,547 £194,728 P83 992
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35. Interest Income and Interest Expense

The sources of the Company’s interest income foliow:

2015 2014 2013
tIn Thousands)
Cash in b;mks {see Note 9) £3.659 B9 869 P2 024
Cash equivalents (see Note 9):
With related banks (see Note 40) 22,050 6,666 10,569
With other banks 7,501 500 514
HTM mvestments (sce Note 40) - 12,944 38,725
Escrow fund (sec Note 41) - - 4112
Others 1,260 - 168
234,470 £29.979 256,112
The sources of the Company’s interest expense follow:
2015 2014 2013
(In Thousands)
Long-term debt (sec Notes 25 and 40) £218,493 8,841 233 955
Loans payable (see Notes 23 and 40) 39,549 75,078 40,036
Finance lease obligation 16,883 8,923 -
Assignment of receivables 774 2,725 25,653
Others 4,278 3,156 4,208
£273.977 298,723 £103,852
36. Other Income (Charges)
This account consists of:
20158 2014 2013
{In Thousands)
Gain on sale of available-for-sale investments
(see Note 16) $£90,342 B P
Unrealized mark-to-market gain on
investments held for trading
(see Note 10) (43,464) 34,206 -
Bank service charges (42,388) (29,292) (3,799
Excess input VAT 23,631 10,997 -
Gain on sale of investments held for wading
(see Note 10) 7,439 22,296 -
Reversal of (provision for) allowance:
Probable loss on other assets -net
(see Note 14) 34,951 (9,034) (4,418)
Doubtful accounts on trade and other
receivables {see Note 11) (32,437 (5,492) (352)
Doubtful accounts on advances Lo w0

associates (see Note 15)

(Forward)
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2015 2014 2013
{In Thousands)
Reversal of (provision for) aliowance.
Impairment on investment in associates
(see Note 15) #2558 B B
Impairment on advances te related
_ parties (see Note 40} - - 4,137
(Gam on sale of other asseis (see Note 14) 1,850 - T
Gam (loss) on sale of property and equipment
. (see Note 18) 397) 451 72,026
Gain on sale of held-to-maturity nvestments - 31,353 o
Recychng of share in cumulative translation
adjustments of AFS financial asset
(see Note 41) - (58,319) -
Proceeds from msurance claims - 20,684 -
Others - net 4,609 (3,063) 13,458
£44,391 B14,747 BR1,052

37. Income Taxes

The provision for current income tax consists of the following:

2015 2014 2013

{In Thousands)
RCIT P284,785 B134.470 £303,870
MCIT 21,511 18,586 -
Capital gains tax (CGT) - 26,887 1,707
£306,296 P179,943 B305,577

As at December 31_ 2015, the Parent Company can claim the carryforward benefit of NOLCO
amounting to B531.6 million incurred in 2014 as deduction against future taxable income until
2017, As at December 31, 2015, the Parent Company can claim the carryforward benefits of
excess MCIT over RCIT amounting to P21.5 million incurred in 2015 and £18.6 million incurred
in 2014 as deduction against future taxable income until 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
carryforward benefit of excess MCIT over RCIT as at December 31, 2012 amounting to

217.8 million was claimed by the Parent Company as tax credit agamnst regular income tax mn
2013.

As at December 31, 2015, PLC can claim the carryforward benefits of NOLCO amounting (o
B0.1 million, P24.6 million and #0.1 million incurred in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, as
deduction against future taxable income until 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Asat
December 31, 2015, PLC can claim the carryforward benefit of excess MCIT over RCIT
amounting to B0.6 million incwred in 2015 against future taxable income until 2018.

For the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, PLAJ elected to use Optional Standard
Deduction in computing its taxable income.

As at December 31, 2015, LotoPac can claim the carryforward benefits of NOLCO amounting to
£0.1 million, P0.2 million and #0.1 million incurred in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, as
deduction against future taxable income until 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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The componenis of deferrcd tax assets of the subsidiaries are as follows:

2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Accrued expenses £29.759 25 995
Unamortt;ec! past service costs 2,288 5,727
Pension llablht_y _ 9,240 5,321
Allowance for impairment losses on trade
and other receivabies 718 1.811
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 256 651
Others - 1,729
P£42,261 £41.234
The components of the net deferred tax liabilities of the Parent Company are as follows:
2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Construction cost £3,211,999 £1,692.294
Estimated iability on construction costs 767,051 310,508
NOLCO 159,473 170,205
Nontrade liability 154,517 72,377
MCIT 40,097 18,586
Deferred lease income 39,157 30,519
Discount on trade receivables 16,608 16,979
Accrued selling expenses 13,942 18,057
Unrealized profit on sale of club shares
to associates 9,327 9,327
Doubtful accounts 7,140 -
Pension liability 1,332 -
Unamortized past service costs 1,324 1,523
Accretion of refundable deposits 997 1,054
Accrued rent 576 739
Net unrealized foreign exchange loss and others - 14,587
4,423,540 2,356,755
Deferred tax habilities:
Finance lease receivable {5,143,576) (2,876,848)
Accumulated depreciation (205,480) (71,808)
Unrealized gain on sale of real estate (87,656) (38.355)
Accrued rent (71,099) (47,746)
Unaccreted discount on refundable deposits (41,204) (31,733)
Capitalized rent expense (25,501) (26,936)
Deferred lease expense (869) (946)
Deferred income on real estate sales (797 (797}
Capitalized interest expense - (57,393)
Unrealized gain on AFS financial asset - {9,735)
Pension asset - (331)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain - net (13,462) (156)
(5,589,644) (3.162,984)
Net deferred tax liability (21,166,104) (#806,229)
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Thq components of the Company’s temporary differences as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 for
which deferred tax assets were not recognized follows:

2015 2014
{fn Thousands)
Allowances for:

Impairment of project development costs 2,136,820 £2.136,820
Doubtful accounts 607,527 607,912
Impairment losses 357,113 362.543
Probable losses 95,852 95,852
NOLCO 25,273 43,637
Excess MCIT over RCIT 601 -
£3,223,186 B3 246,764

The deferred tax assets of the above temporary differences amounting to 2934.0 nullion and
P942 5 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, were not recognized since
management believes that it is not probable that taxable income will be available against which the
deferred tax assets can be utilized.

For income tax purposes, lease of the building structures accounted for as finance lease are treated
as operating lease {see Note 38).

The reconciliation between the provision for income tax computed at statutory tax rate and the
provision for income tax shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is as
follows:

2015 2014 2013
{In Thousands}
Income tax at statutory income
tax rate of 30% R628,153 PRO7 043 £1,490914
Income tax effects of:
Nondeductible expenses and others 49,319 41,030 11,942
Nontaxable income (21,990) (744.753) (223.256)
MCIT 21,511 18,586 -
Mark-to-market loss (gain)
on securities 13,039 (9.912) -
Income subjected to final tax {12,155) (7,018) (16,781)
Change in unrecogmzed deferred
tax assets (8,543) 1,606 69,003
Income subjected to capital gains tax - 26,887 1,707

£669,334 £133,469 £1,333,529

Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA _ , o
In 2010, the Company’s pre-qualification clearance from PEZA in relation with 1ts efforts to

secure a Tourism Economic Zone status for a portion of its flagship project, Tagaytay Highlands,
has been approved. However, as at March 6, 2015, this approval has not yet been 1ssued with a

Presidential Proclamation,
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On October 11, 2012, Presidential Proclamation No. 491 has been issued creating and designating
eleven parcgls of land with an aggregate area of approximately 69,510 square meters located at
Aseana Business Park, Paranaque City, as Tourism Economic Zone. Consequently. on
November 27, 2012, the Parent Company received its Certificate of Registration from PEZA as
the developer of the City of Dreams Manila. The Company shall not be entitled to

PEZA incentives.

38.

Lease Commitments

Lease Agreement with MCE Lersure (Plippines) Corporation (MCE Leisure)
On October 25, 2012, the Parent Company, as a lessor, entered into a lease agreement with MCE

Leisure for the lease of land and building structures to be used in the City of Dreams Manila
project (“the Project”). The lease period is co-terminus with the operating agreement between the
Company and MCE Leisure which 1s effective on March 13, 2013 until the expiration of the
License on july 11, 2033,

Finance Legse
The Company made an assessment at mception of the lease and recorded the lease of the building
structures under a finance Icase and the lease of the land under an operating lease.

The Company recognized a finance lease receivable equivalent 1o the net investment in the lease.
The average implicit interest rate on the finance lease was 15.75% per annum at inception of the
lease. Gain on finance lease was recognized for the excess of net investment over the construction
cost of the building structures for phase 1 amounting to B2,324.4 million in 2013. The lease
payments made by the lessee are split into an interest component and a principal component using
the effective interest method. The lease receivable is reduced by the principal received. The
interest component of the payments is recognized as “Interest income on finance lease™ in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In 2014, MCE Leisure and the Parent Company agreed to modify the cash flows. This resulted to
the recognition of an P812.8 million loss on finance lease recognized in the Company’s 2014
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In 2015, the Company initially recognized a finance lease receivable amounting to
£6,585.0 million for the building structures for phase 2.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the nominal amount of minimum lease payments and the
carrying value of finance lease receivable are as follows:

2015 2014
tin Thousands)
Within one year P1,503,473 p774,531
In more than one vear and not more than five vears 7,543,652 5,157,185
[n more than five years 37,910,938 29,020,448
46,958,063 34.952,164
Unearned finance income (29,812.809) {(25,362,672)
Net investment (present value of the minimum
leasc payments) 17,145,254 9,589,492
Current portion of receivables under finance iease 1,419,651 722,745

Noncurrent portion of receivables
under finance lease P15,725,603 PR 866,747
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Interest income on finance lease amounted to £1,917.4 million. P1.4 illi
illion i L ,409.2 mill
R1,177.6 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, million and

Operating Lease

The Parent Company recognized lease income on the lease of land b 1 '
Afiadeco vy MCE Leisure amounting &
P182.6 million in 2015 and 2014, and 152.1 million in 2013, respectively. unne o

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the minimum lease payments of the Parent Company on the
lease on the land are as follows:

2015 2014

{In Thousands)
Within one vear P112,056 B104,727
In more than one year and not more than five vears 572,080 520,069
In more than five years 2,763,017 2,927,084
£3,447,153 £3.551,880

The Company carried receivables relating to these leases of P357.1 mullion and £239.5 nullion
under the “Receivables - net" account in the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (sec Note 11).

Costs incurred for these leases, which consists of taxes, property insurance and other costs, are
presented under “Cost of lease mcome™ account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
Income.

Lease Agreements with PCSO
Pacific Online leases to PCSO its online lottery equipment and accessories for a period of 2 years

and 4 months until July 31, 2015 as provided in the 2013 Amended ELA. Rental payment is
based on certain percentage of gross amount of lotto ticket sales from the operation of all PC50’s
lotto terminals or a fixed annual rental of 235,000 per terminal in commercial operation,
whichever is higher. Rental income amounting to #937.1 million in 2015 and £574.7 million in
2014 is recorded under “Equipment rental and instant scratch ticket sales™ in the 2015 and 2014
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, respectively. Future minimum rental income
for the remaining lease term amounted to £369.6 million.

TGTI leases to PCSO online KENO games for a period of 10 years from the time the ELA wili
run in commercial operations. Rental payment is based on certain percentage of gross amount of
Online KENO games from the operation of all PCSQO’s terminals or a fixed annual rental of
B40,000 per terminal in commercial operation, whichever is higher. Rental income amounting to
R522 2 million in 2015 and #254.0 million in 2014 is recorded under “Equipment rental and
instant scratch ticket sales” in the 2015 and 2014 consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, respectively. Futurc minimum rental income for the remaining lease terms are as follows:

Amount
{In Thousands}

Within one year £70,800
After one vear but not more than five years 189,900
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Company as a Lessee

Fmance Lease

Lott_ery Eguzpmemt The contracts for the supply of online lottery system entered into by Pacific
Online with Scientific Games and Intralot and by TGTT with Intralot contain a lease which is

accqunted for as finance lease. These related equipment are included as part of “Lottery
equipment” under “Property and equipment” account in the consolidated statements of financial

position with carrying amount of B128 4 million and R123.3 million as at December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively. -

F uture minimum lease payments under these finance leases together with the present value of the
minimum lease payments are as follows:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)
Within one year £27,056 £16.356
After one year but not more than five years 89,068 76,494
More than five years 12,766 ~
Total future minimum lease payments 128,890 92,850
Less amount representing interest 10,335 —
Present value of lease payments 118,555 92,850
Less current portion of obligations
under finance lease 25,028 16,356
Noncurrent portion of obligations
under finance lease P93,527 B76,494

The contracts of Pacific Online remain effective until July 31, 2015, the expiration date of the
ELA. Payment to Scientific Games 1s based on a pre-agreed percentage of Pacific Online’s
revenue from PCSQ’s conduct of online lottery games running under the system provided by
Scientific Games. Payment to Intralot is based on a pre-agreed percentage of the revenue
gencrated by the terminals from PCSO’s conduct of online lottery games running on the System,
including without limitation, the revenue from the ELA contract or a fixed amount of US$110 per
terminal per month, whichever is higher. Payments to Scientific Games and Intralot mclude the
non-lease elements which are presented as “Software and license fees”™ account under “Cost of

lottery services” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

The contract of TGTI with Intralot commenced upon the commercial operation of 200 outlets and
remains effective for 10 years until September 30, 2020. Payment to Intralot is based on a pre-
agreed percentage of the revenue generated by the termirals from PCSO’s conduct of online
lottery games running on the System.

Pacific Online initially recognized the finance lease liability based on the fair value of the
equipment or the sales pricc since the minimuim lease payments cannot be established, as the
monthly payment varies depending on the revenue generated by the leased equipment.
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I?aysportaﬂor? Equipment. Pacific Online and LCC has finance leases covering its transportation
equipment subject to a two-year term until Aprii 2015. Future minimum lease payments under
these finance leases together with the present value of the minimum lease payments are as follows:

2015 2014
{In Thousands}

Within one vear P181 2928
After one year but not more than five years — 198
Total future minimum lease payments 181 1,126
Less amount representing inierest 8 =
Present value of lease payments 173 1,126
Less current portion of installment payable 173 928
Noncurrent portion of installment payable B198

Other Operating Lease Agreements

The Parent Company entered into a lease agreement for a parcel of land situated in Aseana
Business Park, Parafiaque City. The 20,218 square meter land area lease shall be for a period of
10 years commencing on April 23, 2010, inclusive of two years construction period. Rental
payments are subject to escalation as stated in the agreement. The contract may be renewed or
cxtended by written agreement of the parties and upon such terms and conditions that are mutually
acceptable to them. The Parent Company aiso paid 4.4 million refundable deposit which formed
part of “Other noncurrent assets - others™ in the consolidated statements of financial position

(see Note 22). On April 15, 2012, the parties agreed to extend the lease term for an additional

15 years ending on April 22, 2035.

As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the operating lease cost amounting to £29 1 million and
£27 3 million were capitalized to leasehold improvements as the Company has started
construction of the integrated resort.

The Company entered into an operating lease agreement with SM Land, Inc., a related party,
covering its new office space (sec Note 40). The lease shall be for a period of 5 years
commencing on August 1, 2012. Rental payments are subject to annual escalation adjustments.
Total rent expense charged to operations relating to this transaction amounted to P10.5 million in
2015, 2014 and 2012 (see Note 34). The Company also paid P2.4 million refundable deposit
which is included as part of “Other noncurrent assets™ account in the consohidated statements of
financial position (see Note 22).

The Company also has several operating lease arrangements on parking lots, machineries, office
and transportation equipment. Total rent expense charged to operations relgting_ to these lease
agreements amounted o 212 million each in 2015 and 2014, and #1.1 million in 2013,
respectively (sce Note 34).

The future minimum rental payments by the Company under the operating lease agreements arc as
follows:

2015 2014

{In Thousands)
Within one year P44,486 £41,780
After one year but not more than five years 157,086 161,232
After more than five years 857,248 897.588

£1,058,820 £1,100,600
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39. Pension Costs

The Parent Company and certain of its subsidiaries have funded, noncontributory defined benefit
pension plans covering all regular and permanent employees. The benefits are based on

employees’ projected salaries and number of years of service. Costs are determined in accordance

with the actuarial study, the latest of which is dated December 3 1, 2015,

PLC is covered under Republic Act No. 7641 which provides a defined benefit minimum

guarantee for its qualified employees.

The following tables summarize the components of pension costs recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprchensive income and the pension asset and pension liability recognized in the

consolidated statements of financial position.

Pension Costs (recognized in “General and Administrative Expenses™)

2015 2014 2013
(In Thousands)
Current service cost £19,566 211,114 P5.578
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 7,151 3.279 3,900
Interest income on plan assets (6,480) (5,535) (4,166)
Interest on the effect of asset ceiling 4 55 6
220,241 B8 913 P5.318
Remeasurement Loss (Gain) (recognized m “Other Comprehensive lncome™)
2015 2014 2013
{In Thousands)
Remeasurement (gain) loss on defined )
benefit obligation (P15,365) P24,343 (P4.455)
Remeasurement {(gain) loss on plan assets 5378 1) (2,439)
Remeasurement (gain) loss on changes
in the effect of the asset ceiling 941 (1,115) 1,014
(9,046) 223,178 (P5,880)
Pension Asset
2014
{In Thousands)
Fair value of plan assets 1375,2;3
Defined benefit obligation {74.679)
Funded status - surplus 1.1 gg
Effect of asset ceiling (63)

21,103
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Pension Liability
2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Defined benefit obligation £136,581 270,638
Fair value of plan assets (122,663) (51.851)
Effect of asset ceiling (1,572) .
£12,346 P18, 787

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of the vear £145,317 £62.270
Interest cost 7,151 3,279
Current service cost 19,566 11,114
Benefits paid from plan assets {21,135) (3.110)
Actuarial loss (gain) due to:
Expenience adjustments 2,391 9,778
Actuarial gain on changes in financial
assumptions (18,052) 14,872
Actuarial gain on changes in demographic
assumptions 296 (307)
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted under
acquisition method - 47 421
Other adjustments 1,047 -
Balance at end of the vear £136,581 R145317
Changes in the fair value of plan assets arc as follows:
2015 2014
(In Thousands)
Balance at the beginning of the year P£127,696 $£75.908
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted under
acquisition method - 34313
Interest incomie 6,480 5,535
Contributions 15,000 15,000
Benefits paid (21,135) (3,110)
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included
in net interest) (5,378) 50
Balance at end of the vear £122,663 £127.696
Unfunded status - net (P10,774) (B17,621)
Pension liability 12,346 18,787
Funded status - surplus 1,572 1,166
Effect of asset ceiling (1,572) (63)

Pension asset L PL103
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Parent Company Retirement Plan

The principal assumptions used in determining pension benefit obligations for the Parent
Company’s plan are shown below:

_ 2015 2014
Discount rates 6.23% 5.73%
Future salary increases 9.00% 10.00%

T_he _sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reascnably possibie changes of cach
s:gmﬁf:ant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as at the end of the reporting period,
assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

2015 2014
Increase increase
(Decrease) in {Decrease) in
Basis Points Amount  Basis Poinis Amount
(In Thousands) {Tn Thousands)
Discount rate 100 (£1,172) 100 (P1.848)
{100) 1,290 {100) 2.03]
Salary increase rate 100 880 100 1,484
(100) (304) (100) (1,374)

As at December 31, 2013, the weighted average duration of the pension hability of Parent
Company 1s 4.5 years.

The major categories of the plan assets of the Parent Company as a percentage of the fair value of
total plan assets are as follows:

2015 2014

Investments in fixed income securities 48% 43%

Investments in unit investment trust funds 18% 33%
[nvestments in muiual funds 8% -

Others 26% 24%

100% 100%

The Parent Company s retirement fund is in the form of a trust being maintained by a trustec bank.

The carrying value and fair value of the fund amounted to B64.3 mullion and B75.9 million as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The fund’s assets are comprised of’ (i) cash in bank:
and (ii) investment in treasury bonds of government securities, equity securities of private
corporations, mutual funds and unit investment trust funds.

The fund has no investments in debt and equity securitics of the Parent Company.
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Shown below are the maturity analyses of the undiscounted benefit pavments:

Y
car Amount
20 fIn Thousands}
; 0%? P14.939
16,476
2018 2,549
2019 9,274
2020 14,414
2021-2025 19,962

The Parent Company does not expect to contribute to the retirement fund in the next financial
year.

The tax exempt status of the plan was approved by the Bureau of Internal Revenue on
September 29, 1998.

Pacific Online and Subsidiaries Retirement Plans

Thc principal assumptions used in determining pension benefit obligations for Pacific Online and
its subsidiaries’ plans are shown below:

2015
Pacific Online LCC TGTI
Discount rates 4.89% 4.89% 4.89%
Future salary mcreases 8.00% 5.00% 10.00%
2014
Pacific Online LCC TGTI
Discount rates 4.49% 461% 5.15%
Future salary increases 8.00% 5.00% 10.00%

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as at the end of the reporting period,

assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

2015
1 Percent 1 Percent
Increase Decrease
{In Thousands}
Discount rate {#8,625) £10,853
Salary increase rate 9815 {8,048)
2014
1 Percent 1 Percent
Increase Decrease
(Inn Thousands)
Discount rate (B5,545) B3, [86
6,685 (5,008)

Salary increase rate
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As at December 31, 2015, the weighted average duration of the ion liabili i '
LCC and TGTI is 16.1 years to 24.6 vears. pension habillty of Pacitic Online

Shown below are the matunity analvses of the undiscounted benefit pavments:

_ Expected Benefit Payments
Peniod Pacific Online LCC TGTI Total
{In Thousands)
2016 R69% 22278 £1.713 £4 689
2017 - - - -
2018 1,022 - 1,078 2.100
2019 3111 327 2.579 6017
2020 6,824 - 758 7.582
2021-2025 10,320 221 322 10,863

Pacific Online and LCC expects to contribute £10.0 million to the defined benefit plan in 2016.
TGTI on the other hand is still in the process of funding its defined benefit plan.

Assumptions for mortality rates are based on the 2001 CSO Table - Generational (Scale AA,
Society of Actuaries). Assumptions for disability rates are based on the Disability Study, Pertod 2
Benefit 5 (Society of Actuaries),

Pacific Online and LCC have funded, noncontributory defined benefit plans covering substantially
all of its regular employees. The defined benefit plan of TGTI is unfunded as at

December 31, 2015. Annual cost is determined using the projected unit credit method. The
Group’s latest actuarial valuation date is December 31, 2015. Valuations are obtained on a
periodic basis.

The retirement plans of LCC and TGTI provide a retirement benefit equal to 22.5 days pay for
every year of credited service, while the plan of the Pacific Online provides a retirement benefit
equal to one-half month salary for every year of credited service.

All of the Plans meet the minimum retirement bencfit specified under Republic Act 7641

Pacific Online and LCC are not required to pre-fund the future defined benefits pavable under the
retirement plans before they become due. For this reason, the amount and timing of contributions
to the retirement fund are at the Companies” discretion. However, in the event a benefit claim
arises and the retirement fund is insufficient to pay the claim, the shortfall will then be due and
payable from Pacific Online to the retirement fund. TGTI does not have a formal retirement plan,
thus benefit claims under the defined benefit plans are paid directly by TGTI when they become

due.
The retirement plans of Pacific Online are administered by a trustee bank under the supervision of

a Retirement Plan Trustee (Trustee), as appointed by the C_ompanics in the Trust Agreement. The
Trustee is responsible for the investment strategy of the retirement plans.
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The major categories of the plan assets of Pacific Online as a percen i
tage of the f:
plan assets are as follows: b g © fir value of total

: 2015 2014

Investments 1n fixed income securitics 40% 26%
Investments in unit mvestment trust funds 14% 48%
Others 46% 26%
100% 100%

All debt instruments and unit investment trust funds have quoted prices in active markets.

The carrying amounts of plan assets approximate the fair values as at December 31, 2015 and
2014

40.

Related Party Transactions

Related parties are enterprises and individuals that has the ability to control directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries or are controlled by, or under common control with the
Company, including holding companies, and subsidiaries, or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Associates and individuals owning,
directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Company that gives them significant
influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of the
Company and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with
these individuals also constitute related parties.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with related parties which
consist mainly of extension or availment of noninterest-bearing advances. The outstanding
balances at year-end are due and demandable. There have been no guaranteces provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables. Related party transactions are generally
settled in cash.

In considering each possible related entity relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, and not merely the legal form.

Other Transactions with Associates and Related Companies '
The Company has the following significant related party transactions with associates and other

related parties:

Transaction  Outstanding

Related Party Relationship Transaction Amounts Balance _ Terms Condition
{Ir Thousands)
APC Associate Advances to associate 2415 142 ®79,77¢ Noninteresi-bearing, Unsecured, partially
014 62 3.754,630 due and demandable provided amounting
to B79.452 in 2013
and 2014
Belle Jai Alal Assooiate Advances 10 associale 2015 - 29398 Noninterest-beaning, Unsecured, ne allowance
2014 - 20368 due and demandable
i - -beari Unsecured, fully provided
5 Associate Advances lo associate 2815 54334 Noninteest-bearing,
e = 2014 - 54334 due snd demandable in 2015 and 2014
~heart ed, partially
Cith Associate Advances i 2015 2 11,604 Noninterest-hearing, Unsecured, p
- ’ associates 2014 - 11,486 due and demandable provided amounting
to P11.447 m 2015,
tully provided in

2014

(Forward}
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L . Transaction  Cutstanding
Related Party Relationship Transaction Amounts Balance Terms Condition
(Ir Thousands)
Tagaytay Highlands With cammen satof  Advences to otl'_lcr 2018 26 Ri459 Noninterest-bearing, Unsecured, no allowance
directors related parties 2014 10,687 12.774 due and demandable
Country Club With common set of  Advances to other. 2015 12206 1,023 Noninierest-bearing, Unsecured, no allowance
directors related parties 2014 499 2871 dueand demandable
Others With common setof  Advances lo mt}er 2015 39663 20214 Nonmterest-bearing, Unsecured, patially
directors related parties 2014 3191 18,775 due and demandable provided amounting
0 P7,494 in 201 5 and
2014
TMGCI With common set of  Advences fom otier 2018 19 (19) Noninterest-bearing, Unsecured
directers related parties 2014 2,259 - due md demandable
Belle Jai-Ala Asgsociate Advances from 2015 - (60,753) Noninterest-bearing, Unsecured
associaie 2014 - 60,753 due and demandable
Tagaytay Highlands With common set of  Advances from other 2015 - (10,849) Noninteresi-beating, Unsecured
directors related parties 2014 13 (10.849) due and demendable
Others Associates Advances from other 2015 1,167 1,167 Nommnterest-beanng, Unsecured
related parties 2014 - - due and demandable
BDC With common Cash equivalents 2015 - 100,407 Interest-heanng Unsecured, not impaired
stockholders 2034 1,219,727 2,429914
Interest income on 2015 12,101 w3 14% to 4.56% Unseaured, nol impaired
cash equivalents 2014 6.666 -~ A14% 0 456%
{see Notes 9 2013 10,569 - 3.14%to 4.56%
and 35)
Interest mcone on 2013 4112 - 0.62%0.75% Unsecured, not impaired
escrow fund (see
Notes 35 and 41)
Interest expense on 2014 19,156 - Z2.85%10325% Secured
short-termn loams, 2013 40.036 - 425%10512%
gross of
capitalized
mierest
see Notes 24
and 35)
Trade and other 2014 61,523 (28,025) Interest-bearing Secured
current liabilites
Long-term debt 20U 535,800 - Tntesest-bearing Secured
(see Note 25}
Inferest expenss on 2014 10,210 - 3.75%6.58% Secured
long-term debt 2013 25653 - 375%-658%
(sec Notes 18
and 35)
SM Land, Inc. With common Operating lease 2015 18,481 1,919 S yews, renewable Mot applicable
stockholders {zee Nofe 38) 2014 10,482 2,463
2013 10.535 3,337
Service fae 2013 12,500 - 1 year. renewable Not applicable
SM Arena Complex With cormuman Sponsorship 2015 7,044 - Syeas Not applicabie
Corporalion stockholders agreement 2014 17.822 -
(see Note 34) 2013 20073 -
SMIC Stockholder HTM mvestiments 2014 T50,500 Interest-bearing. maruting  Not applicable
in 7 and 10 years
Interest ingome on 2014 12,944 - 6.00%-6.94% Not applicable
HTM 2013 38,728 -
investments
(see Notes 16
and 33}
SM Prime Holdings, — Management fee Management and 215 14,765 - 1 year. renewable Not applicable
Ine. professional fees 2014 12,500 -
{see Note 34)
Belle shares Heldings, Stockholders Receivabies 2014 3180 - intenest-fres Unsecuted, intersst-free
ne.
. . secured, i 1-free,
Directors and officers  Key nanagement Receivables s - ~  Interest-fres Un ed interest-frec
personnel (see Note 11) 2014 1,138 partially provided
' amounting to PGB8
Short-term employee 2015 59,049 —  Not applicable Not applicable
benefits 2014 61507 -
2013 37221 -
Post-employment z015 16,603 - Not applicable Not applicable
benefits 2014 5.478 -
2013 3,964 -
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The following table provides the summary of outstanding balances and transactions for the years
ended December 3_1 » 2015, 2014, and 2013 in relation with the table above for the transactions that
have been entered into with related parties:

Total Related Party Qutstanding Balances before any Allowance for Impairment

_ 2015 2014
Cash‘equlvaients £100,407 21219727
Recervables - 5 1 ’ i38
Advances to associates (see Note 15) 175,108 3,849,848
Advances to other related parties (see Note 11) 21,696 , 34,420
Advances from associates (see Note 24) 60,753 60,882
Advances from other related partics (see Note 24) 12,035 14i385
Operating lease payable 1,919 2,463
Assignment of receivables with recourse - 28:026

Total Related Party Transactions

2015 2014 2013
Commission income P- £891 P-
Interest income on cash equivalents 12,101 6,666 10,569
Interest income on escrow fund - - 4,112
Interest income on HTM investments - 12,944 38,725
Service fee - - 12,500
Interest expense on short-term loans - 19,156 40,036
Interest expense on long-term debt - 10,210 25,653
Short-term employee benefits 61,907 61,907 37221
Post-emplovment benefits 5478 5,478 3,964
Receivables Purchase Agreement - - 242,429
Sponsorship agreement 7.044 17 822 20,073
Management fee 14,765 12,500 -
Rent expense 10,481 10,482 10,535

Allowance provided on advances to associates charged to “Investments in and Advances to
Associates” amounted to B145.3 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 (see Note 15).

Allowance for doubtful accounts of advances to related parties amounted to 7.5 milhon as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 (see Note 11). Provision for doubttful accounts on advances to
related parties amounted to 4.1 million in 2013 (see Note 36).

Transactions with other related parties are as follows:

= The Parent Company entered into a renewable one-year service agreement with PLAL in 2014,
wherein the Parent Company shall provide PLAI with end to end support with respect to the
operation of its casino license from PAGCOR. Service fee charged by the Parent Company
amounted to 218.0 million and B7.5 million i 2015 and 2014, respectively, and was
climinated in the 2015 and 2014 consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The fees
are payable within 30 days upon the receipt of billing.
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* OnMay 12, 2012, the Parent Company entered into an operating leasc agreement with SM
Land, Inc. covering its new office space (see Note 38). The lease term is five years, with

option to renew subject to mutually agreed upon terms and conditions. Rent is pavable within
30 days upon receipt of the billing. ’

*  The Parent Company entered into a sponsorship agreement with SM Arena Complex
Corporation (SMACC) for 5 years commencing on May 21, 2012. The Company is charged
for a sponsorship fee of P95.0 million payable in 5 equal installments of 19.0 million
annually. In return, SMACC shall grant the Company marketing and promotional
entitlements in the MOA Arena during the sponsorship period. The fees are payable within 30
days upon the receipt of billing.

*  The Parent Company entered into a renewable one-year service agreement with PLALin 2012,
wherein PLALI shall provide technical advisory support services relating to the operation,
direction, management and supervision of the City of Dreams Manila project. Project
management fee charged by PLAI to the Parent Company amounted to £20.2 million,

P7.5 million and P8.0 million in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and was eliminated in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The fees are payable within 30 days upon
the receipt of billing.

= The Parent Company entered into a renewable onc-year service agreement with SM Land, Inc.
in 2013, wherein SM Land shall perform specific services relative to the operations and
personnel of the Parent Company s land and buildings. Service fee charged by SM Land to
the Parent Company amounted to £12.5 million recognized under “General and administrative
expenses” as part of repairs and maintenance in the 2013 consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The fees are payable within 30 days upon the receipt of billing.

» In 2014, the Parent Company entered into a renewable one-year management and professional
service agreement with SM Prime Holdings, Inc. Management and professional fees charged
by SM Prime Holdings, Inc. to the Parent Company amounted to £14.8 million and
£12.5 million recognized under “General and administrative expenses™ m the 2014 and 2015
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, respectively. The fees are payable within

30 days upon the receipt of billing.

41.

Significant Contracts

Investment Commitment with PAGCOR
In October 2012, the Company, together with PLAI (Phil. Parties) and MCE Leisure Philippines

and its two other related companies (MCE Parties) have been granted the license o operate an
integrated entertainment complex in Aseana Boulevard, Paranaque City which will now be known
as “City of Dreams Manila”. Under the Provisional License granted to the group, the parties are
committed to invest a minimum of US $1 billion (“Investment Commitment™) mto the Project.
Under the PAGCOR Guidelines, of the US$1.0 bitlion, US$650.0 million shall be mvested upon
the opening of the casino and the other US$350.0 million shall be invested within a period of three
(3) years from the commencement of the casino operations. The Investment Commitment shall be
composed of the value of the land and the development costs of the infrastructures and facilitics

within the Project.
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The other salient provisions of the License are: (1) creation of an escrow account where the funds
to be used exclusively for the Project are expected to flow through but with a maintaining balance
of US$50.0 million and is separately shown as the “Escrow Fund” account in the 2012
consolidated statement of financial position; (ii) issuance of performance bond of

US$100.0 million to guarantee the completion of the project; and (iii) issuance of surety bond of
US$100.0 million to guarantee the payment to PAGCOR of all fees payable under the License
granted by PAGCOR.

As at December 31, 2012, the Escrow Fund was being mamtained with a balance of

UUS$50.3 million. Interest income earned on the Escrow Fund amounied to £4.1 million and
2121 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively (sece Note 3). In May 2013, the Escrow was
termiunated as MCE Leisure (Philippines) Corporation (“MCE Leisure™) deposited its own Escrow
Fund to replace that of the Company. Thus, the balance of the Company’s Escrow Fund
amounted to ml as of December 31, 2013 and 2014,

Cooperation Agreement with MELCO
On October 25, 2012, the Company together with PLAI (“Philippine Parties™), formally entered

into a Cooperation Agreement with MELCO, a company listed in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, which governs their cooperation in the development and operation of the City of
Dreams Manila. The Cooperation Agreement places the Company as a co-licensee and the owner
of the site’s land and buildings, while MELCO will be a co-licensee and operator of all the
facilities within the resort complex.

In March 2013, MELCO paid the Company the amount of #949.6 million which represents
various costs MELCO agreed to absorb as one of the conditions of the Philippine Parties in
including the MCE Parties as co-licensees under the Project. This amount was recorded as
termination income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended

December 31, 2013.

Operating Agreement with MELCO _
On March 13, 2013, the Company, together with Belle, entered into an Operating Agreement with

MCE Holdings No. 2 (Philippines) Corporation, MCE Holdings {Philippines) Corporation and
MELCO. Under the terms of the Operating Agreement, MELCO was appointed as the sole and
exclusive operator and manager of the casino development Project.

The Operating Agreement shall be in full force and effect for the period of the PAGCOR License,
unless terminated earlier in accordance with the agreements among the parties.

Pursuant to this agreement, PLAI shares from the performance of the casino gaming operations.

Advisory Services by AB Leisure Global, Inc. (ABLGI) _ _
ABLGI agreed to act in an advisory capacity to the Company and Belle subject tocertain
limitations for a consideration equivalent to percentage of the Company’s mcome from gaming

revenuc share.

Consultancy fees amounting to 76.0 million and P7.1 million in 2015 and 2014 was presented as
part of “Cost of gaming operations™ 1n the 2015 and 2014 consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (see Note 31).
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Share Swap Agreement

In 1997, PLCltogether wi_th _the Parent Company (then a 32% shareholder) entered into a Swap

Agreement w:th Paxell Limited and Metroplex Berhad (both Malaysian companies, collectively

referred to as “Metroplex”) whereby PLC issued 3,870,000,000 of its common shares in exchahge

i?lr 46,381,600 shares of LIR-HK, a Hong Kong-based company, which is a subsidiary of
etroplex.

On August 23, 2001, a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) was entered mto by and among the
Parent Company, Sinophil, Metroplex and LIR-HK rescinding the Swap Agreement and
cancelling all obligations stated therein and reversing all the transactions as well as returning all
the objects thereof in the following manner:

a. Metroplex shall surrender the certificates of PLC shares held by them in relation to the Swap
Apgreement. Belle shall then cause the reduction of the capitat stock of Sinophil to the extent
constituting the PLC shares of stock surrendered by Metroplex and the cancellation and
delisting of such shares from the PSE.

b. PLC shall surrender the LIR-HK shares back to Metroplex.

In view of such definite plan to rescind the Swap Agreement through the MOA or other means,
PLC discontinued using the equity method in accounting for its investment 1n LIR-HK starting
from LIR-HKs fiscal year beginning February 1. 1999.

On February 18, 2002, the stockholders approved the cancellation of 3,870,000,000 shares held by
Metroplex. However, Metroplex failed to deliver the stock certificates for cancellation covering
the 2,000,000,000 shares of their total shareholdings. PLC again presented to its stockholders the
reduction of its authorized capital stock to the extent of 1,870,000,000 shares, which were already
delivered by Metroplex. On June 3, 2005, the stockholders approved the cancellation and
delisting of the 1,870,000,000 shares. On March 28, 2006, the SEC formally approved the
Company’s application for the capital reduction and canceilation of the 1,870,000,000 PLC shares.
The application to delist the said shares was also approved by the PSE.

As a result of the canceliation of the shares, investment in LIR-HK was reduced by

P2 807.8 million in 2006. The corresponding decrease in capital stock and additional paid-in
capital, and share in cumulative translation adjustments of an associate amounted to
P1,870.0 million, #1,046.9 million and #109.1 million, respectively.

In 2007, the PLC acquired LIR-HK s loan from Union Bank of the Philippines which was secured
by the 1,000,000,000 shares of PLC held by Metroplex for a total consideration of #81.6 million.
Upon acquisition, an application for capital reduction and cancellation of 1,000,000,000 PLC
shares was filed with the SEC after obtaining stockholders™ approval.

On June 24, 2008, upon obtamning the approval of the SEC, the 1,000,000.000 PLC shares in the
name of Metroplex were cancelled. As a result, investment in LIR-HK was reduced by

£1.501.5 million in 2008. The corresponding decrease in capital stock, additional paid-in capital
and share in cumulative translation adjustments of an associate amounted to P1.000.0 milkon,
8559 § million and 258.3 million, respectively. In 2009, PLC applied with the SEC for further
decrease of its authorized capital stock for 1.000,000,000 shares. This application was approved
on July 9, 2009 by the SEC. However, PLC did not effect such decrease in authorized capital
stock as these cannot be surrendered for cancellation.
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In 2()_09, Mc_lropl@:‘; filed before the Court of Appeals (CA) to review the Order of the SEC
denying their petition to nulhify the approval of the reduction of the capital stock of the Parent
Co_mpany. Petition was elevated to the Supreme Court (SC) after the CA sustained the SEC
ruling, As at March 6, 2015, the SC has yet to resolve this petition. The deal was scuitled when
thf; remaining 1,000,000,000 undelivered PLC shares (hereiafier referred to as the “Shares™) are
being held. by another creditor, Evanston Asset Holdings Pte. Ltd (“Evanston™), as collateral for
loans obtained by Metroplex. Metroplex was previously negotiating for the release of such pledge
to be able to carry out the terms of the MOA. However, during 2012, PLC was informed by
Evanston that they had undertaken foreclosure proceedings on the Shares. While Evanston has
stated willingness to negotiate with PLC towards the transfer of the Shares, there is no assurance
that PLC will be able to acquire the Shares from Evanston. Thus, PLC recognized full impairment
loss of #1,559.8 million on its investment in LIR-HK in view of the then uncertainty of
umplementing the MOA rescinding the Swap Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, cogmzant of the fact that whoever had possession of the Shares
would be dispossessed of its property by reason of the approval of the decrease in capital which
implies the cancellation of said shares, PLC exerted earnest efforts to have the SEC revoke its
approval of the third decrease in capital. However, SEC continued to deny any petition on the
following grounds:

(1) the documents submitted by appellant in support of its application for the decrease of capital
stock, were all complete and regular on its face:

{i1) there was no allegation of fraud, actual or constructive, nor misrepresentation in its application
for decrease of authorized capital stock.

On June 30, 2013, PLC filed a Memorandum of Appeal with the SEC to appeal the dental of the
petition.

On April 22, 2014, PLC filed with the SEC a Notice of Withdrawal of the Memorandum of
Appeal filed on June 20, 2013 and proceeded to effect the cancellation of the shares and
compensated the parties who were in possession of the remaining 1,000,000,000 PLC shares.

The investments in LIR-HK of PLC were recorded under “Available-for-sale financial assets™ and
are fully impaired as at December 31, 2012 in PLC’s books. In 2013, the Parent Company started
to consolidate PLC after the Parent Company acquired controlling interest in PLC. The
acquisition was accounted for using the pooling of mterest method and accordingly, the impaired
value of the AFS financial asset has started to be carried in the Company’s consolidated accounts
(see Notes 17 and 21). In 2014, the Company recognized reversal of a provision for impairment
of its investment in Legend International Resorts (HK) Limited (“LIR™), net of costs of
implementing the MOA rescinding the Swap Agrecment and the cancellation of said Shares of
£340.7 million, amounting to £1,219.1 million following the cancellation of the 1,000,000,000
Sinophil shares formerly held by Metroplex, thereby fulfilling the agreement entered into by and
among Belle, PL.C, Metroplex and LIR in rescinding the Swap Agreement, caqceﬂlng all
obligations and reversing all transactions stated therein (the “Full LIR Unwindn_lg”). The
cancellation also resulted in the recogmition of £58.3 million recycling of share cumulative
translation adjustments of AFS financial asset n profit or loss (see Note 36).

As a result of the cancellation of the PLC shares, the Company redgced the carrving amount of its
non-controlling interest by £257.2 million with a corresponding ad;qst_ment to “Other reserves -
Transactions with non-controlling interests™ amounting to #962.0 million.
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Agreements with PCSO

Instant Scratch Tickets. On March 25, 2009, Pacific Online entered into a non-exchusive
Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with PCSO. for a period of seven years. effective

Dmmbm 1, 2009 to undertake the printing, distribution and sale of scratch tickets. The MOA
requires a cash bond to be deposited in an interest-bearing bank account designated by PCSO to
guarantee the payment of all prizes for each series of tickets distributed, subject to review by
PCSQ, which was paid in January 2010, for a period of seven years from the date of initial launch
of the instant tickets and shall be mamtained co-terminus with this MOA. The £20.0 million cash
bond is recognized under “Other noncurrent assets™ account in the consolidated statements of
financial position (se¢ Note 22).

42,

Contingencies

In the normal course of business, there are certain tax cases and legal cases related to labor
disputes and land ownership issues filed against the Company.

The PLC is a party to a civil case filed by Metroplex before the CA to review the

Febrary 26, 2009 Order of the SEC denying the Metroplex petition to nullify the approval of the
reduction of the capital stock of the Parent Company (see Note 2). The CA sustained the ruling of
the SEC, thus Metroplex filed a petition for review with the SC. As at February 29, 2016, the
Supreme Court has yet to resolve this petition.

However, as discussed in Note 41, the cancellation of the Swap Agreement was implemented
following the Company s filing to the SEC of a Notice of Withdrawal of the Memorandum of
Appeal filed on June 20, 2013.

43.

Basic/Diluted EPS

20158 2014 2013
{In Thousands. Except EPS)

Eamnings attributable to Equity holders

of the Parent (a) £1,186,460 B2,202,253 B3,639,853
Weighted average number of issued

common shares - basic, at beginning

of year 10,559,383 10,559,383 10,559,383
Nusmnber of parent company common shares

held by subsidiaries - basic, at begmning

of year (314,416) (336,490) (236,502)
Issued during the year 389 - -
Treasury shares during the year (15,673)

Acquisition of entities holding '

parent common shares (22,462) (35,773) {69,033)
Weighted average number of issued

common shares - basic, at end of year (b) 10,207,221 10,187,120 10,253 848
Basic/diluted EPS (a/b) #0.116 80.216 B0.355

There are no common stock equivalents that would have a dilutive effect on the basic EPS.



.91

44. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The_ Company’s principal financial assets and financial liabilities are composed of cash and cash
equivalents, recetvables, investments held for trading, HTM investments, AFS financial assets
trade and other current liabilities, loans payables, long-term debt, nontrade liability, installment
payable and obligations under finance lease. The main purpose of these financial assets and
financial liabilities is to raise finances for the Company’s operations. The Company has various
other financial assets and financial liabilities such as receivables, advances to associates and other
related parties and trade and other liabilities, which arise directly from its real estate operations.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s
BOD and management review and agree on the policies for managing each of these risks and these
are summarized below.

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will
affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the Company’s long-term debt which
are subject to cash flow interest raie risk.

The Company’s policy is to manage its interest cost by limiting its borrowings and entering only
into borrowings at fixed interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk 1s the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
financial asset or financial liability will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, foreign currency-denominated financial asset and financial
liability in US dollars, translated into Philippine peso at the closing rate:

2015 2014
{In Thousands}
Cash and cash equivalents $1,078 $295
Advances to contractors and suppliers™ 15,000 -
Consultancy and software license fee payable** {2,385) {(1,035)
Foreign currency -denominated financial
assets (liabilitics) $13,693 ($740)

*Presented under “Other curvent assels” account in the consolidated statements of financial position.
“Pyosented under “Trade and other current liabilities 7 account in the consolidated statements of financial

position.
In translating the foreign currency-denominated financial liabilities into peso amounts, the
exchange rate used was 47.06 to US$1.0 and £44.72 to US$1.0, as at December 31,2015 and
2014, respectively.

1t is the Company’s policy to cnsure that capabilities exist for active but conservative management
of its foreign currency risk. The Company seeks to mitigate its transactional currency exposure by
maintaining its costs at consistently low levels, regardless of any upward or downward movement

in the foreign currency exchange rate.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonabl i i

. : y possible change in the U.S. doll
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Company’s consolidated incomeo "
before tax as at December 31, _201 5 and 2014. There is no other impact on the Company’s equity
other than tt!osc already affecting the profit or loss i the consolidated statements of )
comprehensive income.

2015 2014
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in USS Rate in US$ Rate in US$ Rate in US$ Rate

{Ir Thousands, Except Change in US§ Rate)

Change in_ USSrate* 0.64 (0.64) (30 (0.30)
Effect on income before mcome tax B8 818 ¥8,818) (B219) p219

*Average movement of U.S. dollar against Philippine peso for the past five years.

The increase in USS rate means stronger US dollar against peso while the decrease in US$ means
stronger peso against the US dollar.

Equity Price Risk. Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of quoted investments held for
trading and AFS financial assets in listed equities decreases as a result of changes in the value of
individual stock. The Company’s exposure to equity price risk relates primarily to the Company’s
investments held for trading. The Company monitors the equity investments based on market
expectations. Significant movements within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and
all buy and sell decisions are approved by the BOD.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in equity price,
with all other variables held constant, of the Company’s 2015 and 2014 consolidated total

comprehensive income before income tax:

Increase (Decrease) in Equity Price 2015 2014
{In Thousands)

Impact in profit or loss

) P11,337 P13,141

(5%) (11,337) (13,141)

[mpact in other comprehensive ncome

5% P101,177 P93 987

(5%) (101,177) (93,987)

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that the Company will mcur a loss because its customers or
counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations. It is the Company’s policy that all
customers who wish 1o trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The Company does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the management. There is no significant concentration of credit

risk.

In the Company’s real estate business, title to the property 1s transferred only upon full payment of
the purchase price. There are also provisions in the sales contract which allow forfeiture of
installments/deposits made by the customer in favor of the Company and retain ownership of the
property. The Company has the right to sell, assign or transfer to third party and any mtefcst
under sales contract, including its related receivables from the customers. The Company s
primary target customers are high-income individuals and top corporations, in the Philippmes and
overseas. These measures minimize the credit risk exposure or any margin loss from possibie

default in the payments of instaliments.
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Trade receivables from sale of real estate units are secured with pre-complete F um

The legal title and ownership of these units will only be transfeng-:d o tl;llg cus?oﬁi-:iexztgoﬁmfﬁi
payment of the contract price. Receivables from sale of club shares are secured by the shares heid
by t!le Company. For other receivables, since the Company trades only with recognized third
parties, there 1s no requirement for collateral.

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Company, which comprise of
cash and cash equivalents, receivables, finance lease recervables, advances to associates and other
related parties and AFS financial assets, deposits and guarantee, the Company’s exposure to credit
risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying value
of these financial assets.

The table below shows the Company s aging analysis of financial assets.

1015
MNeither Past Due but not Impaired
Past
Due nor Less than 31 to 60 61te Over
Impaired 30 Days Days 90 Days 90 Days Impaired Total
(fn Thowsands}
Cash and cash equivalents™® B3,561,955 P B | B P F3,561.955
Investments held for trading 226,747 - - - - - 116,747
Receivables:
Trade 1327533 14,275 5178 298 53211 31,479 1,431,974
Related parties 14,202 - - - 7,494 21,696
Others 184,910 - - - - 116,062 300,972
Finance lease reczivable 17,145,254 - . - B 17,145,254
Advances to associates™™ 29,836 - - - - 145,273 175,109
AFS financiai assets 2,041,303 - - . 2,041,303
Deposits®** 8,331 - - - - 8,331
Guarantee bonds™**** 45,000 - — - 45,000
£24,585,071 P14.275 B5,178 298 53,211 P300,308  E24,956341
*Exchiding caxk ot hand.
% Provonted under “frvestments in and advances fo associgies” accownt i the lidhated t af fi il position
“=% Procented under “Other current assets " account inthe ¢ fidated of fnancial position.
wswk Prosomtod imder “Other noncurrent assets” account in the ci bdared nt of fincrcicl positi
2014
Neither Past Due but not Impaired
Past
Due nor Less than 31t0 60 6] to Crer
Impaired 30 Days Days 90 Days 90 Days Impaired Total
{In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalenis™ P6,319,136 B- B B B B P8,319.136
Investments held for trading 262,815 - - - - - 262,815
Rec?[l:n?elm 1,076,173 4739 3.807 9,202 123,713 1,794 121 9,42(8
- .- - - 7,494 34,420
gtﬁllaf;d pomes zggfg:%? . . - - 122,769 353,120
Fmance lease receivable 9,589,492 - E - - 9,589,492
Advances to associates- net of
subscription payahle** 174,849 - - - - 145,273 320,122
AFS financial assets 1,887,379 - - - - - 1.887.379
Deposits*** 8,615 - - - - - 8615
Guarantee bonds**** 40,000 — - - - B 40,000
P19,615,736 $4,739 £3,807 B9,202 P123,713 P277,330  $20,034,527
* Pxchuding cash on hand. . N
wm Prosented under “Investments in and advances o associates” accowl i the conso lidated statement of financial position.
wwx presented under "Other currers assels” accourd in the Kekatecd of f il position.

sk ® Prosented under “Other noncurrert assels” account in the consodidared statement of finamcialposition

Financial assets are considered past due when collections are not received on due date.

Past due accounts which pertain to trade receivables from sale of real estate units and club ;.hares
are recoverable since the legal title and ownership of the real estate units and club shares will only

be transferred to the customers upon full payment of the contract price.
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The tablfa belqw shows the c1_'editv quality of the Company’s financial assets that are neither past
due nor impaired based on historical experience with the corresponding third parties.

2015
Medivm
High Grade Grade Unrated Total
(In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents* £3,561,955 :
-
Investments held for trading 226:7 47 - - 323;’323
Receivables: ’
Trade 1,259,948 66,460 1,125 1,327
Related parties 14:202 | - T ,314:;3;
_ Others 184,916 - - 184,910
Finance lease recetvable 17,145,254 - - 17,145,254
Advances to associates™* 29,836 - - 29,836
AFS ﬁ_nancial assets 2,035,354 -~ 5,949 2,041,303
Deposits*** -~ 8,331 - 8,331
Guarantee bonds**** 45,000 - - 45,000
£24,503,206 #74,791 #7,074 £24,585,071
*Excluding cash on hand.

**Prosented under “Investments in and advances to associates” uccount in the consolidated statement of financial position.
*k*Prosented under “Other current assets ” account m the consolidated statement of financial position.
w*k*Presented under “Other noncurrent assels ” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.

2014
Medium
High Grade Grade Unrated Total
(In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents* 6,319,136 B P— £6.319,136
[nvestments held for trading 262,815 - - 262,815
Receivables:
Trade 958,083 18,699 99,391 1.076,173
Related parties 26,926 - - 26,926
Others 230,351 - - 230,351
Finance lease receivable 9,589,492 - - 9,589,492
Advances to associates - net
of subscription payable** 174,849 - - 174,849
AFS financial assets 1,879,730 - 7.649 1.887,379
Deposits*** - 8615 - 8.615
Guarantee bonds**** 40,000 - - 40,000
£19.481,382 227314 2107,040 219,615,736

*Excluding cash on hand.
*%Prosented under “Investmenis in and advances to associates ” account in the consolidated statzment of financial position.

*e5Ppocented under “Other curvent assets” account in the consolidated siatement of financial pusition.
wk 8 %Prosented under “Other noncurrent assets ” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.

High grade financial assets pertain to reccivables from clients or customers who have no history of
delayed payment while medium grade includes receivables from clients or customers who have

history of delayed payment but is currently updated.

Cash in banks, cash equivalents and short-term investments are deposited with the top ten banks in
the Philippines; hence, considered high grade.
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Ungquoted AFS financial assets are unrated while quoted HTM investments and AFS financial

asTsets arc assessed as high grade based on financial status of the counterparty and its current stock
price performance in the market.

Liqyz‘dr:ty Risk. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Company seeks to manage its liquidity profile to be able to finance its capital
expenditures and service its maturing debts. The Company’s objective 1s to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through valuation of projected and actual cash flow
information. The Company considers obtaining borrowings as the need arises.

The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows. The table also analyzes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets in order to
provide a complete view of the Company’s contractual commitments and liquidity.

2015
6 Months
On Demand < 6 Months to I Year 1-3 Years >3 Years Total
{In Thousands)
Financial Asseis
Cash and cash equivalents £3.,561,955 f 2 8- P B356195%
Investments held for trading 226,747 - - - - 226,747
Receivables 1,296,263 149,147 149,147 317,871 9,641 1,922,069
Finance lease receivable®*** - 756,147 747,326 3,422,705 42,031,885 46,958,063
Advances to associates* 129,181 - - - - 129,181
AFS financial asgsets 2,041,303 - - - - 2,041,303
Deposits** 8,331 - - - - 8,331
Gusranlee bonds*** 45,000 — - = 45,000

£7,308,780 #905,194 PE96,473 3,740,576 P42,041,526 £54,892,64%

Financial Liabilities

Loans payable **** f £21250 $1,031,875 - P PL053,125
Trade and other current linbilitiea® #%¥* 2,265,63% - 21,708 45,303 - 1,332,649
Long-term debt**** - 372,906 271,526 2,282,963 2,922,726 5,850,121
Nootrade liabihity**** - 242,967 239,838 1,108,318 13,861,466 15,452,589
Installment payabie**** 173 - - - - 173
Obligations under finance lease**** — 12,514 12,514 25,028 68,499 118,555

#2,265.811 649,637  ®1,577,461  P3461,612 ¥l 633521691 ¥24z907,212

kg ted under “I Yo In and advances to associates” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.

**Pyosented under “Other current assets” account in the consolidated statement of financial position,
R A conted under “Other nancurrent assels”™ acconnt in the consolidated statement of financial position.
=***ucluding future interest paymenls.
»est*Lyolyding customers’ deposils, statutory payables and ather hiabilities fo the govermment

2014
6 Months
OnDemand < 6 Months to ] Year 1-3 Years > 3 Years Total
(In Thousands)
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P6,319,136 B B P B- P(:;ég,;;g
Investments heid for tradin 262.815 - - - : .
Receivables s 891,725 129717 129,717 254,908 41.434 1.447.501
Finance lease receivable*#+¥ - 375.266 399,265 3678149  30,499.484 34,952,164
Advances to associates - net
- 40
of subscription payable* 174,849 - - . ;;‘;279
AFS financial assels 1.887,379 - - - - R 8.615
Deposits** 8,615 - - - - 40.000
G tee bonds®** 40,000 - — - - s
P9,584,519 B504,983 B528,982 B3,933,057 £130,540,918 P45,092,459
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2014
6 Months
On Demand < 6 Months to ] Year 1-3 Years >3 Years Total
(In Thotsands)
Financial Liabilities
Loans payabls**+* B- $2.966.760 B
o " N B- B 2
Trade and other current liabilities %% %= 2,312,822 - - 49,143 - P;ggfggg
ng-term.de!at.**::t - 54,159 174,769 631,406 1,283,422 2;143:756
Nontrade liability * - 141.855 149,919 1.362.802 12,295,179 13,949,755
Installment payable®*#* 792 50 87 198 - ' 1~l 27
Obligations under finance lease**** 4,089 4.089 8,178 24,534 51,960 92‘350
Assignment of receivables with | '
recourse - 28,026 - 28,026

P2,817.,703 B3,194.939 RB332,953 P2,068,083 P13,630,561 B22,044,239
"Presented under "Investmenis in and advances o associates” account in the consolidaled statement of financial position.
**Presented under “Other current assels " account in the consolidated statement of financial position. '
***Presented under "Other noncurrent assels” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.
"***Including fuliire interest payments.
*=+22Txcluding customers ' deposits, statutory payables and other liabilities to Bre govenment.

The Company expects to settle its maturing obligations on long-term debt from its gaming
revenues from casino operations, rental income on land and casino building (see Note 38) and
expected profits from real estate development operations.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management 1s to safeguard its ability to continue

as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issuc new shares. There were
no changes made in the objectives, policies or processes in 2015 and 2014.

The Company considers the following as its capital:

2015 2014
{In Thousands)

Common stock £10,561,000 £10.559383
Additional paid-in capital 5,503,731 5,503.731
Treasury shares (134,442) -
Equity share in cost of Parent Company shares held

by associates (2,501) (2.501)
Cost of Parent Company preferred and common

shares held by subsidiaries (1,749,628) (1,604.824)
Retained earnings 4,903,882 6,530,078

P19,082,042 P20,985.867
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IS::tir Val[;“i of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
out below 1s a comparison by category and by class of carrying values i
] : 3 d f;
Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities: e sl for values of allthe

20158
Quoted
(Unadjusted)
Prices in Significant Significant
. Active Observable  Unobservable
Carrying Markets Inpuis Inputs
Value Fair Value (Level 1) {Level 2) (Level 3)
(In Thousands)
Assets
Assets measured at fair value:
Investments hetd for tradin
AFS fmancial assets udolt::l e e sl B B
; : (q ) 2,035,354 2,035,354 2,035,354 - -
Assets for which fair value is disclosed:
Loans and receivables:
Reoeivables -
b Tmclka - 663,522 749,441 - 749,441 -
inance lease receivable 17,145,254 9,795, - -
Linbitities 225 19,795,765 19,795,765
Liabilities for which fair value 1s disclosed:
Nontrade liability 5,295,058 6,986,299 - - 6,986,299
Long-term debt 4,984,375 4,261,493 - 4,262,493 -
Installment payable 173 173 - 173 -
Obligations under finance lease 118,555 118,555 - 118,555 -
2014
Quoted
(Unadjusted) Significant Significant
Prices in Observable  Unobservable
Carrying Active Markets Inputs Inputs
Value Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(In Thonsands)
Assets
Assets measured at fair vaive:
Investments held for trading P262,815 B262,815 P262,815 B B
AFS financial assets (quoted) 1.879.730 1,879,730 1,879,730 B -
Assels for which fair value is disclosed:
Loans and receivables:
Receivables -
Trade 625,164 689,485 - 689,485 -
Finanoe lease receivable 9.589.492 14,183,939 - - 14,183.939
Liabilities
Liabilities for which fair value is disclosed:
Nontrade Hability 4,241,236 6,753,055 - - 6.753.053
Long-term debt £.750,000 1.408,364 - 1,408 364 -
Installment payable 1.126 1,126 - 1.126 -
Obligations under finance lease 92,850 92,850 - 92.850

The Company has no financial liabilities measured at far value as at December 31, 2015 and
2014. There were no transfers between fair value measarements in 2015 and 2014.

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of
financial assets and financial Habilities:

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-ferm Investments, Advances to Associates, Receivables, Loans
Payable and Trade and Other Current Liabilities. The carrying values of these financial assets
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturities of these financial assets

and financial itabilities.
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Trac?e Recer'vables. Th_c fair value of trade receivables from real estate sales, except for
receivables assigned with recourse, is determined by discounting the estimated cash flows using

prevailing interest rates as at reporting dates. The discount rates used ranged from 1.0% to 5.9%
in 2015 and 2014

The carrying amount of other trade receivables approximates their fair values due to their short-
term nature.

E inance Lease Receivables. The fair value of finance lease receivable 1s determined by
discounting the estimated cash flows using prevailing discount rates in 2015 and 2014

Investments Held for Trading and AFS Financial Assets. The fair values of investments held for
trading and AFS financial assets in quoted equity shares are based on quoted prices in the PSE or
those shares whose prices are readily available from brokers or other regulatory agency as at
reporting date. There are no quoted market prices for the unlisted shares and there are no other
reliable sources of their fair values, therefore, these are carried at cost, net of any impairment loss.

Nontrade Liability. The fair value of nontrade Liability is determined by discounting estimated
cash flows using prevailing discount rates iz 2015 and 2014.

Long-term Debt. The fair value long-term loans payable is determined by discounting the
obligations” expected future cash flows using the discount rate of 5.3% to 6.3% and 5.3% to 5.7%
in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Installment Payable and Obligations under Finance Lease. The fair value of installment payable
and obligations under finance lease approximate their carrying amount since the Company does
not anticipate that the effect of discounting using prevailing market is significant.

45.

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information and Others

The significant noncash transactions entered into by the Company in 2014 are as follows:

Amount
In Thousands)
Acquisition on controlling interest - reduction n
mvestment account (P2,464,016)
Cancellation of the share swap agreement
between PLC and LIR 1,219,133

The Company has reclassified finance lease receivable and certain receivables aggregating to
R1.413.5 million from noncwrrent (o current assets as well as certamn other assets from current to
poncurrent assets amounting to P403.7 million as at December 31, 2013 to properly reflect the
classification of the assets. The reclassifications did not affect the total assets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

The Stockhoiders and the Board of Directors
Belle Corporation

Sth Floor. Tower A

Two E-Com Center. Palm Coast Avenue
Mali of Asia Complex, CBP-1.A. Pasay Cin

We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial
statements of Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015 and 201 4 and for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 included in this Form ! 7-A. and have issued
our report thereon dated February 29. 2016, Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an
opinion on the basic financial statements laken as a whele. The schedules listed in the Tndex to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules are the responsibility of the
Compamy's management. These schedules are presented for purposes of complying with Securities
Regulation Code Rule 68. As Amended (2011). and are not part of the basic financial stalements.
These schedules have been subjected w the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and. in our opinion, fairly state. in all marterial respects. the information required
to be set fonth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYQ & CO.

frrren oF

Ramon D. Dizon

Partner

CPA Certificate No. +6047

SEC Accreditation No, 0077-AR-3 (Group A).
February 2. 2013, vaid unuil April 30. 2016

Tax ldentification No. 102-083.577

BIR Accreditation No. U08-001998-17-201 3.
Februarv 27, 2013, valid untif February 26. 2018

PTR No. 3321631, January <. 2016, Makati Ciny

February 29, 2016



Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries
Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules
Form 17-A, tem 7
As at December 31, 2015

Supplementary Schedules
A. Financial Assets

B. Amounts of receivables from Directors, Officers, Employees and Principal Stockholders
(other than related parties)

C. Amounts of Receivables from Related Parties which are Eliminated during the Consolidation of Financial Statements
D. Intangible Assets - Qther Assets

E. Long-term Debt

F. Indebtedness to Related Parties

G. Guarantees of Securities of Other |ssusrs

H. Capital Stock

. Reconciliation of Retained Eamings Available for Dividend Declaration

J. Key Financial Ratios




Belle Corporation ang Subsidiaries
Schedule A - Financial Assets

As at December 31, 2015
(Amounts in Thousands)

Mome of fssuing Enllty and | Amount Showm e  ncome recerved and

-oans and Receivables
>ash and cash equivalents N/A
‘rade receivables N/A ?’Egg 'Zgg 5,151
ielated parties N/A ’ 1 4’202 55,359
icerued interest N/A 5151
dvances to third parties and others N/A 179’759
dvances to associates N/A 25,836

'eposit and guarantee bonds N/A 53:331

inance Lease Receivable MCE Leisure 17,145,254

22,398,093 60,510

FS Fipancial Assets

uity Investments SM Prime Holdings 2,007,530

uity Investments SM Investments Corporation 27,811

uity Investments Tagaytay Highlands International Golf Clu 2,590

ity Investments The Country Club at Tagaytay Highlands 1,620

Juity Investments Costa Del Hamilo 757

ity tnvestments PLDT 13

ity Investments Others 982

2,041,303 -

vestments Held for Trading

uity Investments APC Group, Inc. 26,501

wity Investments DFNN, Inc. 26,426

uity Investments Leisure & Resorts World Corporation 105,364

Uity Investments Vantage Equities, Inc. 68,296

Uity Investments PLDT 160

226,747 -
tal Financial Assets 24,666,143 60,510
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Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule C. Amounts of Receivables from Related Parties

As at December 31, 2015
{Amounts in Thousands)

Belle Bay Plaza Corporation 2,148,658 - 524,092 {524,092) - - 1,624,566 1,624,566 1,62
Belie Grande Resource Holdings

Inc. 22,258 57,495 - - - 79,753 - 79,753 7
Premium Leisure Corporation 4,997 123 - - - 5,120 - 5,120

SLW Development Corp. 98,733 . 21,988 - - 76,745 - 76,745 7
Parallax Resources, inc. 27,243 - 27,243 27,243 2

2,274,646 84,861 546,080 (524,092) - 188,861 1,624,566 1,813,427 1,81




Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule D. Intangible Assets

As at December 31, 2015
{Amounts in Thousands)

T Charged tocost. |

fption . . 3 -1 and expenses

. pe Balance

License - Casino 5,249,552 - (279,211) - - 4,970,341
Goodwill - Acquisition of Subsidiaries 1,828,578 - - - - 1,828,578
7,078,130 - - 6,798,919




Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule E. Long Term Debt
As at December 31, 2015
{Amounts in Thousands)

| o Anvoum Ashotized by . Current Portion of Long Term | Non Caatrent PortionofLong | .
L Indeiie . . R 4 ek Debt. Kupinsi Rate .
1 gaphe L nPHE)
Term Loans:
Maybank Php1B Php1,000000 1,000,000 Phpos4 375 984,375 Php262 500 262,500 Php721.876 721,876 5.25% PhpB6,626 85,626 20 quarterty
instaliments.
RCBC Phpi 5B Php1,500000 1,500,000 Php1,500,000 1,500,000 Php100,060 100,006 Php1,400,000 1,400,000 551%-571%  Php100,000 100,000 3 annual installments
and the remaining
amaount on dug date
UCPB Pho1B Php1.000000 1000000 Php1,000,000 1,000,060 Php- - Php1,000,000 1,000,000 6.25% Php80,129 80,129 20 quarterly
instaiments
EWB Php1.58 Phpt1,600000 1,500,000 Fhpt,500,000 1,500,000 Bhp- - Php1,500,000 1,500,000 575%  Php250,000 250,000 3 annualinstalments

and the remaining
amount on due date

AL

Novem
Decer

Jar




Belle Corporation and Subsidiaties
Schedule F. indebtedness to Related Parties

As at December 31, 2015

S At L SR

NOT APPLICABLE




Belle Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule G. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers
As at December 31, 2015

(Amounts in Thousands)

Not Applicable
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BELLE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE OF ALL THE EFFECTIVE STANDAR
DS

AND INTERPRETATIONS

DECEMBER 31, 2015

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of inanial
Statements

Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative v
characteristics

PFRSs Practice Statement Management Commentary v

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

PFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting
(Revised) | Standards v

Amendments to PFRS | and PAS 27: Cost of an
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or v
Associate

Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional Exempticns for
Firsi-time Adopters

Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from
Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time v
Adopters

Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Date for First-time Adopters

Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans

Amendments to PFRS 1: Borrowing Costs
Amendment to PFRS 1; Meaning of Effective PFRSs
PFRS 2 Share-based Payment

Amendmeuts to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

SSISISNT S

“~

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-setiled Share- Y
based Payment Transactions

Amendment to PFRS 2: Definition of Vesting Y
Condition

PFRS 3 Business Combinations v
{Revised)

Amendment to PFRS 3: Accounting for Contingent Y
Consideration in a Business Combination

Amendment to PFRS 3: Scope Exceptions for Joint Y
Arrangements

<«

PFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial v
Guaraniee Contracts




PFRS 5

Non-corrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

Amendments to PFRS 5: Changes in Methods of
Disposals*

Not Early Adopted

PFRS 6

Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

PFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

<

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification
of Financial Assets

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification
of Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of
Financial Assets

Amendments to PERS 7: Disclosures - Offselting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date of
PERS 9 and Transition Disclosures

Amendments to PERS 7: Disclosures - Servicing
Contracts*

Not Early Adopted

Amendments to PFRS 7: Applicabitity of the
Amendments io PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim
Financial Statements*

Not Early Adopted

PFRS 8

Operating Segments

Amendments to PFRS 8: Aggregation of Operating
Segments and Reconciliation of the Total of the
Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets

PFRS 9

Financial Instruments *

Not Early Adopted

Amendments to PFRS 9: Mandatory Effective Date of
PERS 9 and Transition Disclosures®

Not Barly Adopted

Amendments to PFRS 9: Hedge accounling and
amendments to PERS 9 and PAS 39 (2013 version)*

Not Early Adopted

Amendments to PFRS 9 (2014 version)*

Not Early Adopted

PFRS 10

Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 27:
Investment Entities

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and ils
Associate or Joint Venture*

Not Early Adopted

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Applying the
Consolidation Exception*®

Not Early Adopted




PFRS 11

Joint Arrangements

Amendments to PFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint Operations* Not Early Adopted
PFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities v
Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 27
Investment Entities
PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement v
Amendment to PFRS 13; Short-term Receivables and
Payables v
Amendment to PFRS 13: Portfolio Exception v
PFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts* Not Early Adopted
Philippine Accounting Standards
PAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements v
Revised - )
(Re ) Amendment to PAS 1: Capital Disclosures v
Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial v
Instruments and Ohligations Arising on Liguidation
Amendmenis to PAS 1: Presentation of Items of Other v
Comprehensive Income
Amendments to PAS 1: Clarification of the v
Requirements for Comparative Information
Amendments to PAS 1: Disclosure Initiative* Not Early Adopted
PAS2 Inventories v
PAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows v
PAS S Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates v
and Errors
PAS 10 Events afier the Reporting Period J
PAS 11 Construction Contracts J
PAS12 Income Taxes v
Amendment to PAS 12 - Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets




Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendments to PAS 16: Classification of servicing

equipment v
Amendment to PAS 16 and PAS 38: Revaluation
Method - Proportionate Restatement of Accupiulated
Depreciation/Amortization
Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38; Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization* Not Early Adopted
Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41: Bearer Plants* Not Early Adopted
PAS 17 Leases J
PAS 18 Revenue J
PAS 19 Employee Benefits v
Amendments to PAS 19: Actuarial Gains and Losses,
Group Plans and Disclosures
PAS 19 Employee Benefits v
(Amended) X -
Amendments to PAS 19: Defined Benefii Plans:
Employee Contribution
Amendments to PAS 19: Regional Market Issue
Regarding Discount Rate* Not Early Adopted
PAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance
PAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Raies v
Amendment: Net Investment in a Foreign Operation v
PAS 23 Borrowing Costs v
(Revised)
PAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
(Re ) Amendments to PAS 24: Key Management Personnel v
PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans
PAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements v
PAS 27 Separate Financial Statements v
(Amended) Amendments to PFRS 10. PFRS 12 and PAS 27
Investment Entties
Amendments to PAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Not Early Adopted
Financial Statements*
PAS 28 Investments in Associates J
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures v




PAS 28
{Amended)

T TR : . B LN
Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture *

e

Not Early Adopted

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Applying the
Consolidation Exception*

Not Early Adopted

PAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

PAS 31

Interests in Joint Ventures

PAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liguidation

Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights Issues

Amendnients to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PAS 32: Tax effect of distrtbution to
holders of equity instruments

PAS 33

Earnings per Share

PAS 34

Interim Financial Reporting

Amendments to PAS 34: Interim financial reporting and
segment information for total assets and liabilities

Amendments to PAS 34: Disclosure of Information
‘Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report’*

Not Early Adopted

PAS 36

Impairment of Assets

Amendments to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

PAS 37

Provisions, Contingent Eiabilities and Contingent
Assets

PAS 38

Intangible Assets

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38: Revaluation
Method - Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated
Amortization

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38: Clavification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization*

Not Early Adopted

PAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Amendments to PAS 39: Transition and Initial
Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

Amendments to PAS 39: Cash Flow Hedge Accounting
of Forecast Intragroup Transactions

Amendments to PAS 39: The Fair Value Option




-6 -

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Fiﬁa1 '
Guarantee Contracts

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification
of Financial Asseis

Amc?ndments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification
of Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-9 and
PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives

Amendment to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged Items

Amendments to PAS 39: Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

PAS 40

Investment Property

Amendments to PAS 40: Clarifying the
Tnterrelationship between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when
Classifying Property as Investment Property or Owner-
Occupied Property

PAS 41

Agriculture

Amendments (0 PAS 16 and PAS 41: Bearer Plants*

No

t Early Adopted

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 1

Changes in Existing Decommissioning. Restoration and
Similar Liabilities

IFRIC 2

Members’ Share in Co-operative Entities and Sitilar
Instruments

IFRIC 4

Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

IFRIC 5

Rights to Interests arising from Decommissiomng,
Restoration and Environmental Rehahilitation Funds

IFRIC 6

Liabilities arising from Pariicipating in a Specific
Market - Waste Flectrical and Electronic Equipment

IFRIC7

Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IFRIC 8

Scope of PFRS 2

IFRIC?

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 9 and
PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives

IFRIC 10

Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IFRIC 11

PERS 2- Group and Treasury Share Transactions

<,

IFRIC 12

Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 13

Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC 14

The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimun
Funding Requirements and their interaction




s

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC - 14,
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Rea Estate*® Not Early Adopted
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation Vv
IFRIC 17 Distribotions of Non-cash Assets to Owners v
IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers V4
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity v
Instruments
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface
Mine v
IFRIC 21 Levies
SIC-7 Introduction of the Euro v
SIC-10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation (o v
Operating Activities
SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities v
Amendment to SIC - 12: Scope of SIC 12 v
SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary v
Contributions by Venturers
SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives
SIC-25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity J
or its Shareholders
SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease
SIC-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures v
SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising v
Services
SIC-32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs v

* Standards and interprerations which wifl become effective subsequent 1o December 31, 2015

Note: Standards and interpretations tagged as “Not Applicable” are those siandards and interpretations which were adopied
but the entity has no significant covered ransaction as at and for the vear ended

December 31, 2015.
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